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JOSEPH REED

Mr. Joseph Reed is a native Philadelphian, born there in
1919. He grew up in a neighbeorheed known as Kensingten. At the
age of 19 he joined the Army and after basic training, was sent
to Hawali to man the big coastal guns that protected Pearl Har-
bor. When the war broke out Mr. Reed transferred into the para-
troops o©of the 10lst Airborne Division. It was with the 101st
that he saw combat in Normandy, Holland, and France from 1944-
1945,

Mr. Reed and his wife, Kas, have lived in the Youngstown
area for more than thirty-eight years, raising £five children
here.

Mr. Reed ig a very active sportsman. He enjoys hunting,
fishing, and trapping and is an officer in the Eastern Ohio

Conservation Club.
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What can you tell me about growing up in Philadelphia
during the Depression?

Well, Philadelphia was a very depressed area. I lived
on a street in north Philadelphia, lower Kensington
section. There were sixty-eight houses on the street
and during the Depression--my recollection--we had two
men that were emploved. One was a policeman, the other
was a mailman. The rest of the people were either on
relief or savings. There wasn't such a things as
relief as you have today. You would go to the fire
house or a police staticon and they would give you
either a bag of cabbage today and maybe a bag of tur-
nips tomerrow, a bag of potatoes. You didn't get much
if your shoes or clothes wore out you generally wore

hand-me-downs. I don't ever vremember getting new
clothes. I had two older brothers. Your shoes wear
out, vou put cardboard in them and things 1like that.
Jobs weren't to be had. When my wife and I were

young i1t was almost compulsory that you leave school
when you got to be sixteen years of age to help put
food on the table. Get some kind of menial djob, what-
ever. First job I ever got was you got a $1 a day and
you worked eight hours. My parents always took ninety
prercent of what I made off me.



What were you doing for a 81 a day?

Oh, golly! I sold produce door to door. I worked as a
Western Union messenger. I worked with a roofer in the
summer time. If yvou got $1.50 it was big money.

You turned most that money back into your parents?

Yes, about ninety percent of it. My parents would give
me $.10 on a 81. Finally my father was able to get me
a job working in a hat factory that he worked, Stetson
Hat Factory.

He worked there?

Yes, he worked there all his life. Then, I worked
there for--oh, I don't know—--a couple of years I guess.
Yes, it was a couple of yvears or a year and a half.

When I went there they put me on night turn. Which was
like 4:30 or 5:00 in the afternoon until 2:00 or 3:00
in the morning. The superintendent of that department
had a nephew who worked alsoc. At the time I asked hin,
"Why can't you rotate him one week and me one week?"
He says, "Oh, you are just learning. It is not as
tough to work at night. So we will let you work this
vear night turn. Next year we will rotate." So, I
worked hard and good. I was a good worker. I was an
aggressive kid all my life. So, that went around, next
summer came around. First thing I look at the schedule
and Duffy has the first month day turn, old Joe has got
the night turn. I went up to Ike and I said, "Hey, you
told nme that we would rotate this vyear, vyou know,
alternate weeks. I would get night turn one time and
day turn another.” You know when vou are that age that
is important to you. "Oh, something came up.," he said,
"we can't do that. You will have to stay on night
turn." I was eighteen at the time. I said, "Like hell
I will." He said, "What do you mean?" I gaid, "If you
can't rotate, I gquit." My father worked in the same
department. Of course he had a different tvpe job than
I. He said, "I'll tell your father." I said, "I don't
give a damn who yvou tell. I'll quit and join the Army
before I do that." It wasn't long before, a day or so,
my father got a hold of me. We didn't even work the
same turn. He worked day time, I worked night. He
said, "Are you going to guit?" I said, "Yes, I'm going
to go join the Army." He said, "Well, if that is what
you want to do." I said, "Will you sign for me?"
Which he had to in those days. He sgaid, "Well, if that
is what you want to do. I'll sign for you but do a
good Jjebh. Don't be a half baked guy." That i1s what
happened. I joined the Army in September of 1938.
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I went to the Hawailan Islands. Of c¢ourse you had
three choices at that time for what they called foreign
service. You could go to the Philippines, you could go
to Panama, and you could go to Hawail. Well, I was
curious, T didn't hear too much about the Philippines
or Panama but I had heard a lot about Hawaii. You know
your advertising and all that. Even in those days they
advertised it, not like they do today. They advertised
it «c¢onsiderably. BSo, I chose Hawaii and I went away.
I had never been away from home. I went away for three
vears.

Part of that, when I first left school I went to Jjoin
the Navy. I went down there and they give us a bunch
of forms. I was a little skinny kid. They must have
known. From looking at me they would have known it.
You couldn't Join at that age. You had to lie. I
marked the application that I was eighteen. Here is a
story I never told of myself for thirty =some vears.
The application had a question, "Did you ever have
venereal disease?" Well, believe it or not in those
days kids my age didn't know what venereal disease was.
We didn't run into sex stories and things 1like this.
So, I said to this guy, he was older, beside me, "What
is the venereal disease? Is that like chicken pox and
measles and stuff like that?" He said, "Yes." So, I
put down “yes" on the gquestion. I always seemed to
prefer the Navy when I was younger. Anyway we had to
go up, there was about eight of us. The guy looked
through these papers. He said, "Which one of you guys

are Reed?" I said, "I am."” He said, "You had vVD?" I
said, "Yes." He said, "What did you have?" I said,
"Oh, I had all of them. I had c¢hicken poxX, measles,
whopping c¢ough." He said, "Get the hell out of here

and come bhack when you are dry behind the ears!”

Well, vyou know, a couple yvears later when I decided I
was going to go in the service I was afraid to go back
to that Navy place because I thought the same guys
might still be there and remember me. When I went to
the Army and they accepted me I was a little surprised.
Not that I didn't want to go. I wanted to go. So, I
did. I joined the Army and they let me stay three days
and then they shipped me cut in September of 1938.

You left by train?

We left by train to New Rochelle, New York and they had

a P.O.E. I can't remember off hand. I can't remember
the name of that post. It is still there, it is a
shipping point. Well anvhow, I was up there 1in the
first hurricane that came in up there in 1938, Septem-
ber 1938. Boy it really came in. I had never been 1in
something like that before. They were permanent struc-
tures. Actually we were not in any danger. We were



right on the ocean. It was an island actually. What
the devil is the name of that fort?

Fort Shanks?

No, that Shanks I went over there during the war. No,
this was at New Rochelle, New York. I'll come up with
it later on in the conversation. Anyway the ocean came
in and they had a low area, like they use as a ball
park and everything else, and they parked cars on it.
During the hurricane the ocean came in, covered all the
cars. We were in a raised portion but the were in a
low portion not to far. All the cars were under water.
Well anyway, I shipped out from there on a ship; US

Army Transport Saint Maheal, I think it was. We went
down to Charleston, South Carolina and theyv docked then
there. They took on some troops that were stationed

down there and they put on some ones that were going
further. We stayved on it and we got duties on there.

What was the ship like?

It was a little rough. They had wire rack beds and
stuff like that. It wasn't to good of accommodations.
It got you there. In those days you didn't worry to
much about plush things. There Jjust weren't. We
stopped in North Careolina and I got an eight hour pass.
I was allowed to go and see Charleston, South Carolina.
T was allowed to go around the town and all. I went to
a movie and came back, just a green recruit. We board-
ed ship again and the next morning we left there.

We went down through the Panama Canal. You heard about
these things and all. Here I am, a kid like me, get-
ting some adventure. We go down in there and then we
go through the Canal. They left us ¢off on both sides
of the Canal. Some guy got off on one side, some on
the other. I think I got off on the Atlantic side. We
were told to watch ourselves because prostitution and
all was rampant. Lots of disease and all this kind of
stuff. I wasn't interested in that kind of thing any
how. I was scared of women. I didn't understand those
things and I was actually afraid of them. ©Qf course,
they show you some awful pictures when you got these
diseases. That is part of your indoctrination course.
We walked around the town and all. I was with some
other guys. Funny thing thev had like a garage, just a
little bit. They would have a bed in there and these

women would sit on the chair. If they took on a cus-
" tomer they would just c¢lose the garage doors. They
would go in there. They had whole sqguare blocks of
this. Naturally, young like we were and some of the
fellows were a little older, they were c¢urious about
all this stuff. So, we walked around all of them

anyhow. We had certain areas were off limits,



We accidentally got off limits one time and we got to a
slaughter house. They were just killing the cattle
like you wouldn't believe. They were hitting them with
axes and stuff like that and skinning them. While they
were skinning them with all the bloeocd around, the
vultures were coming down. Landed on the hides and
stuff like that, and pulling at them. Finally, I don't

know who it was, name of Peter somebody saw us. He
said, "Hey, you guys get the hell out of here. You are
not allowed in here you know." No sanitation about

killing your cattle.

Then we went through the canal and that was a nice
experience. I have some photos yet today. They blow
the water in and the darn fish come up. You see the
fish circulating too. Then we went through the c¢anal,
which was a nic¢e thing. We got to the Pacific and we
got out there. We started up the Pacific coast and off
of Mexico there was, at that time of year I guess——1I
don't know if they are always there-—-a lot of whales.
You could see them blowing. They would blow their
spout.

Oh,. ves?

Yes and not to far off shore. We could see shore when
we went up the Pacific coast. These whales were be-
tween wus and shore. You would see them blowing and
rolling and everything else. Plus the porpolise were
something too. They would get in front of the ship and
keep that up. Then in the Pacific—--I think it was the
Pacific, it might have been both oceans, it is so 1long
ago—~we hit a lot of flying fish. You would see them.
They would go out of a wave and they would flving
acroga into the next wave and stuff like this. We had
rough seas, I was weozy. I couldn't go down the c¢com-—-
panion way teco much. I get sea sick. I always knew
that from fishing when I was a kid. I would go out in
the ocean in a little boat and get sea sick. We pulled
into San Francisco and . . . 0Oh boy, what is the name
of? Well, anyhow it was behind a rock, the prison.

Alcatraz?

Alcatraz! Our Dboat serviced Alcatraz and us, Fort
Lawson. Anyway, we go out to this place. We stayed
there, I stayed there about a month. Pulled a lot of
Kp. Used to get in KP, they would get you up 2:00 in
the morning. You would still be in that kitchen 10:00
the next night. You would get that for seven to eight
days at a time.

Holy Cow!

Then if you got smart with anybody or said anything out



of the way, they would just turn you right over and you
would do ancother turn. So, you didn't do much other
work. Then they gave us one day of San Francisco. We
got a pass. We got on the beoat and the biggest thrill
I got of the whole thing was that boat stopped at
Alcatraz. Right into the docks and those walls went
up, way up. Very bleak, barren looking concrete thing.
They would take on mail and a couple people would get
on and couple people would get off. Most of the pas-
sengers were our soldiers that were on from the post.
They would take us to San Francisco and drop us off on
the docks.

So, I went to town. I visited San Francisco China
Town. I went walking around looking for a gift for my
mother. I am looking in a window, first thing you know

one of these odd balls comes up to me. I looked at him
right away and this 1s what they teld us about. He

said, "Come on soldier, I'll buy you a drink." I said,
"I don't drink mister."” "Oh come on, don't be 1like
that. I'll buy you a drink." I said, "Hey mister, I
don't drink. I'm doing some window shopping. I'm

loocking for a gift for my mother and that is all I'm
concerned with in this town today. Maybe I'll go to a

good restaurant." I had a few bucks. Seo, one thing
led to another, and he kept following me. I was
shopping in one of these Chinese places. They had nice
stuff. He would follow me, same thing. S0, after
about three or four times I walked to the curb, I
said, "Mister, I'm going to cross the street and con-

tinue my window shopping. If you follow me, one of us
is geing to get the ghit beat out of him. I don't want
vou bothering me, get the hell away from me." So, I
went over and I started window shopping. T look in the
window, he is standing on the curb leering at nme. He
didn't come across the street, thank God. I didn't
have any problem with it.

When T had to get back, you had certain hours the boat
ran, you had to be there. I never wanted to violate
the rules or anything. I went back to the thing and
stayed there a little while. Then the boat took off
for another boat. I can't remember what the name of it
was. We took off for Honolulu. I'll tell you, we hit
one of the worst storms that I think we were more like
a submarine than a ship. That, so called, Pacific was
as wild as oceans could come. They showed us snap
shots afterwards. Honest to God the boat was under-
water most of the time. Nobody was allowed on deck.
They battened you down. Not only that but I was on
latrine orderly and the water, instead of going out,
was coming in. Through the commodes and everything.
The water would come flving up and everything was
awash. I was so violently =zick and I was throwing up
green and everything else. I am holding on to a com—-



mode and I couldn't stand up I was so weak. The guy
come in that was in charge of the detail and he was
gick. I said, "You dumb son of a bitch, can't you see

I'm sick. Get me out of here." He said, "Hey bud.
everybody is sick." Even the station complement, the
crew on the ship, were sick. It was terrible. I threw

up everything I could. Son of a gun! So, then we got
out of that storm and we watched the sights and all
that. I think it took us seven days to go over there
from $San Francisco to Hawaii. There weren't any air-
c¢ratts in those days.

We got over there and I was Sea Coast Artillery, which
I didn't know what it was. One thing led to ancther,
we went up to this post. It was called Fort Kamehame-
ha, named after the king of the islands. Fort Kameha-~
meha was a sea coast artillery port but you had to go
through Hickam Field to get there. When vou went out
of EKamehameha gate then yvou had to go out of Hickam
Field gate to get there. We were behind Hickam Field,
more or less, right on Pearl Harbor. We took our basic
training there and I had an instructor who was tough.
He was tough but I really applied myself. It was a
lark for me, I was having a ball. I really applied
myself. I was just a young kid compared to most of
them. They even got to . . . I didn't shave yet. So,
the guys like that they called them "Chicken." My name
got to be "Chicken" Reed. “"Chicken" O'Conner, dguys
that didn't shave.

We went through our basic training. I worked hard to
try to learn everything. We had a tough instructor.
We weren't even allowed to talk to anvbody else but the
recruits. They would march us in formatien to our
company. We would go to eat. Like if twelve of us
were being assigned to "A" battery, Fifteenth Coast
Artillery—-—-which was what the unit was at that time--we
could go in that mess hall and sit down but we couldn't
even look at this guy over here. We sat at that table
for eight weeks. We got our food, we ate, got up,
formed outside. While vou were waiting outside vou
couldn't talk to anvbody. They knew not to talk to
vou. They would get vou in trouble. They would Ilaugh
at vyou and stuff like this, the guys that were in the
outfit. Then we would march back to our place. We did
that three times a day. We trained 1like for four

hours. So, finally we were going pretty good. This
big hill billy, he had a big affect on me in my service
career. He was good, he knew his stuff. We had an

inspection one day and evervbody got gigged but me in
our bunch. I don't know how I got by, to this day 1
don't know how. I did take my gun apart 1like you
weren't supposed to and clean all the little eoil places
and put it together.



You weren't supposed to?

No, no you could only take certain groups. There was a
southern boy that knew a lot about rifles and he and I
got together. We just took them all apart.

These noncom used to go out and get pretty well buzzed
up. They would come in, maybe 12:00 at night, and make
all kind of noises. We would be trying to sleep. We
slept in parameter tents. We had mosquito barbs, I
don't know if you know what they are. You have like a
"T" angle on your bed, on the top and on the bottom.
We had cots. This mosquito barb was like a netting.
Fit all over your bed and all because mosquitoces were
bad. It fit all over your bed and hung down, kept the
mosguitoes out. Once in awhile one or two would get imn
there., Give you a bad time. The noncoms would come in
and wake us all up. So, we decided one time that we
were going to get even. We waited until they had us up
maybe about 12:00 by the noise and what we did--which
they weren't supposed to do--we waited, we all had a
bunch of rocks. We snuck out in our shorts and bare-
foot and we ran down right outside . . . They slept in
separate tents. We ran down and we took these rocks
and we banged every G.I. can we could see. Woke them
up about 2:00 in the morning. We beat it like hell
back to our tents, we go in and feign sleeping.

First thing yvou know they got everybody out. We all
got out of bed in formation, we had our shorts on is
all we had. They said, "We want everybody to go back
in and get their toothbrush." You had mandatory that
you had certain equipment. The stuff you used for
inspection vyvou couldn't use on yourself. You had to
keep them Just for inspection. You had another set
that you used personally. You brushed your teeth and

all. We all d4id as ordered. We were way out on the
point where they had permanent gun placements there.
Made of heavy concrete and all that stuff. Underneath
these gun placements would be like a latrine. They

marched us in there and had us all get on our hands and
knees and scrub that latrine with our toothbrushes. We
just finished up the night, about four or five hours,
scrubbing the latrine. If you thought you were done
they put vou back again. So, come daylight they let us
out of there. We got cleaned up, went up for break-
fast, and then we started our regular training. We
didn't get smart anymore.

This guy, his name was Theodore Hale, he came fromnm
Johnson City, Tennessee, He had been in the Army maybe
eighteen years. One thing about those davs, the guys

that had the rank, the sergeants and all . . . We
didn't have any . . . One staff sergeants was all, in
those days. They knew their stuff. They were all



soldiers and they had had been through mill. One guy
had thirty-two vears in. That was their home. They
drank a lot but they were good people. Well, most of
them were. This guy took a liking to me because I made
it my business to study everything I was supposed to
study. When we got turned to duty, to the company, had
a detachment out in what they called Fort Weaver. It
was what they called the boon~docks, the woods, cut in
the woods. Where the fellows out there were all spe-
cialists. They would maintain the guns and maintain
other things out there. The other guys would come out
on maneuvers. - We would be out there, maybe f£ifty,
sixty of us would be out there all the time. That
would be our station. This guy Hale came up to me, he
gaid, "What are you going teo do?" I said, "I'm going
over with my buddy Pollock, we are going over to Fort
Weaver." He said, "I would rather you staved here. I
can help you." I said, "No, hell, I'm geoing over to
Fort Weaver." "Qkay."

So, I went over there and we had these ammunition
bunkers with all the ammunition in and all; partially
underground, partially above.

For the big guns?

For the big guns. Yes, I was on a crew,. Their main
weapon was a sixteen inch rifle. Now, you gee these
big battle wagons with the guns on. Well, the Army's
were bigger than that. They fired a heavier shell and
everything else. Everything was spanner trays and
rolling stock. Nothing could be picked up by hand, it
was too heavy. Your projectile cartridge came right
over. You leave down a rolling metal plate from the
cart, it used to be the sides. Then it rolls down and
vyou see carts with them now that they cart trucks and
things in the back.

Like elevator deals?

No, it wasn't an elevator. It was just rolled out.
Oh., okay.

At an incline. 'Then vou had scme dogs and stoppers.
You push these levers and a dog would go down and the
ghell would start to roll. You could hold it at a
certain speed. We would put the shells on a spanner
tray. Spanner tray go to the breach of the gun. Gun
would be depressed and you would have an electric
rammer. It would ram that shell in. Then you
had . . . Powder chargers were big, many increments of
it. They would ram it behind a gun. Then you had what
they c¢alled a wheeling, step down, breech block. It
had a lot of grooves and lands on it. When you turned



that over, when it was turned over . . . It was turned
over electrically. It would lock in there. Then the
guy would turn in the primer. You would set all the
range and elevation. It could shoot at that tinme,
which was a hell of a distance, thirty miles. It could
shoot anywhere around the island. I got te studying on
them.

First thing you know this guy Hale came over there. He
took over what we called a Panama Mount 155 deal. See
Oahu was such a small area that the field artillery
could not train as field artillery. To shoot anything,
like our 155's, or our 75's. They would have to come
down to our place and use our guns to shoot at sea
coast targets. We would have a tug go on a target on a
cable. They would aim at that and shoot at it. That
was how they got their practice in. We governed those
targets and these field artillery outfits come in and
shoot them, at times.

So, anyway Hale come over and he took over this 155
battery. At the time I was driving an eight ton gaso-
line engine on a single track. Where we used to go to
these power sheds and pick up this ammunition and
projectiles and take them to the gung and roll them
back. Plus, we were alsco the transportation around the
four-wheeler. We were out in an isolated area =so,
these big battle wagons would all come in. The Navy,
and there was a Marine firing range north of us a
little bit. We had a little wooden shack they called a
"PX" down there. Where we had beer and candy and
stuff. One of our people ran it. These Navy guys came

in, they had been out to sea for a few months. They
wanted to give them up a little party and picnic or
something. We would pick them up . . . They would

bring their boats down to our dock and we would pick
them up on our train. We had an area there where they
could have a picniec and a beer party and raise royal
hell. Let the steam off. We didn't bother with them
to much but we did get to play them ball, football and
things like that. Over there 1t ig all sand and it
gives with you. We learned to play on it. I was a
jock strap. We used teo play them on footkall and
stuff. Geez, some of them were big. We were 140, 150
pound kids, most of us. We had some big Pennsylvania
boys. Thanksgiving Day we would play double headers,
stuff like that; Football. We had no pads or anything.
It was all just physical. You couldn't get going that
fast really. Also, the trees over there are what they
call algeroby, it is like, I understand, mesquite. I
don't know what a mesquite tree is but they had big
thorns on them. They were brittle as hell, They used
to have G.I. shoes which were heavier than the garrison
shoe, which they eliminated with the war. These things
go right through the sole of it and inte your foot.

10



You couldn’'t get them out until they got infected.
Then vyou could pop them ocut. When it first went in
there, to get tweezers, it just kept breaking up. You
couldn't get them. You had to wait until it got in-
fected. We got used to that, it was a way of life.

So, then this guy Hale came over there. One day he had

a gun mechanic's Jjob open. He came to me. He said,
"Hey Chick." They used to bid on these things jobs. He
said, "I want you to bid on my second gun mechanic's
job." I said, "Hale, Yip Burns will bid on that job.
He wants it." He said, "Well, I'll tell vou right now
Yip Burns 1isn't geing to get it. I am the guy that
says who gets it. Now if you want it, bid on it. It
you don't, don't bid on it. You keep driving that
train." So, I went up to Yip, who was a friend of

mine. He had come from Delancy Street, in Long Island
or some wWhere like that. I went up to Yip and I said,
"Hey Yip. Hale told me that you aren't going to get
that job. He asked me if I wanted it he wanted me to
take it." He said, "Hell Chick, if you want it, go
ahead. I don't want it if he don't want me." So, I
bid on the job and I got it. Owver there, in those
days, you had to take specialist Jjobs to get a rating.

You know none of us were educated. S0, a guy came in
with a high schoel education. Everybody said, "Watch
that son of a bitch, he has a high school education."”
It was only about one. We even had guys that couldn't
read or write. I had one guy,., his name was Beam or
Bone, I forget now anymore. Anyway, this guy was a
little squat guy. Every since he could remember he
worked in the coal mines. Like six, seven, eight vears
old hig dad had him in the ccal mines. He never got
any school and he couldn't read or write. I'm getting
ahead of my story. A little later on in 1life, they
came up to me. Him and another guy came up to me.
This guy I knew was leaving for the states, he was
going back home, but Beams still had about eight or ten
months to go. Every two years they used to rotate you,
before the emergency. They came up to me one day and
gaid, "Hey Chick, will you do me a favor?" I said,
"What is that?" That is when I found out this fellow
couldn't read or write. Thigs other guy had been doing
his writing for him and reading his letters when they
came back. They asked me to take his place. I said,
"Hell yes, I'll do it. What the heck." You felt 111
at ease sometimes but he would dictate a letter to me
and I would write it and we would mail it. He would

get answers and he would bring them to me and I would
read them to him. '

Also, in those days you had to take a test. I still

have the books up in the attic. The second class
artillerymen, the first class artillerymen, and the
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expert artillerymen. It was compulsory the first year.
You toock the second class artillery— men. In other
words you learned a little bit about the equipment, the
maintenance, the range, and all this kind of stuff.
Then, most of the guys they didn't like schools anvhow.
They wouldn't take more than the second. They had to
take that. They didn't have to take the first or the
expert. So, we all took the seccond class artillerymen.
I passed it with high marks. The guy that was the
instructor he came over. He saild, "Hey kid, why don't
vyou go right on to the first class. We are starting it

in a couple of days." I said, "Nobody takes the first
class."” He said, "Well, yvou don't have to. The way
vyou took this I think vou might do good. You aren't

going to hurt vourself. You probably get a pay raise
out of it, PFC or something." Well, in those days the
gross pay was $21 a menth. OQut of that they automati-
cally took deductions., where you got $17.50 was all you
got total. If yvou got that. In that $17.50 you had to
buy wvour own tolilet articles, you had to have your
clothes c¢leaned. So much it cost you a month. They
would take about $2.50 off vyou to block your hat. Plus
they had a credit chips. What they called credit
chips. It was like a book of stamps worth . . . They
were all $2. You were allowed one-third of your pay in
¢redit checks when you got broke. About one-third of
the month you didn't have nothing. 8o, they give vou
these things where you can buy toilet articles and
maybe go to a show. Stuff like this. We all got themnm
all the time. 8o, when vour pay day came they were
automatically taken out. So, maybe sometimes veou would
get $5.

It was good. Those o0ld time guys, they took me in
their group. They had a little shack out in the woods.
They had a little fireplace. They built it out in the
sand dunes. They would go out there on a Saturday
night or something. They would buy some beers. Like
pay day some of the guys, older guys, would go in town.
They would get involved with a woman for a bit and then
they would bring back whiskey. Which is agailnst the
regulations but they would bring it back. They would
bring back some steaks.

In the meantime, during the day, we had a .22 rifle and

we all had our fishing gear, which you piece meal. It
didn't «cost that much. Some of us would go out surf
casting. We used to get barracuda. They were good
eating. Barracudas is like a walleye, big chunks of
meat. You c¢ould see them out there. You could see

their shadows in the sun on the coral. We would go out
when the tide was out. You could wade out pretty far,
up to your waist. All you had to do was cast a Johnson
Silver Spoons 1s all we used. You just throw them out
there. By God, you pulled by them a little bit and boy
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they would hit it. Then we would get them in, we would
get a few of them.

We had a .22 rifle among us. We all chipped in a
couple of bucks and bought one. It wasn't much. They
had these doves that they have; nmorning doves. They
had them on the islands. We would go shoot them and
they were only breast meat. We would get these morning
doves and we would have the fish. The guy would bring
back a couple of steaks and scome whiskey and we would
have a little bit of beer. We would go up to the mess
hall and steal potatoes. We had these cans and all in
this place out there. The only thing was you couldn't
put anything down, you had to suspend everything on
wire or in water, because the ants were so bad. If we
got time. I think that is when Crisco first came out.
The guy used to bring a pound can of Crisco back with
him. We had it suspended on wires in an old wash
basin with water in it. That is where we left it. You
couldn't leave it anywhere, the ant would get in it.
They would get in it and eat it.

S0, they taught me to fish and hunt out there. I
really enjoyed myself. Also, I learned to sew sur-
rounding nets. You see these natives that they throw
these nets out, with the lead weights around them and

all. Hell, I learned to sew them and work with them,
I learned to throw. I wasn't as good as some o¢f the
guys. What you did was get up on a coral rock. You

would wade out and there would be pockets of depth and
coral would be sticking up in the alr. Where mavbe you
would only be . . . You would get up on one o¢f then.
There would runs through here were the water would be
three feet deep, but vyou would be in two inches of

water once you got up on the coral rock. Then vou
would watch in the sun. Here these mullet, they were
mullet . . . You would get up on these rocks and there
was certain way you held this and threw it. I could

probably still do it. I still have needles and gauges
up in the attic. Anyway, vou get up on these c¢orals
and vou watch these come by. They come through like a
black ¢loud. So, when they get a certain place then
you throw your net, you spread your net out. ¥You throw
it 1in such a manner that it would make a big circle.

Then, the lead welghts would take it right down. T
have seen guys catch as many as thirty in one cast but
the most I ever got was eight. I wasn't as good as

some of them. Then, you pulled it together. What they
natives did over there, the guys, the would put the
fish head in their mouth and bite down on their brain.

To kill the fish?

To kill the fish, yes. They would bite down. I
couldn't get myself to do that. I used to get them and
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break their necks with my hand. They were goocd eating
too. We couldn't go anywhere or anything 1like that
because we didn't have no money. We would go out there
for the three day holiday, which isg unusual, and you
didn't pull duty. Heck, vou could go a week out there
and stay in the sand with a blanket for two or three
davs. Eat this fish and stuff like that.

Sounds nice.

Everybody didn't get this opportunity but £for some
reason I did. These guys weren't bad. There was no
such thing as odd balls in those days, they were regu-
lar guys. Plus the fact that we used to take this .22
rifle. . . You know vears ago rats were a pest in the
island. $So somebody, long before my time got the idea
they would import mongoose to eliminate the rats. What
happened was the mongoose became an additional pest and
the rats lived in trees like squirrels. They Jjust had
a very sloppy nest. Plus domestic cats were very wild
over there. You could get a kitten that just opened
his eyes and there was no way you could put a hand on

them. We would find them out on the coral rocks, in
the woods area. They just open their eyes, and boy
they are like a tiger. You couldn't touch them. We

uged to shoot them.

The rats . . . We would go out on a Sunday, two or
three of us. What we would do was go down to the butts
on the rifle range, where we used to shoot and the
marines used to shoot. We would dig in with our hands
and vou would get the projectiles, from the bullets.
We would get maybe 100 of them and put them in a little
pouch. We all had sling shots made cut of an inner
tube. One guy would take the rifle, the .22, and we
would go out there and we would sling shot these nests.
Well, maybe four or five rats would come out on a 1limb.
The guy with the rifle, he would pick them off. He
would shoot for so long. and the next guy would shoot.
We would spend a Sunday that way. So, what we would do
is we would take their taills. Sometimes we would have
over 100 rat tails by the end of the day. Things like
that we kept our self entertained with and it was good.

I tecock this test and the guy talked me into taking the
first class gunners test. I was very interested in
this. I wanted to learn. I wasn't a dumbkb kid in
school but I was bored. I applied myself and it wasn't
tough. I got through the first c¢lass gunner. §So, then
somebody got arcund to how many guys are geoing to take
the expert gunners test, This is in my £first year,
which is unheard of. Generally it is three years
hefore they do this. So, I think there was only one or
two of them guys that had been in the Army for vyears,
wanted to take the expert gunners test. This guy came
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up to me and he said, "Hey Chick, take that expert

gunners test." I said, "Bull shit, these guys are
riding me now for taking that first c¢lass gunners
test."” He said, "Don't worry about them, worry about
vourself. You take that." I think this Hale was
behind this guy pushing me. He said, "You take that
expert gunners test." So boy, I picked the expert
gunner's book up . . . I had put my name in for it.
There were only three or four of us. This was a bat-

tery of 240 guys. They give me the handbook and T
start going through the handbook. It was mostly oral.
This expert test was all oral. It was a board of three
officers. I went through this book and boy some of it

was to technical for me. I didn't understand it. I
looked at it and I thought, "Boy here is a guestion
that they surely will ask me." I memorized it back-

wards, forwards, upside down, and inside out, verbatim.
But I can't tell you what I was talking about. If you
told me to go apply it I wouldn't have been able to. I
am like a lot of these college kids today. They have
got the theory but they have no practical experience.

So anyway, I go through this thing. I was a Jjock
strap. I plaved on the football team, I played on the
baseball team, and I swam on the swimming team, and I
swam on the post swimming team. Lo and behold when I
go before this board, there is a captain in charge of
these three officers, Captain Clark. He was my swim-—
ming dinstructor. Coach, not instructor, he was a
swimming coach. It was a figurehead thing, he didn't
know anything about it. We just had some guys that
could swim and we swam good. I looked at him and I
thought, "Oh boy, if I get any breaks he might give me
one." This one gquestion about inducing alternating
currents, I could probably s£till find the paragraph in
the book upstairs, I had that down pat. I tell vyou,
don't vyou know the first question out of the box was
that one. I start rattling, and I start rattling, and
I never shut up. Christ, when I got done they looked
at one another and they said, "That's all." 8So, I was
an expert gunner. Plus the fact that the year it took
me on the guns, I got to be number one gunner.

All of these qualifications I came up with made me look
good. 8So, the first ratings that came in I got to be a
PFC in less than thirteen months, which was unheard of
in those days. I also got a 39 pay raise out of that,
which wasn't bad. 8o then Hale took me on as first gun
mechanic and my job went to Pearse Second gun mechanic,
he took care of the tool shed. We used to chip those
tools down to nothing and paint them every year and
everything else. I mean it was spick and span. The
peace time motto was spit and polish, there is no two
ways about it. You did or you got hurt. The first gun
mechanic¢, he took care of the guns out on the guns.
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Like if you had a work crew he got selection of a
number of people. Then a gun mechanic and a second gun
mechanic what get what was left and work arcund the
shed. We had them planted. I had a papaya orchard. I
had some banana trees. That was later. Unfortunately,

the banana trees never produced when I was there. But
the papava, 1f my memory serves me right, wvou could
plant it, it is bearing fruit in eighteen months. We

had a papaya orchard behind the gun park. You had to
watch because every time a papaya got a little bit of
vellow on it it disappeared. So, we had what they
called waste bins. It was like a million rags into
waste materials for wiping the guns, the oil, and all
that stuff. We had a wheole bin of this. So, as soon
88 wWe saw a papaya that looked like it was going to get
vellow, we would pull it off and put it down 1in the
waste bin to save for ourself. You learned to like
them. They had a funny flavor to them. You learned to
like them and we used to pour some ice cream in themn.
They were real good.

Anyway, I made the expert gunner and, oh God, did the
guys get on my ass. They Jjust never let up. I was the
only guy there and 1 was young. They just kept pushing
me ahead. First thing veou know I am assistant gun com

mander, on these sixteen inch rifle jobs. These are
bigger than a house. These guns are big. They welighed
over a million pounds. They had 144 conical rollers
that were worked electrically. The gun would be rotat-
ed electrically. The elevation and depression was all
electrical. B8Son of gun, I got to know them pretty good
and I was able to chose different people.

First thing you know this Hale . . . He was a drinker
and he would get high once in a while and get in fights
with the wrong people. He goofed off. They busted him
down teo private. ‘They approached him to see who did he
think would be qualified to take over the 155's. He
recommended me. S0, they give me the guns and they
made me a corporal. Which was another pay increase and
I can't remember now. I think it . . . I would hesi-
tate to even guess the amount of pay. It wasn't that
much, $§8 or $10 different, but I had the responsibili-
ty of the gun park. Well, he had been a buck-sergeant.
I know buck-sergeant those days was $54 but I was a
corporal in the $40 somewhere. Because it was $30 as a
PFC. I think 842 was a corporal. So, then they let ne
pick the mechanics. We had no officers over where we
were. The guy that was in charge of detachment also
came from Philadelphia. T didn't know him but we hit
it off real good. He got to be one of my better
friends. I got the guns and I worked on them real hard

and kept it up. First thing you know . . . Anytime
there is a maneuver or anything I would turn these guns
over to the field artillery that came down. Like a
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island wide maneuver. I would go into the sixteen
inch rifles with . . . What the heck was the guys name?
Boy this guy had tattoos all over him. Grunky. Sargent
Grunky. He was in Panama for twenty years and all that
kind of stuff. Anyway I would go over and be Grunky's
assistant. I learned a lot from him, about the guns
and all. How vou maintain them and how yvou keep then
clean and all this kind of stuff.

bid you fire them very often?

We never fired them while I was there. I'll tell you

why. They had fired them a year or two before I was
there and we never had to. We fired the 155's. Every
vear we had crews on the 155's, firing them. We had

four inch antiaircraft guns, which became an additional
responsibility to me later on. Then I would go there
on maneuvers and my gun mechanics would take care of my
gun park and maintenance of these other outfits that
came in. I had two gun mechanics that stay there and

maintain the guns and maintain the shed. They would
tell these guys what they wanted done and then they
would have to do it. All these officers and all came
from Scofield Barracks. Our colonel would tell him,
"That guy is only a corporal down there, but he is
boss. If you feel he is unfair, yvou let me know, but

don't try to tell him what he has got to do. You know
what your unit has to do, you do it. If there is any
conflict get a hold of me. By the way the corporal
knows the same thing. If there is any conflict with
you people he is to get a hold of me right awayv." So,
there was never any problem. I had one problem one
time with a captain but he got straightened out real
quick. I called the colonel. The colonel got him on
the phone. He just gave me a dirty look when he left.

Then they made me a sergeant after eight or nine

menths. I guess I was close to two years there when
they made me a sergeant. Which was another time that I
was setting a precedent. One thing led +to another,

then the alert came on the Japanese. Now this alert
came in either late 1940 or the middle of 1940. We got
the word that they had lost contact with the Japanese
fleet. We were put on the full alert. We never had
this before. Live amunition. We worked day and night,
seven days a week. We strung barb wire out dinto the

ocean. We put machine gun enplacements in. Live
amunition by our guns. We dug pits by the guns. Put
available supply of amunition and everything else. We

were on guard. You were either pulling fatigue duty,
which was a work detail, one-day and you were on the
guns the next day. That is the way they did it with
you. There was no such thing as getting out because
where we lived we had to take a boat of our own Army
across Pearl Harbor. First boat was 8:00 in the morn-
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ing and the last boat was 9:00 at night. You never got
off Dbefore 1:00 in the afternoon. Even on Saturdays
vou worked until 1:00. You had to get over there and
get back on the 9:00 boat. There just wasn't those
k¥inds of leaves when we started this alert. So, you
were working day and night, night and day. The alert
came. They automatically extended. We were listed for
a short discharge abkout twenty-seven months before the
emergency. Soon as the emergency came in you stayved
for three vyears. So, we were doing alright there.
Then our battery commander and our two lieutenants. .
We only had three officers in 240 men in those days.
The non-coms did everything in those days. Hell,
during the war second lieutenant did what a corporal
did in peace time.

These trees they found out . . . They had let this
trees grow for years and they were gigantic. Big
treeg, these algarcby trees. Here they couldn't de-
press the guns or rotate the guns the way they had to
be to be fired. They couldn't fire through these
trees. So, the first order of battle was we had to
take all these trees down that were natural camouflage.
It used to be a laugh to us. Everytime we had a ma-
nuever against the Navy the Navy dive bombers would

throw like a pound of flour down. They would put our
guns out of action every time, right off the bat.
About a pound thing . . . How they did it I don't know.

It was just like a pound sack of flour came down, right
on the gun. The divers would come and they would knock
us out right away. So, then they would take us to the
four square A.A. battery. We would sit on the antiair-
craft guns then because that gun was out of action
theoretically. Then we got to doing these trees. I
will tell wyou physically it was a terrific thing. We
worked into shape. All we were doing was chopping and
you didn't have the things vou got today. You had a
two man saw, you had axes. . There was no power saws or
anything like that. You did it all by hand. Then when
you got it down you had to cut it up so you could get
back to be handled. You know, cut it up. We Jjust did
that for so long that I just got exhausted. We had the
live ammuntion on the guns and everything.

I finally was rotated. My term was up and I was
allowed to leave in thirty-three and a half months. I
took a boat back to the states in preperation for
discharge. There was no emergency as far as the Ameri-
can public was concerned. But we were on the alert.
You know, when this Pearl Harbor thing happened I had
just been out two months, The only way I had to ¢go
back was if war was declared. I had a 4A classifica-
tion. $So, they bombed Pearl Harbor on the seventh and
I went back the eighth. Then after the war I couldn't
imagine how they could . . . OQur PBY patrol bombers
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went out there every morning 6:00, 6:30. Like c¢lock
work they went out all the time. I could never under-
stand--my eXxXperience over there--how this c¢ould have
happened without us knowing about it. Personally, I'm

of the opinion tc this day that it was a set up. That
they had allies in the American public. My own opin-
ion. Toe verify this after the war, when I lived
through the war and all, I knew a fellow that I had
left there. He lived in 0il City, Pennsylvania. We

were good friends. He was a fighter. We c¢alled him
Punchy Philips, his name was Marshal Philips. So, when
we come out in this part of the country I told my wife
one day, "I'm going up and seeing Punchy because I just
got to find out what the hell happened."

He was at Pearl Harbor?

Yes, he was at . . . No, not at Pearl Harbor. He was
at Fort Weaver where I was stationed. Which is Pearl
Harbeor. Fort Kamehameha is on the left going out, Fort
Weaver is on the right going out. Fort Weaver is more
like a sand bar, Fort Kamehameha is a built up post
like Hickum Field was. I am sure when they bombed
Hickum Field they caught part of Fort Kamehameha. I
don't know this for a fact but they were like one. It
is 1like Boardman and Youngstown. Weaver, they might
not have come in there because it was jungle. We had
to cut these trees down.

So, I went up to see Punchy Phillips after the war. He
said, "Joe, you won't believe me. The Saturday kefore
Pearl Harbor we had tc put all the powder back in the
sheds, all the projectiles back in the sheds, we had to
turn in every round of live ammunition we had, and we

had to sign affidavits." I said, "You are kidding me."
He sajid, "No." I =said, "I still can't understand this
thing."

What kind of an affidavit?

That they didn't have any live ammunition. They turned
it all in. So, this is what he told me. In the back
of my head I'm believing this. I still believe it to
this day that there had te be political maneuvering to
arose the American public. It cost guite a few lives
but maybe in the long run it didn't cost as many. That
was my Pearl Harbor days. Then I came back and, of
course, the war broke out.

Actually when I was over there in 1940 they started the
paratroops. They put out a notice up on the board.
That was for me, I went right for it. I signed up.
Then, the first thing you know, I had so much red tape
involved. You had to have three vears previous experi-
ence as a line infantrymen. I was in the artillery.
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8o, it Jjust eliminated all of wus artillerymen. I
didn't give it anymore more thought. They cffered me a
staff sergeants job to stay. They were going to pro-
mote me to staff if I stayved. I had had enough at that
particular area. Plus we got a new commander., He was
a reserve guy and he wasn't half the man that our
commander was. So, I came back and I got out and I got
a job in a roller bearing plant for a couple of nonths.
That is when they bombed Pearl Harbor.

Kass and I were out at the park, walking through the

prark. We went to lunch someplace and we heard 1t on
the radie. I gaid, "I can't believe this. It couldn't
have happened. They were sitting on the guns.” of

course Sunday morning is the best day in the world to
hit the Hawaiian Islands as I knew them. Everybody is
either getting over a hangover or they weren't in. So,
they had skeleton forces on everything at that time. I

went right down to the Army and I told the guy, "Got
any openings in the paratroops. I'm a previous serv-
iceman and I would like to sign up for paratrcops. I

don't want to go into just any outfit."
Did you have to sign up again?

Oh, ves. I was 4A and the classification was in event
of war I had to go. The funny thing about it is I went
down to enlist the next day after Pearl Harbor and the
guy, the director of the board, called for me. I think
he sent a post card or something. We didn't have
telephones in those days.

Was it crowded down there that Monday?

No, not that T recall. Few people that is all. So,
the sergeant and I talked back and forth. He said,
"You know, I can't help yvou now. I'll tell you what we
will do. Keep in touch with me and within the next
couple of weeks we should be hearing something." So, I
kept in touch with him. I went down. There was, "No,
I ain't heard nothing yvet." In the meantime I didn't
report to the board. They wanted me to report to them
right away. I didn't report to them because I knew I
was going back in. I would go down once in awhile. I
went down this one time and he said, "Well, we got it.
You c¢an sign up for them if you want." I =aid, "Cer-
tainly I want it.. That is why I waited." He said,
"Qkay." It was Decenmber 23 before it came in. He
said, "Let's sign up for it."” So, I did and I said,
"You know, I haven't been home for Christmas for over
three years. It is Decembexr 23 now, how about giving
me a three day pass or something until right after
Christmas. I'll come in." "Ain't no problem," =0 he
gave me a three day pass. I had to report to leave on
December 26. I had three days I wasg home over Christ-
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mas.

Kass and I had started going together then. I knew her
since sghe was a little girl. We got pretty high that
night. Not her, but me and another kid down the
street. My father always had a Christmas tree. He had
Christmas balls over fifty wyvears old. Charlie and I
are three sheets to the wind up on this platform, Kass
is throwing the Christmas balls to us. My father
walked in, he almost died.

Anyway, I went down and joined the troops. I gualified
and .

Where would you have to go to?

We went to Fort Benning, Georgia. It was the only
place I'm aware of that, at that time, had it. I went
in it. I wanted the action and I was a kid that from
the time I was real young I wanted adventure. I don't
know why but I had a taste for adventure in my mouth.
I used to pull dumb gtunts as a kid. EKass can tell you
that I pulled stunts that nobody else would pull. Why
I don't know. Not that I was brave. I just didn't
have common sense I guess. Anyway, I went down and I
went into the air. In those days we packed our own
parachutes. We learned to pack them and the first
chute vyou ever Jjumped yvou packed. You spent a sleep-
less night before wondering if you packed it right.
Now, did I do this right. Did I do that right. 8o, in
those days vou packed yvour chute all the time. For the
first five jumps, which are qualifying jumps, I packed
my own chute., There is about five or six check points

on it that vou can be pretty sure it will open. Thing
about a parachute is . . . In that type of parachute
they didn't always open right. They opened but not
always right. That is where the danger came in. We
had guys that, during the course of training before we
went overseas . . . Some airplanes would get below the

jump plane and we had a guy hit the propeller of a
falling plane and stuff like this. We had one guy get
hung up on the tail of the plane.

In those davs, we had a little pen knife that was in a
little =zipper pocket up in your breast . . . High on
yvour chest, right in the middle of your chest. This
knife was in there for cutting vourself out of trees
and stuff 1like that. This guy, he jumped out o¢f a
plane one day and for some reason or other his whole

chute got over a tail and the wheel in the back. He
just hung up there and they were flving around with
him, Trying to figure out what the hell to do with

him. They couldn't land with him. They would kill him
on landing because they landed about ninety miles an
hour. We didn't have planes in those day either. They
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weren't available. The planes that did come in were
Army €47, a cargo plane. They weren't made for para-
troopers. They had to open up cargo doors and they had
big hinges on. All they would do when you jumped out
of them wag they would take masking tape and tape the
hell out of these hinges. I don't know if yvou ever got
up in air, or something like that, how that wind oper-
ates on them. Sometimes that tape would tear and there
would be an exposed hinge and you would be going out
the door. Anyvhow, later on they got things 1like you
see these Navy guys with. The dogs that you pull them
and open. The door would be an inner door. It would
pull out. Then you had a clear shot, you didn't have
anything hanging. Nothing to grab yvou. So, I made my
gqualifying jumps.

What happened then was I got hurt on a jump. I think
over 1in Alakama there was a lake over there. It was
January of 1942. Boy. when my chute opened I looked
down right in the middle of that lake. Even though it
don't get heavy snow down in Alabama and Georgia,
thirty-two degrees is damn cold. I am looking at that
lake. This had to be the middle of January of 1942.
I'm leoking at that water and boy, no way am I going in
there c¢old. I wonder if we would have drown. I Jjust
knew how cold that water was. Sco, they teach you
different things vyou can do and one of them is slip
your chute. Well, to slip your chute you have riser
and suspension lines, you walk up to them with vyour
hands and you grab a hold of your canopy if you can, if
you can get up that high, and pull hard. It spills the
air so that you go a little bit to your right or left.
You don't go much but a little bit. So boy, I am doing
that. T am deing everything I can. I didn't get all
the way up the skirt but I got there pretty damn high
because I was pulling hard. You only jumped about a
1,000 feet in those dayvs. We jumped lower later on but
that was at training jump. I'm going down, I'm going
down, and I ain't clearing this lake like I want to.
8¢, instead of preparing to land . . . You know you are
supposed to 1like a 100 feet to the ground, you are
supposed to forget everyvthing else and, what they call,
prepare to land. You grab yvour risers and you rock
yvour chute to try to keep it from oscillating, swinging
like a pendulum. You rock your chute and try to get
stabilized so you go down even. No matter which direc-
tion you hit sideways., or backwards, or frontwards,
you couldn't control this. You had some idea, some-
times you could. Most the time you couldn't in the old
chutes. Anyway I landed about ten feet from the bank.
Not only did I land ten feet from the bank, I slipped
all the way in. You are coming down faster. So, what
I did; my ankle, my knee, and my hip popped. My whole
leg was numb., I didn't know if broke it.
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The first time I ever jumped, first thing I saw was two
meat wagons going past; red cross wagons, ambulances on
the field down there. My chute ain't open yet. I
thought oh boy! That is another thing I remember,
John, to this day. I don't know whether I said it out
loud or not but the first jump I ever made I'm out
there just turning over in the air and my chute hasn't
started to open. I said to myself, "Joe Reed, what 1in
the hell are you doing out here?" It was just how it
reacted on me. So, anyway I was in a hospital .
Not a hospital but they had an injured place. They put
me on c¢rutches and I couldn't stand on my leg or noth-
ing. So, I had maybe about thirty days . . . I sent
Kasgs an engagement ring and I was still on c¢rutches
when I went into the jewelry store in Columbus, Geor-
gia, to get it for her.

There was a Jewish lady there, a real nice person. She
was recommending things to me. I don't know nothing.
What do I know about buying engagement rings. She was
recommending getting it engraved and all this kind of

stuff. Any jewelry I bought for her . . . I bought her
a couple of lockets down there. This lady said, "Now
why don't you have this done like this." "Go ahead, do
it. How much does it cost?” "Nothing, we will do it

for free."

I guess they wanted to hit back as quick as they could.
They had this Colonel Rapp and he toock all the para-
troopers that they could give. Paratroopers weren't
built up like they were paper outfits, they didn't have
the personnel. Like a company that is mavbe 136 guys
had maybe forty guys in it. So, what they 4did was take
all the loose ones and they made an organization. It
was a 509th parachute regiment. They are the ones that
got involved in Africa and all. The first cones to hit.
Qur intelligence was very bad in c¢ombat, they were
getting beat up and all. Two guys, as a matter of
fact, went down from Philadelphia with me. They were
both previous service men too; one's name was Farmer
and the other was Merz. One got killed and the other
lost his eyesight. Theyv went over with that bunch.

In Africa?

Yes, but I was hogpitalized or I would have been with
them. I was hospiltalized. I was sick, lame, and
lazy--what they called the guys that couldn't do noth-
ing, were recuperating from injuries.

Then, when I got out of there, I went to the 502 Para-
troop Battalion. Which was a paper battalion too.
They lived up in the main barracks in Fort Benning,
brick buildings. real nice you know. So, I went into
"C" company 502 Battalion and everything was going
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alright. We had a twenty, thirty men little company.
Even a little bit more than that mavbe. Everything was
coming alright, because they were f£illing them up as
guys come in.

My knowledge from the Hawailian Islands on theory and
technology of the guns stood me in good stead. I went
up there as a private but I had a lot more know how
than some of those guys that were there.

You were a private in the paratroops?

Yes, you don't carry your rank. In those days that
was a . . You carry what you call a "salt water
rank." You didn't get paid for it, you went back to

private's pay, but vou still kept the three stripes.
When I got out then and reenlisted I was automatically
a private. S50, when I went toc the C company 502 I was
working out alright. Then one day they had mortar
instruction. They took us from that brick barracks in
Benning and they put us over in Alabama. We started
building in the Alabama area, which was a big, tremen-
dous maneuver area. So, they took us over there and we
lived in paramenal tents.

We were out one day . . . I never saw a sixty millime-
ter mortar before, it is a little gun compared to what
I was used to. We were out there in instruction and
they guy 1s giving us the nomenclature of the gun. It
wasn't hard to pick up. 8o, then he got inte technique
of fire. Technical fire was the same as the artillery.
The only thing is the ranges and the increments and all
that stuff were much smaller. This fellow starts
talking and I =zay to myself, "Oh, boy." He was bs-ing,
he didn't know what he was talking about. Hell, I had
instructed in this kind of stuff over at the islands.
Of course, once I got my experts I was automatically an
instructor then. 8o, this kid is going on and on and
on. We have a break. . . In those days about every
hour or so they would say, "Smoke if you got them."
They would have a smoke break. They didn't do nothing
for us nonsmokers but the smokers had a break. These
platoon sergeants are way out. They weren't listening
to this guy. I walked back to them and I said, "Hey
fellows, I got a problem." Sergeant looked at me, I
hadn't been in the thing maybe three months with them.
He said, "What would your problem be?" I said, "Look,
I don't want you to think I'm a smart guy because I'm
not. But I'm going in combat with these bastards up
here and that guy instructing them on a sixty millime-
ter mortar don't know what he is talking about."” He
said, "What makes vou think that?" I said, "Well, I
had some three years of artillery experience. When he
gets into technigue or firing he is lost. He doesn't
know what he is talking about. Once again don't get
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the idea that I am a smart guy. I didn't say nothing
out there. I am just telling you guyvs. You better
make him brush up or something, because if I'm going in
combat with these guys I want them to know what the

hell they are doing." "Okay. you get back to the
class."” I went back to the class.
When everything was done and over that night . . . We

ate supper, came down from supper, all you did was sit
around on the steps and bs or something. First thing
vou know, "Private Reed report to the orderly room." I
thought, "Ch my ass, me and my big mouth,"” but I was an
aggressive kid I have to admit. Sometime I wonder how
people could stand me. Anyway, I go down to the order-
ly room. Here were these three gergeants, the first
sergeant 1is sitting there also. First sergeant says,
"Reed, these men are telling me what you were saying to
them teoday.” I sald, "Hey Sarge, I'm not a wise guy.
I didn't mean it that way but I'm concerned." He said,
"Do wyou know anything about the sixty millimeter mor-
tar." I s=said, "Sixty millimeter mortar as is, no I
don't, but I know technical fire. I know the terminol-
ogy and everything else. I used to instruct it over in
the islands." He gaid to me, "You think vou c¢an do a
better job than him?" I said, "Wait a minute I didn't
say that. I thought we could get him to brush up." He
gaid, "I'm asking you. If you had some time, yvou think
you could do a better job than him?" I just told him,
I =aid, "There is not a doubt in my mind. All I have
toe do is get the ranges and things like that oriented

but I've never handled the gun or anything else.” He
said, "Suppose I get you a gun and a handbook. How
much time you need?" I said, "Well, I don't know.

I'1l do what I can. I'll absorbk it as quick as I can.
How about giving me a week?" He said, "Okay we'll give
you a week and you aren't going to pull any other
duties. You get the gun, you get handboock, and you get
the hell out of the way." So, he gave me the gun and
the handbook and it was just a case of getting down the
ranges and things like that. Which didn't even compare
to what I was used toc. Of course zeroing it in and
everything else was the same as the artillery pieces;
your line of sight, your gun bore and things like that.
Your increments were a little different. I went on it.
Abcout seven days he said, "You come back and see me

when you think you are ready." I came back and I said,
"Sarge, I would like to give it a try. I don't know if
I am entirely ready but I think I can handle it." So
geez, I went out there and everything came right to me.
I acted 1like I had been doing it all my 1life. He
called me in and he complemented me. He =aid, “"From
now on you are our mortar instructor."” "Okay." So,

about a couple days later he called me intoc the office,
He said, "Reed we had a chance to check on you service
record. I 1like what I saw." I gaid, "Thanks, I
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tried." He said, "As vou know we are understaffed. We
have all kind of rank floating around here. Suppose I
give you sergeants stripes and you take over a first
squad." I said, "If you are willing, I'm willing."

You c¢ould go from a private to a sergeant?

Buck sergeant 1in paratroops, vyves. This paratroops
wasn't as tough as I envisioned it to be. I get in
there, I find some draftees and all. Sc¢, one thing led
to another and I made up my mind nobody was g¢going to
out perform me. I was going to be right up there with
the top. On our running deals and everything else I
was right there all the time because I was in good
shape and I was athletic.

One thing led to another and one morning a captain came
in, Bob Cole. Bob Cole was our active battalion com-
mander. He was only a captain at that time =so you know

how few we had. I was on charge of guarters, it was
Sunday in the morning. He said, "I want a noncom to go
on a recruiting detail with me tomorrow. We leave at
6€:00." I said, "Captain do you have any preference on
your noncom." "Hell no," he saild, "just give me a good
one." I =said, "I'm a gocd one, how about me." He
said, "You want to go?" I s=said, "Yes." He =said,
"Okay, you are my man." Christ when I told these other

guys thevcould have died. So, I packed up and I went
on a five or six week tour with him.

What thappened was, right then and there, they started
the expansion. I'm getting a little a head of myself.
They had started the expansion when they moved us to
Alabama. They took a company and they made a battalion
out of it. Like the third platoon would become . . .
Let's see, how did that work? Anyway, they toock a
company and made a battalion out of it. We were G, H,
and I. The firgt platoon was ¢ Company, so you had
thirty~six guys. Second platoon was H Company, they
had thirty-six guy. The third platoon was I Company,
they had thirty-six guys. They broke the company up
see. Thev had already decided I guegs. This was part
of the formation of it. They let guys sign in civil-
ians, sign in at a c¢ivilian level, to become paratroop-
ers. Which they had never dcne before. So, this
captain, and a medical officer--I think his name was
Thompson-~and Colonel Cole, and I, and two other non-
com, one from H and I . . . One guy's name was . . .
Anyhow I forget the names temporarily. Anyvhow, we
three sergeants and these two officers, we went to Fort
Bragg, North Carolina. It was where we were going to
take off from. The idea was we would Jjump into every
camp to impress these people, but also the idea was war
was just starting and there were no airplanes. So, we
jJumped off the backs of trucks. When we got up to Fort
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Bragg what they did was they tock these two officers we
came up with. We were supposed to go to California and
all. They went to California and they put us with two
other officers. We hit all the southern camps there.
Our job was to put the boots to these guys that wanted
to be paratroopers. We ran them, we gave them calis-—
thenics, and stuff like that, and we didn't let up.
The guys that fell by the way side were washed out. We
wanted the guys that go on guts alone . . . They want-
ed. We just did it. We were in tip top shape compared
to them.

Was there a lot of volunteers?

Oh, yves. As a matter of fact a fellow I went to school
with was a volunteer in one of the places. I loocked at
his dog tag. He said, "Yes, you know me Joe," and I
went to school with him. We met together coming out of
the service at Camp Lucky Strike, down in Marsailles,

France. He had gotten a battlefield commission also
and we met as he was going home. I said "Why the hell
don't you get out of here while you still can?" So,

anyway we went around these different camps and we did
this for about a month or six weeks. Then I went back
to the conmpany.

It wasn't long after that, first sergeant called me in
and he said, "Reed we got a reguest for one noncom £for

Cadre Duty. We are going to form another parachute
regiment. Looking around I think you are the most
gqualified of the men I want to spare." He is unlcading
me, So, he s=aid, "I'm turning your name in." He
didn't ask me if T wanted to or not. He said, "You're
my man." I said, "Okay, when do I go." He said,

"Hell, I don't know. You'll know when it is time to
g.o.n

So, EKEass and I had made arrangements that we would get
married on somewhere around July 8, my sister's birth-
day. At that time the Army in July 1942, for some
unknown reason, they never did it before, they held up
the pay day. They held it up for several weeks. They
made some kind cof change. Nobkody got paid for several
weeks. Here Kass was coming down on the train, we were
going to get married. I had a three day pass arranged.
We were going to get married and she was going back
home, because that is the way they wanted it. She is
coming down on the train already and I had to make two
Jumps in two days.

Sco, what they did as soon as war was declared ..
They used to have what they called drop dummies. They
were like the real heavy Marine Hawsers that they had
on these big ships that they tied at a dock. They had
like human bodies made out of them. In other words
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they had a loop going for a head and they bhad two loops
for the arms and two loops for the legs. The body was
rope. They used to use them in peace time to test
eguipment and all. Soon as war was declared they
started using the company noncoms. Like if we were
going to fly over a field and they were afraid it was
to dangercus to jump eighteen men in this strip of it.
They would put noncoms in and one would jump and then
the other guy would count to fifteen seconds and then
he would jump. They would see where he landed. It was
safe to come back the next day and jump all the troops.
I had a couple of those. One was right in the Chatta-
hoochee River.

Well anyway, the day Kass was supposed to get 1in at
2:00 in afternoon I had made the first jump. I came in
and as I walked up the company street, the first ser-
geant said, "Reed come here. Your transfer came in."
I gaid, "shit I can't take a transfer, I got a three
day pass." He said, "Don't tell me yvour problem. Your
transfer came in and there is going to be a truck here
for you in a half hour. You be down there with you

gear and be on it." I said, "Gee thanks." He said, "I
can't do nothing about it. You knew this was happen-
ing." So, by golly I get transferred over to the other
area.

Anyway I had to go over. They transferred us across
the river, Chattahoochee River. Benning was on one
side and this Alabama area, they called it, was on the
octher. I went over there, and here all thess guys
that were assigned to this company of cadre, are all
together. Nobody knows what is going on. Milling
around like a bunch of nanny goats. 2:00 c¢omes and
goesg, I figured she was at the train station crying or
something. So about 5:00 these guys start to get
excited, that were married. No officers, no nothing
around. One guy said, "To hell with this I'm geing to
town. I'll leave a phone number. If anything breaks
one of you guys call me." YQOkay, ckay" We already had
found out who was going to what companies. They had
these first sergeants that were going as first ser-
geants. They were platoon sergeants. They were Joing
as first sergeants. Like myself as a squad leader, I
was going as a platoon sergeant. We had gotten to know
one another, say helle and all this and that. Thig
Muir was married and his wife was in town. He =said,
"What is this problem you got?" I sald, "Well hell, my
girls coming down. We are supposed to get married
today. Her train was supposed to be in at 2:00. Here
it is 5:30 and I don't know what the hell happened." I
had solicited a sleeping room. That is all you could
get 1in those days in Army towns. If vou could get a
sleeping room you were lucky. You know, you paid so
much a week. She was only going to be there three
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days, so I paid the lady for three nights on this one
bedrooeom. I wait, and I wait and he says, "I'1ll tell
you what kid. Sc and so has got my phone number. You
give me the address where yvou got the room and let me
know which room it is. I'll get you a ride to town.
If anything breaks and I get a phone call, I'll come by
and pick you up." I said., "You will?" "¥Yes, no sweat.
We are going to soldier together, we might as well take
care of one another.”

So, son of a gun I went to town with them. They 1left
me off at the train station. I go in there, no wife.
I checked . . . Trains in the wartime were terrible;
eight, ten houre late. I check at the ticket ocffice.
Here that train hit a car at a grade crossing on the
way down and it was running way late, about eight or
nine hours. So, she still wasn't in. I walted for her
and she came in. It was late at night. I mean we
couldn't go get married or anvthing else. The guy told
me he would be by at 5:00 in the morning for me 1if
nothing broke. We went . . . I don't remember if we
got something to eat then or not. The town was . open
all night, some parts of it. I took her to this place
to sleep. People think a lot different then than they
do today about sex and all. I told her, I said, "I
wouldn't want to sleep with you." I had to Jjump the
next day too because we were going out to finish off
this test we d4id. 2all the troops were going to Jjump
the next day. No, before that, when she came in I had
te jump. So anyway., she was in the room. I took her
to the room. I kept all my clothes on and slept on top
of the blankets, just so I wouldn't be tempted. She
went to bed. Then I left at 5:00 in the morning. She
said, "What do I do?" I said, "I don't know what to
tell vou. Maybe yvou better get a train and go back
home., It ain't that I don't want toe marry you or
anything else."”

They had a judge down there in Phenix <City, Alabama.
Which was about the most notorious town in the United
States in World War II. It was nothing to have GI
bodies floating down the river and stuff 1like that.
Believe me this is true. They had all kinds of corrup-
tion in the town; mayors, police, sheriff, everything.
I said, "Somehow or other I will get a message to yvou."
Whether the lady had a phone in the house or not I
don't remember. I said, "Somehow or other I will get
some kind of a message to vou. You eat and if you want
to stay in the room or if you want to walk around

town." Of course, a young, good looking girl in that
town there was thousands of soldiers. They were all
trying to make it. So, I went back to camp. Same

thing, we sat around all day and nothing happened, 5:30
the hell with this, we will go.
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So, FKass and I . . . Walt Bowyer was from town. She
came back down with him. He was in the 29th infantry
there and a friend of his, they came back down with
Kass. Those two are our witnesses. We went over to
Phenix City, Alabama at 10:30 at night. Marrying Judge
Gillott married us. We went to a place Googoo's Diner
down there. It was a chicken house. We went there and
had a dinner and we gave each one of these guys some-
thing. It was her idea whatever we got them. We gave
it to them and then they left and we went down to the
room. It so happened that I had better than a three
day pass. I had seven, or eight, or nine days there.
Same thing every day. in and out. No time off in the
daytime with her but from 5:00 at night till 5:00 the
next morning I could be with her. It happened about
seven or eight days before we got orders, then she went
back. I think I was even able to put her on a train, I
don't remember now.

Then we got into some serious training. We went to
this place. It was called Toccoa, Georgla. They had a
pPlace out there called Camp Toombs. That is a hell of
a name for a paratroop outfit to have. A lot of us are
going to have tombstones sooner or later any how. Hell
0of a name. So, they changed it to Camp Toccoa and we
built that camp from muddy roads up. I caught another
good detail then.

As platoon sergeant the first battalion, which filled
up people first, As platoon sergeant in ¢ company I
was given a special detail with a platoon sergeant B
company and a platoon sergeant A company. They are
both dead. The one guy got killed in combat and the
other guy died later; Red Robinson or other and Van
Utterwork. Van Utterwork knew Kass too. There was no
troops other than people starting to help build the
camp around, no training or nothing yet. Wwe didn't
have the people in. It was our job, we had twenty—-four
hour duty, seven days a week. Each one of us would
take eight hours. We had to meet every train and bus
that c¢ame in. There were no airplanes in those days.
Every train and bus come in we would get these re-
cruits. They would have orders with them and we would
pick them up,. throw them on the truck, and take them
down to regimental headguarters, and unload them.
Each guy worked eight hours and we were responsible.
Then, if we wanted a day off, each guy would work
twelve hours. Two guys would work twelve hours and the
other guy would take a dayv off. We did that for about
four or five weeks. What happened we used to bring
them up to regiment at first and then they form what
they c¢all a W company, which is a bastard company. We
tock all these people to it and turned them over.

After about five weeks this Peteo out and I went back
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to my company and we started some training there.
Geez, I got involved in training; teaching them bazoo-
kas. I hated that bazooka. When I fired it I couldn't
help but get burned by the particles from the propel-
lant. They would come back in my face all the time.
Some guyvse could fire them and never burn. They would
burn the hell out of me. You would have 1little burn
marks in yvour face. I could train them up to shoot and
then T would try to get somebody else . . . Nobody, T
would have to shoot. That was one of the worst weapons
we had. That was really a killer. Those bazooka teams
caught hell because nine times out of ten we used the
bazooka on a tank. The tanks were like infantrymen,
one would cover the other. One tank come under £ire
and that bazooka, there was no concealing it. You had

a flash Dback twelve, fifteen, twenty feet. Nobody
could stand behind, you had to get to the side. When
vou shot that the propellant would Jjust ignite. Like

vou see these rockets going up and all, same cell. You
had to give vour position away and those tanks covered
one ancther just like we did infantry. One guy covered
the other.

So, I taught tommy gun and everything else. I stayed
platoon sergeant. I had a crack platoon. I had a 1lot
of compliments. My battalion commander wanted me to go
to OCS and I said, "I don't have the educational back-

ground." He said, "You got the IQ," and I did. I have
a pretty decent IQ. So, I said, "Well, Colonel could
you . . ." He wasz lieutenant colomnel, you call a
lieutenant colonel, "Colonel." This guy was a West
Pointer. He was a little guy, skinny, but he was all
man. From the sole of his shoes to the top of his head
he was all man. If yvou were going on a twenty-five

mile force march he wasn't riding up and down a colunn
in a jeep. He was up front with his pack on setting
the pace. That iz the kind of guy he was. We all had
a lot of respect for Billy. Strict disciplinarian, oh
my God he was tough. You couldn't pull anything on
him. Although we did.

Anyway, we started training the troops and I had a
pretty crack troop. We would always end up in high
one, twe, or three in competitions in a regiment for
shooting mortars or machine guns, or rifle fire. I
lost my ass on one of my guys. He was a crackshot from
West Virginia. We just went down and saw him, George
Rollyson. We told yvou about it last summer. He is
supposed to be dying from cancer. Now they can't find
any cancer in him. They did some kind of exploratory
thing with . . . They didn't operate they used some
kind of other thing in him; probes or something. He
was a crackshot but dammit there was a sergeant from B
Company that was a crackshot too. I bet three or four
cases of beer, 820. I didn't have that kind of money.
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Ole' Rolly choked. He choked. We were laughing about
it the other day. He choked and King beat him out by a
couple of points. I had a good rapport with my guys
tco. We used to play football and everything else
together. One of the other platoon sergeants he was
gross. He just wasn't there. Well, what happened was,
of the cadre of one first sergeant, three platoon
sergeants, I was the only one ending up going into
combat with them. All the others went by the wayside
and I was the first sergeant.

Anvhow, Ceolonel Turner wanted me to ge te 0OCS. I said,

"You guarantee I'll get back with the regiment.” He
gsaid, "I c¢an't guarantee you that." I said, "Well, I
ain't going." He liked my drawings, I had our plans

and all . . . We had sketches of our gun positions.
When we got in a position we had to sketch it out and

send i1t on. Well, he liked mine for =some reason.
"You do this?" I said, "Yes." "Where did you learn
it?" I said, "Well, I have been in the Army for four
vears now." One thing led to another and he used to

get me to make overlays, big ones. In addition to my
regular duties, he didn't take me out for no special
duty or nothing. So, we went on like that and we
trained well and it was getting near combat time and we
would go to town. These guys would go to town and they
would get rolled royally. They would get rolled right
and left. We were allowed to send seven percent of the
command to town on pass every weekend. This guy he
always wanted me to be his platoon sergeant because I
didn't like him at first; Lieutenant Raudstein, you met
Raud-stein. Anyway Raudstein said, "Let them all go
Joe." I said, "What the hell if they call for detail?"
"Then you go get them." So, we used to let all the
guys go. Every time we let them go, two or three guys
come back . . . Got a mickey fin and got rolled. They
get invelved with women and women lead them to a place
and stick something in their drink. A couple guys come
in and take all their money and everything else. So, I
would give them hell. I didn't go on pass until about
a month. We were confined for two weeks. We couldn't
go anywhere. We were restricted, we had to get orien-
tation, how to work with the native and all that kind
of stuff; the Englishmen, you know. The officers were
allowed out. That is how Muir got 1in trouble, Ted
Muir, the first sergeant. He was a ladies man and no
way was he going to let any officers get any jumps on
him. He was going to be right there. 8o, he walked
into Colonel Turner two nights in a row. Colonel
Turner ordered him back the first night. The second
night he busted him.

At that point and time we lost a lot of guys through
injuries and stuff like that. Raudstein was company
commander and he called me in. He said, "Joe, I want
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vou to be first sergeant." I said, "No, sir. I
trained the second platoon from scratch and I am going
in combat with them." He said, "Well, let's sit down
and talk." There wasn't another guy in the company
with previous military service. The guys we had in the
company up to Muir had all washed out. The only four
of us were the leading noncoms and three of them washed
out. I was the only one left. He said, "What would
vyou have me de? Make one of these people first ser-
geant and you be here. TI'll tell you what, you take it
as a test. If vou come to me in a couple of months and
vou don't like it, you can have your platoon back." I
said, "Okay, but how about letting me name the platoon
sergeant." "No problem, who do you want?" "Dominic
Peternel, ‘Big' Pete." "Peterel, and who do you want
to make sguad leader in his place." I named him.
"Yes, that is good. Okay."

I had my way and they treated me like a king. I had no
problems with them. Billy Pyne was executive officer,
I think, at the time. No, Beatty was executive offi-
cer. He and I didn't get along but that i=z alright
too,. This K.A. Beatty was a southern guy and he was
company executive. A company commander, whenever he
was on hand, he gave me ordersg what he wanted done.
When he left he gave me orders what he wanted done.
This K.A. Beatty was exXecutive and he wanted to take
over that company in the worst way. I was a hard head
and strictly GI. He came in and said, "Sergeant we are
going to do this today." I s=aid, "No sir."™ "What do
you mean?" "Because company commander left these
ingtructions. This 18 what we are going to do." I
said, "Sir, I am only following orders. There ain't
much T can do about it. Now if you don't want to go
contrary to these orders we will do it but I got to
report it." So, one day he was three sheets to the
wind and he said, "“You know Reed, you son of a bitch, I
hope someday before this war is over you are an officer

or I am an enlisted man. I would like to tie into
you." I used to do some tangling. I was always lucky
too.

So, I took the first sergeant's job and then we were
getting closer and closer to combat. We were making
night problem jumps. A night jump . . . There is not
to much to a night jump. You jump out, after a 1little
bit your eyes get oriented. You can see good until you
get below the horizon and then everything gets black.
It is like somebody pulled the shades down on you. You
can't see nothing, you prepare to crash in. Before
that we got inte equipment jumps. Nobody had ever
jumped with equipment on. Nobody had ever jumped the
riggers chute before. Then in this 502 one Sunday
morning . . . They were working six days a week during
the war. They wanted volunteers to Jjump riggers
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chutes.

No way, noboedy would sign it. 'The notice went up on
the board a 1little later in the day. "“All men who
didn't volunteer to jump a riggers chute will report in
front of the orderly room at 6:00 a.m. Sunday morning

to march to the packer sheds to pack chutes. Well,
Sunday wag the only day for getting off. We looked
around, "Hey will you jump a riggers chute if T jump a
riggers chute.”" "Hell yves! You jump a riggers chute,
I'll jump a riggers chute." So, we all signed up fto
Jump riggers chutes. That was the only time they ever
asked us. From then on we never packed our chutes
again, we Jjumped riggers chutes. You know the guys
that were professional parachute packers. They were

GI's and all but that was their job; parachute mainte-
nance, parachute packing.

So, we started jumping rigger chutes. Same with egquip-
ment chutes. We used to jump, everything would come
down in a bundle from under the aircraft. There would
be six bundles under there and they would salvoe them.

When you jumped they would salve them with you. They
come down above them; like yvou had a blue chute, vyou
had a red chute, and vyou had a vellow chute. BEach

meant different things. Like the red, nine times out
of ten, was ammunition or machine guns. We didn't jump
with them on us. We didn't even jump with rifles on us

initially. Then we started making equipment Jumps.
First they put a canteen and a belt on you and a hel-
met. You would jump with that. Then the next time

you would Jjump with a canteen, bell helmet, and a
rifle. Some pf the times these things get ripped right
off yvour body. <Chutes open and they don't open with no
cushion. They open up with an explosion and they would
rip the damn stuff right off your body. Your helmet
would g¢go down there. Of course, 1f you didn't make a
good body position . . . Body position was very impor-
tant in parachute jumping. In cother words you shuffle
up to the door, you got to get your left foot over the
edge of the door, then you push yourself cut the door
like this and you make a left turn at the s=same time.
In other words your back is to the propeller. You tuck

your head down, keep your hands in front of you. Then
your chute theoretically goes peeling over vyour head
and inflates. That inflation is a bang but it is a

welcome bang. You are god damn glad to feel 1t.

So, we started eguipment Jjumping. We really got to
where we really equipment Jjumped. We put everything on
us. We would have as much equipment on us as our body

weight. - You went down there, there was no landing
position or anything else. You went in like a ton of
shit. There was no if, ands, or buts. 'The British had

what they call a boot pack, and we got to be where we
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would lose so many weapons and all by salvoing them
from under the plane. They got this boot pack in and
you have three guvsg in the airplane. The first three
guys that . . . Of course, the commander of the air-
plane, the ranking officer or noncom would be number
one man out of the aircraft. Then he would have an
assistant who was the last man out. Then you had

Number two, three, and four man would each have a boot
pack. This boot pack was like a real heavy <¢loth.
Like a quadruple duty canvas or something like this,
with a 1little a padding. It had a slot underneath

where you c¢ould put your toes in there, 1like in a
stirrup. It had a legging that you put around your
leg. It had a grommets there with a little 1leather

piece come through them, maybe eight or nine going down
there, You had a little piece of steel wire that went
through there. So, what happened was when you Jjumped
and your chute opened, this alsoc had a thirty-foot
extension of rope coiled up that run from that to vyour
belt. These first three men, you had to help them get
out of the plane because it was =so heavy and awkward.
They would jump with the chute and it would be attached
to their leg until after their c¢hute opened. Then
they had to reach down and grab this wire and pull it
cut and same time be holding this thirty foot rope.
They would let the thirty foot rope go hand over hand.
In other words, this bundle of heavy equipment was
hanging thirty feet below them, coming down on their
chute. They would go down faster than everybody else
but as soon as that equipment hit the ground thirty
feet below it would be like a sheock absorber set up.
They would vibrate a couple of times and it would slow
their descent down. They come down a little better,.
Then, the machine gun or mortar would be right in that.
That would be the ¢rew right there with it. 8See, they
would be tied to it. So, then you had the equipment to
move off with. We had things like that.

One night in England we made a night jump and I was
supposed to be in the assembly area. From the direc—
tions of the plane and all . . . We had good intelli-
gence as far as sand tables and orientation. We knew
what was what. In other words if my plane was going
this way, I wanted to go to my right rear. I would hit

the assembly point, or approximately. We alsoc had
compasgses. We would know before hand what to expect as
inexperienced as we were. So, our plane would be

flying from south to north or northeast to northwest
and we would know which way we got to turn after we
hit, and watch the aircraft. I was never in the air
long there because we always seemed to be in the first
echelon. You had planes going over your head all the

time, so when you hit the ground you got oriented and
tock off.
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So, this one night in England I am going across this
plowed field; as you are walking you are going across.
I hear a guy meaning. I walk over, he is there, and I
couldn't see him real well. I said, "What is a
matter?" He said, "Oh, I'm hurting." I start feeling,
I could feel nothing but blcood on the bottom of him. I
thought, "I had better declare myself." This was in
training in England. I go, "I better turn nmyself in

nontactical and give this guy first aid." He could
have laid out there all night and bleed to death. S0,
I flick a flashlight . . . I was a first sergeant, I

was egquipped with a flashlight. I took my £flashlight
and I waved it in the air. I got down and I took mnmy
flashlight . . . Hell, Christ, he had a compound frac-
ture. His leg was all shattered. We had been taught
first aid. I took his rifle and wrapped it around so
he couldn't move it, and all that kind of stuff. Oonce
in awhile I waved the thing. "Anyvthing else hurt?"
"Oh my head hurts; my back hurts,” and this and that.
So, the guys name was Detrick. Naturally with all
thiz . . . I'm full of his blood.

I get into the assembly area, I was late. The old man
was mad as hell at me. He said, "What in the hell are

you doing getting in here zo late?”" I said, "Hey, I
was afraid this guy would die and I stopped to gave him
first aid." Well, he backed off. It was still not
combat. I am calling myself "Doctor Joe" because I
gave this guy aid. So, we are out for a three day
problem. We had made a night jump and we stayed out

for a three day problem, which is not unusual. We went
out one time for one day and stayed out three weeks.
We didn't have clothing or anyvthing. We all had blis-

ters. Anvyway, We get back into the Barracks, I start
going through papers. There is a regimental bulletin
everyday. I go through it and there is a, "Anybody

having a claim against the state of so-and-so Detrick
in H company, get a hold of the regimental adjutant."
This is the guy I gave first aid. Christ he had a
fractured skull, his back was broken and everything
else. What happened was John, sometimes a guy will
cross under you. It creates a vacuum. You start free
falling again. If it is to c¢lese the ground a guy will
fall maybe a hundred feet intc the ground. This is
critical, it is bad. So, what you try to do is stay
away from somebody. Of course, we have had emergencies
where a guy has caught the other guy whose chute didn't
open.

I got a friend up in Boston. He is blind today from
the war. They were training in England. He was out
floating down. Some guy come down, his chute didn't
open properly. Which happens most of the time. It is
not that they don't open. They don't open properly.
This guy is coming down like a bat out of hell and he
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hits Francis's canopy and comes down through. Francis
reaches out and grabs hig risers and the suspension
lines. Then when the guy has got up to his canopy
skirt, Francis's fingers were burned and all and he
hooked onto the skirt. This was pretty high in the
air; 800 feet or so. He holds the guy until he had no
control over his hands. When he got near the ground
the guy slipped out of his hands but the guy broke both
his legs. He would have got killed otherwise. So,
Francis got the soldier's medal for that. ‘

' These freak things did happen. Oh, I don't know, we

had all kinds of things happen. Down in combat, when
we jumped in combat, we Jjumped damn low; 300, 400 feet.
A lot of guys left their reserve chute right in the

plane because there was no chance of using it. So,
your main chute didn't open and it wasn't geoing to be.
Then it got toe be where we were golng to combat. We

went down to some place on the coast down there.
By train?

John, vyour asking me something I can't give you an
intelligent answer right now. I don't remember if it
was by train or by truck. We went down on the south
shore of England, troops galore. It is a wonder the
island didn't sink.

You left your . .
Base camp, ves.
And debarked from where in the United States?

Oh, when we went over there? We were from Camp Shanks,
New York.

What kind of boat did you go over on?

We went on his majesty's ship Samaria; a British ship.
It was very similar to U.S. Army Transport Saint Ma-
heal. We went into Blackpool, England from there.

Did you go across in a big convoy?

Yes we did, because we were in a slow ship. The big
ones like Queen Mary, they went on their own, because
they had the speed. We had a rotation deal. Eight
hours down below and eight hours up, or something
similar to that. Boy, I knew I got sgsea sick. I
couldn't get in that companion way. I talked my whole
platoon into staying on deck. We staved on deck all
the way. Then, we didn't figure on those North Sea
gales. We got soaking wet several times. Damn ocean
come across, not under. We got socaking wet, it would
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be c¢old, the wind would be blowing. We went over in
September.

We got in Blackpool, England and then they based us.
We were down by Ramsbury and Hungerforxrd down there. We
did a lot of training. a lot of jumping. My friend Big

Pete was killed a couple days into Normandy. Anyway,
he always wanted to be a jump master and he never was.
He used to get airsick. So, I had been Jump
master . . . Well yvears ago, when I first got into
paratroop, when vou ¢go to be a noncom you gqualified as
a jump master right away. You Jjumped the troops. So.,

he always wanted to be jump master and we knew he got
alrgsick. I said, "Okay," and then I got to talk to the
company commander Raudstein. "No way Joe, no way, not
him.," I said, "Look Captain, I'm going to have two
good men right along side him. Moe Morrison and ERoy
Speak good men, both of them." They both got killed
going inteo Normandy. Plane got blown up. Anyway I
said, "They are going to take care of things. If Pete
gets where he can't handle it they will throw him out

and follow him." So, I convinced him he should give
him a try. I got Pete down and I went over and over
it. T said, "Now look, when the green light comes on
and you see that hard surface rcad, you go." You see
these movies now and again the guy will tap the guy and
say . . . It is supposed to be a combat jump. He will
tell each individual to go, go, go. There is no such

thing. They blow cut ¢f there like an explosion. They
are belly to back. One guy goes and evervbedy Just
burps out of there. You get out of there in seconds.
There 1is no if, ands, or buts. If vou don't you are
not together, and vou spread out to far. You are not
effective. That 1is why they get away from that in
parachuting.

Anyway, we go on this three day problem. The pattern
of aircrafts, they were going right over our barracks,
where we stayed. We stayed in the stables down there
at some Sir Francis Burnett's Manor house. We lived in
the stables, the troops. They had four GI's in one
horse sgtall. They built two by four bunks on the sgide.
I had company headquarters . . . We were up in the tack
room where the harness was kept. Of course the harness
was all gone and so were the horses. We Jjust took over
the stable.

Anyway, we go on this problem and we get in the assem-
bly area and everything else. Pete's whole stick of
eighteen guys don't show up. "Damn!" The man is
looking daggers at me. He said, "What is your excuse?"
I said, "They'll show up, don't worry about it. I got
confidence in him." We had the three day problem, they
never did show up. So, we are getting back. They take
us back to the barracks on trucks. This problem wasn't

38



to far £from our barracks; a matter of five, eight
miles. They take us back to the barn. I walked into
the area. Here is all these guys leaning around with
sick looking looks on their face. The old man looks at

me, "Get an explanation." So, I go in and I get a hold
of Pete and I get a hold of these two guys. I said,
"Come on, we got to talk." We go over and sit down and
they got shit eating grins on their face. They saild,
"Joe, vyou won't believe it." I said, "Sure I will,
tell me." "Well, when the red light come on we stood

up and hooked up. &All the sudden Pete hollered go."
The green light wasn't even on yet, that is the Jump
altitude. The plane is at full power. Pete hollers
"go,'" and they went out the god damn door. Here the
road he looked at, he looked at a rocad down there,
didn't wait for the green light to come on. When the
green light come on he would have hit the right road.
He hit a road five, eight miles away. He Jumped out
before the green light ever come on. So, those guys
went out at full power. That straightens you out when
you go out like that. You know in jump altitude they
generally lower the plane to about ninety miles an
hour. They went out about 140, 150 miles an hour at
least. He hollers go, and they all went after him.
Hell, some of them landed right in the god darn place
where we were living. This road was right outside of
where we were 1living. So, Pete never got to Jjump
master again after that. Boy, I'll tell vou! "Hey
Joe, I didn't mean it."

Then we started getting replacement officers and stuff
like this in. We got full company strength. Hell, I
didn't know some of the guys names when we went into
combat with them. They were on the roster, but to know
them I wouldn't. Because they came in maybe a week a

g0 ahead. You didn't get a chance to know them. So,
then vou have heard of this cricket deal they issued
out. Okay. Before the jump I made out all the load

manifests and laid them out. Raudstein left that up to
me. They got this box of crickets and it was my job to
igssue them out. Well, I issued them out and I was one
short, but I didn't get excited about it. I was one
short so I didn't have any. Last minute Raudstein
turns around, he says. "How yvou got these guys Joe?" I
showed him and here I had myself in as assistant Jjump
master to the company executive. He didn't want us
together. We were company headqguarters; him, the
executive, and me were like the power of the company.
I was a top enlisted man, he was a top officer, and the
other guy was second officer. He didn't want any of us
in the same plane because if anything happened. So,
son of a gun, don't you know? He comes over at the
last dann minute and he had twenty copies and we had
ten carbons. We had to take those ten carbons and give
them away when we got done. I made them all up. He
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came over at the last minute. He saw me and K.B.
meeting at the plane. He said, "I want you tc get out
of that aircraft. You get in with somebody else.
Switeh." So, I'm calling him a SB and everything else,.
I had to do everything longhand and there wasn't much
time left. I'm doing everything longhand. I get a guy
on the airplane and I went in with Bill Kennedy, who
was my original platoon. Either way I would have been
with half of my original platoon.

So, I went in with Bill Kennedy and we had an egquipment
bundle on the cart . . . We had a cart that wouldn't go
through the airplane door. You had to tilt it on the
gide of its wheel, flip it out with & shaft. Make it
flip out to get out the door. I don't know what was
latched on it, mortar ammunition or what the hell was
on 1it. I don't know. I got there late. So, we took
off for Normandy. You know John, getting 900 airplanes
up in the air in formation takes guite a while. We
must have flown around for two and a half, three hours.
We headed for the coast of Normandy. Well, it was a
moonlit night and my position was that I was the as-
sistant Jjump master in the plane. First sergeant and
lieutenant was the jump master. He was first to go
out. My Jjob was to be last to go out. We had no
lights, we weren't flying by lights. The night before
the invasion, or the day, they must have had millions
of crews. They painted the aircraft wings black and
white, which yvou have seen. That didn't happen until
just about one or twe days before the invasion. Noth-
ing was flying around with that on. This was an iden-
tification code that was top secref probably until that

time. So, we had them on the airplane. Bill FKennedy
and T are in there. No lights, they didn't £fly by
lights. I don't remember seeing any guide lights or

anything else. You c¢ould see the aircraft. All we had
inside was a very low Red Glow light. You could see a
guy's silhouette but you couldn't identify anything
about him. You knew a guy was there, that i1is all.
Having eighteen guys in a c¢rew, in a plane, fully
equipped. Pete was practically sitting on a pilot's
lap. He was number seventeen, I was number eighteen.
My Jjob was up at the door helping the plane commander
get everything out and get the guys going. If anything
happened I was supposed to take care of it before I
Jjumped.

So, as we went over the Guernsery and Jergey
Islands . . . That was a checkpoint for us. They must
have turned there. I'll tell you, all hell broke

loose. There was so much anti aircraft fire up there.
Some guys say it was sparse but man, I'll tell you, you
felt 1like vou could get out and walk on it. It was
like 1little green hornets; small fifty c¢aliper or
twenty millimeters or whatever. It wasn't a big explo-

40



sion type thing. It was more . . . Honest to God it
was so much coming up it wasn't even funny. It started
out from maybe five miles from Guernsey and Jersey
Islands. Then we took our turn going up there. This
Air Force was supposed to stay in formation during the
thing. They weren't supposed to use evasive action.
Well John, they used evasive action. They knocked us
to our knees. We were stood up and hooked up as we go
into coast. We had the red light on. All we had to do
then was wait for maybe ten, twelve minutes until we
get the green light to jump. We knew from the sand
table, Pete and I, we were flying right toward the town
Saint Marie Du Mont--is the town we were going to
attack--we were flying right toward it. We knew if
anything delayed us we would either land right on the
town or right behind it. We wouldn't land where we
were supposed to about two miles in front of it.

So, these Air Forc¢e guys, they started evasive action.

It knocked us to our knees. This cart we had .
Bill and I had balanced. It would have been easy to
flip it out. We lost control of the cart. It went

down on its wheels. We had to get these three equip-
ment guys, bundles standing there. We had to get their
help to get it out. So, we were delayed. The green
light was on and we were having trouble. It seems like
that forever. We finally get it up and throw it out.
Bill goes, then the packers go and guys start coming.
I'm hollering, "Pete, Pete, Pete!" "I'm coming Joe."
So, finally he jumps and Pete was a big guy to begin
with; all bone and muscle, about a 190 pounds, and

about 6'1l". He was about as big as they let them get
in the paratroops. Pete was the kind of guy that
anvything anybody else couldn't carry, he would hang on
him. So, he had an extra base plate hung on him. I

don't know what happened. When he got up to the door
he lost his footing and he got caught in the jam of the
door, He lost his footing and he slid down the door
and he was sitting in the docor with his feet hanging
out in the air. I pulled him to get him off of there.

I just reared back, "You son of a bitch, let's go." I
threw a shoulder in him and his chute popped in my
face. We knew it if we got a delay we had problems.

John, when my parachute opened I was right over the
church steeple in this town.

The right town?

The right town, but the wrong place to be. They built
their towns arcund the churches in a little sguare in
the center. They built them around, you know. Son of
a gun I'm right over this town. I didn't know it was
that town at the time but there I am right over the
church steeple and I assumed as much. So, I tried to
get down. I got down. In those days we didn't have
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what later came about, a guick release. It was a
British thing. They had a dog dial on your thing. You
make a quarter turn and you hit it and all wyour gear
popped oIff of your parachute. Your parachute was on
you so tight that I couldn't even get the d-rings and
snap fasteners off. I had a southern fellow that
sharpened my knife. We had a trench knife. We always
strapped them to our ankles. I reached down and got it
and I c¢ut myself out. I also cut all my gear off
except for a bandoleer of ammunition and my carbine
that I had at the time. Christ, the krauts were run-
hing up and down shooting everything; making noise, or
shooting, giving orders. I am right in that town.

You landed on a street then?

No, a little field there. A little field right

The cobblestone street was maybe thirty feet from ne.
These krauts are running up and down, giving orders and
all. So, I am in this little field and I see a guy
with a butch haircut running and jumping. I didn't
have a cricket and I heard some crickets. The idea was
if you snapped a cricket once and vou didn't get two
clicks right back, you shot them. 8o, this guy came

over without a helmet on and I saw him jump . . . To
this day I think it was Big Pete. I hellered, "Hey
Yank, wait for me." Boy he just took off the other
way. I thought, "What am I going to do now?" I had no
fire power . . . I had an old carbine. I had no fire

power to fight these guys. 8o, I thought, "Well, 1I'll
just work my way out and mavbe I can meet somebody.”
That is what I did. I went through the weeds and out
and T didn't get on the road. I didn't hit anybody.
They had their strong points on the road. I didn't hit
anybody but I hit a Lieutenant Santasario. You met
him, Sandy Santasario.

Well, Sandy used to be in our company. He got washed
out because he tried to get realistic. He had a couple
of deals for regiment. He invited me to go along.
There were supposed to be six or seven of us. He and I
went, most the time it was just he and I for a few
days. You weren't allowed to go anywhere because they
were so screwed up. 82nd, was with us, our guys were
with the 82nd; they covered a whole peninsula with us.
Maybe it worked out better because the German high
command was afraid teo commit their reserve. They
thought it was faint, because paratroopers were all
over the god damn place. We shot up and cut up every-
thing we found; any communications, any men, we just
shoot them up. There was mnever anything mentiocned
about taking prisoner of war. Plus the fact that some
of the Germans pulled atrocities on our guys.

Right then?
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Right then and there and we saw it. Now, they mnight
have Dbeen trying to intimidate us but it didn't work
that way. It made us mad. We were better at it than
they were. That is all T can tell you. We were better
at it than they were. I wondered about myself. What
am I going to do when I kill my first man or when I see
my £first man? Am I going to get sick? It was an
intoxicating feeling. I was elated that I did what I
had to do. It was just one of those things.

We had a couple three days of clearing out that area.
Then we got into combat. That Billy Turner I told vyou
about, our battalion commander. He was a former mecha-
nized cavalry officer. He had a tank come up from the
troope that landed. He wanted a tank to go din and
knock out a gun position. The tank commander wouldn't
do it so he order the guy out and he got in. The only
thing he didn't do was he didn’'t button up. The Ger-
man's had a hell of a lot of snippers on line. They
got him right between the eyes.

Something that might not even be avallable 1in later
vears that people don't know. The German snipers used
wooden bullets. The powder chamber was the same but
the projectile was a wooden bullet. The reason for
that was they wouldn't carry to far. So, when they
shoot our guys in the back if they missed it wouldn't
go back into their lines. It didn't go as far, didn't
have the velocity. Al Hassenzahl got hit with a wooden
sniper bullet. He was in terrible shape. We thought
he was dead. They tore him all up. As a matter of
fact after the war he had to go to the hospital. These
bullets would splinter and they would fester. That is
what they would do. You would get an infection. He
went up here since we came out with him. He had to go
to the hospital and get cleaned up. He hasn't been
since.

We took Normandy. We had the only organized bayonet
attack, as I understand, in World War II. We took a
causeway out of Carentan, France. Carentan was one of
the first major cities to be taken. Our regiment took
it. Our division took it, I'm sorry, not our regiment.
What happened was we fought up to the causeway and the

Germans . . . There was three bridges. Like the
Mosguito Lake area. They blew the bridges. So, there
was three of them and we had to get ac¢ross 1it. We
couldn't get across in daylight. They organized a

bayonet attack at night. Everybedy with fixed bayvonets
and grenadesg, you weren't allowed to fire a weapon.

What was the purpose of that?

Not shooting one another and detection; your location.
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Those Germans were good with their artillery, they were
real good with their artillery. So, we got across the
causeway and then my battalion was supposed to infil-

trate to the right and go up through them. This 1is
night time. Go up through them; no shooting, Just
bavonets and grenades. That is all we went up with,

Over there it was double British summertime. It didn't
get dark until asbout 11:00 and started getting daylight

about 4:00 in the morning. It was nice as far as
combat was concerned. We went up that thing and the
column stopped. I'm in a hedgerow. I hear this mum-

bling on the other side of the hedgerow. Some guy come
out with suspenders and a undershirt on. He spread the
hedgerows. He said, "What is this?" It was a Xkraut
you know. So, man T beat him up right away. I went to
the back of the head and I hit him twice. I pulled him

through. I put my bayonet on his neck. Just at the
break of davlight deal the old man come down. Is he
dead now. "What have you got Joe?" I said, "A kraut."

He said, "What is wrong with him?" I said, "Oh, I butt
stroked him a couple of times. If he lets out a peep
I'm going to lean on this.™ Boy, he was furious about
something. He unlecaded on the guy. This happened
often Jehn, and I don't criticize anybody. I persoconal-
ly didn't do it, didn't normally do it. I killed guys
but I didn't murder them. This was happening on both

side. These guys that made the laws they were behind
there somewhere. They weren't up there where it was
going on. Plus, you come to see an atrocity on one of

vour buddies that you trained with for two yvears. Man,
vyou saw red, white, and blue. No bs, the next couple
of krauts you saw were in trouble.

Was it the 85 deing that or was it just vour guvs?

Some of them were regular troops. They were c¢ombat
hardened though, we weren't. We were green at that
time. We got hardened real fast. You had tc or you
couldn't handle it. You remembered the humorous sides
of the waxr, not the bad sides. I mean you still get
vigions to this day. People say, "Well that was forty
years ago." To me it was yesterday. Everyone of the
other guys are the same way. It was yesterday. There
is no such thing as forty years ago. It is still vivid
in your mind. You can't get rid of it. You can see
the guys, you can see their bodies.

I had a guy . . . We had a thing in Carentan, France.
I had a tommy gun at the time. I was a great one
for . . . As soon as I could I would pick up a tommy

gun off a casualty, because I liked that. It gave my
moral a boost. I loved fire power. So, this one time
in Bloody Gulch Carentan. . . It was what we called
Bloody Gulch because our guys were trying to dig holes
down in the gulch and the snipers were getting themnm.
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First thing yvou know they holler, "All tommy gunners up

front." Well, I was acting platoon leader at the time
and I had a tommy gun, but we weren't the assault
outfit. We were in back. I said, "Anybody want a
tommy gun." Hell neo, they weren't going te take my

tommy gun. So, I had to go up. I got up there late so
I had to take the middle of this Gully. These two
guys—-one guy's name was Monrcoe and the other guy was
that Francis Fleming I told you about got the soldier
metal--he had a tommy gun. They went up the two sides
of this ditch and I went right up the middle and we
burped. It was June and there was a lot of foliage.
We burped everything that could conceal a body. We
burped everything. Then when I got to the end I start-
ed through, c¢rawling through the hedgerow. Somebody
grabbed me by the ankle and said, "You dumb son of a
bitch get back here." There I looked down in the face
of one of our headguarter's officers, Iggy Knott.
Sniper got him right in the temple.

He was dead. I just crawled over his body accidentally
because I was trying to get out there. This guy pulled
me back. He sgaid, "Christ, they just killed Iggy. You
want to get killed too?" They pulled me back into the
ditch. So, temporarily we held up in that end of the
ditch. Then they sent us around to flank the counter-
attack., This is something I remember vividly.

I had a guy by the name of John Ward. John Ward wasn't
the top soldier but he was always there. They had a
high express line from Paris to Cherbourg. It was well
kept except for where our Air Force bombed it, you
know. We were above that and it was really well kept
where we were. It had these real big rocks in it and
everything else. This guy Ward he sat in there. They
had a little offset made of stone where they might have
put railroad tires or something in there. There was
nothing in there. This John Ward went in there, right
by a bridge, and he sat down. I said, "Ward, get the
hell out of there. There is all that concrete there,
vou will get a ricochet." "Hey Sarge, I'm so god damn
tired. Let them ricochet." Something to that effect.
No, you wouldn't believe it John, but those damn
shells start coming in there; .88's. They didn't zero
any in.

Well, 3just after I warned John about moving Efrom a
bridge area the krauts opened up with one of the worst
artillery barrages we ever got caught in. They didn't
throw in any zeroing rounds, aiming rounds. They threw
in a concentration of fire. Must have been thirty,
forty shells. They were right on us. They had that
all plotted before they ever withdrew. They must have
had an observer somewhere that saw us. So, these
shells came in on us and all I could deo was throw
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myself down in the middle of the railroad tracks be-—
tween these high speed lines. The shells Jjust rained
in among us. I can remember I was sort of laving on my
side. I don't know whether I said it out loud or to
myself. I could actually see the shells in that last
part of there decent before they hit the ground. I
said to myself, "Please God, no direct hit," or I said
it cutloud. I don't remember which.

They threw that one heavy concentration and then it
ceased. We got up and started moving around, checked
our c¢asualties and things like that. Bill Pyne was
acting c¢ompany commander then. Six of the officers
were c¢asualties and one was a fatality. There were
only two officers left, and consequently I was running
a platoon as a platoon leader. We checked our casual-

ties and all. Ward didn't move over there. So, I
hollered at him. He didn't answer me and I thought,
YUh oh!" I went over and checked him and he was dead.

Here an artillery shell somehow, or a large part of it,
deflected off that wall just like I was afraid of it.
It is one of the training techniques. You know to stay
away from things like that. It had entered his body
and his chest cavity area. It went through him with
such a big mess that you could have put your arm
through John, and never touched any part of his body.
You know, it was such a big hole in him. There was
just a little blood trickling out of him.

The ironic thing was that Bill Pvne, who toock over as
company commander, and myself always made it our busi-
ness that if a guy was killed in an out of the way area
we drug him to an area where the grave registration
people could pick him up without too much trouble.
Where he wouldn't lay him there for days. Bill and I
went over to get him and when we did there was a little
kitten that worked its way up inte his crotch. It was
laying in his crotch, meowing. Bill remembers this
also, we have talked about this a couple of times. So,
we went over there and we grabbed his harness. We
checked, we were taking care of what other c¢asualtles
we had. I don't remember what other fatalities we had
right there. '

You would still wear a harness?

Well, the harness isn't the parachute harness. It is
vour back pack. We had musette bags where, I don't
know 1if you would know what a musette bag is, 1in the
regular line infantry the officers have them. They are
a little bag that has suspenders on it and it little
d-rings here. It snaps into it over your shoulder. It
is 1like a backpack. It is different from the bedroll
thing and all. We had musette bags and it had a sus-
pender type harness.
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Anyway we grabbed him by his harness and his c¢lothing
and we drug him up to the road and left him there. We
did the same thing with Big Pete when he was killed
down by the river. We drug him out and put him on the
road side so the GRO could get him. We went about our
business and then the next thing I remembered there is
the krauts started . . . We had them pushed in Caren-
tan, they had part of the town, we had the other. They
., sent somebody up to relieve us on that flank, and we
went into the part of clearing out the town, and get-

ting the krauts out. I got out in . . . My platoon got
up on the side of the town, up to a little town, little
area, like suburban area, called L.A. Bullionaire. It

was on the hillside, and we worked a couple of machine
guns up there. When the krauts tried to withdraw in
their trucks and all, we had fire on them. We had a
heck of a fire fight there. The krauts that couldn't
get out, went a different way. But we blocked that road
with fire power. Then we worked our way down to the
road in a ditch, and we had a machine gun right on the
ditch, and the krauts worked around. They put
counter-machine guns up the road a piece. We were
having a fire fight there for about half an hour or so,
and I radioed back that I needed a resupply on machine
gun ammunition. There wasn't too many cof us then, we
had pretty heavy fighting, and we were pretty low on

people. They gaid, "Well, we can't get down to you,
but, if you can get some people up to us, we will have
Bull Wynan"-- who was a Lieutenant at headguarters--"he

will bring a jeep up to the back of the buildings in
the L.A. Bullionaire with some machine gun ammunition."
I said, "Okay." 8So I got myself and two other
guys . . . The machine guns were in good shape, the
machine~gunner had them going and all. We had run up
that darn hill to get behind these buildings, to get
this machine gun ammunition, and as we did, the Kkrauts
picked us up with .88's. For some reason or another,
they were a little behind us, on the way up. As a
matter of fact, when we got around the bullding, we
found ourselves laughing, that we had run a foot race
and beat them. Bull Wynan showed up with the ammuni-
ticon, we each took two boxes, and then we started
running down. The same thing happened; the observer,
who ever he was, could see movement and he put artil-
lery on us. So we get down in this little gully and we
were having a fire~fight. I'm laying prone on a thing
trying to pick out targets for the machine gunners, and
first I know, somebody tapped me on the foot. I looked

back, and he said, "What's going on here?" T loocked
back and it was the regimental chaplain, Father Malone.
He was a Catholie priest, a hell of a guy. I said,

"Padre, what are you doing here? Get the hell out of
here." He said, "Well, I want to know what's going on"
I said, "Well, we've got a heck of a battle going on.
Get the hell out of here, you don't belong here.”" So
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then, we get...I don't remember what he did or didn't
do, but he got away from me anyhow. So we kept up the
fire-fight and the Germans were giving us counter-fire,
and all of the sudden., one of ocur battalion headguar-
ters junior officers, come running down that hill, like
crazy, "bon't shoot, don't shoot, Goddamn it, they're
ocur men." We had been fighting them for forty-five
minutes, we knew they were krauts, because we had good
observation on them. 80 he comes running down that
hill. I said, "You better get down Holmes, you're
going to get your head blown off." I hollered at hin.
About that time, they hit him in the wrist with machine
gun fire. "No, Goddamn it, they ain't our men, kill the

gson—-of-a-bitches, kill them, kill them." Well he never
came back to duty, he was crippled by that. He Jjust
died recently. He never came back to duty with us.

From that Normandy thing, you know.

Anvhow, we proceeded with everybody. with a concentrat-
ed attack, we pushed the Germans back. Then we formed
an outpogt line on the cutside of Carentan, and La
Buillionaire there, and we dug in. We were supposed to
have been relieved by an ocutfit coming up from the
beach, a regular line outfit. For some reason or other
they were having difficulties, they weren't getting to
us. So we staved about mavybe a week longer than we
were supposed to. We were an assault outfit. We hit
hard and fast and then somebody else comes 1n and takes
over; supposedly, theoretically. So we held that out-
post line, and we used to take turn on outpost.

The funny thing, the Red Cross would give us rations;
cigarettes, and stuff like that. Of course I didn't
smoke. We would give each guy a pack of
cigarettes——maybe they would send us up five of six
cartons, you know--so0 we would give each guy a pack of
cigarettes. S50 they gave us two plugs of tobacco. I
"don't remember the name of it, but it had a 1little
gsymbel that was pushed into the back and it wasn't
wrapped, the tobacco. Only had one guy in the company
that chewed. 8o I gave him a plug and I took a plug
because I always took my turn on outpost, you know,
with the guys. If I chewed tobac¢c¢o, and swallowed 1it,
I got sick as hell. Plus yvou had to stay awake when
you were on outpost. So every time I was on outpost,
I'd take a big chaw of tobacco, and I start chewing it.
I had to stay alert, because if I swallowed a little
bit, I got sick. It helped keep me alert. During the
night, we would put out some of our own type of hand
grenades; we made them as trip wires and stuff 1like
that you know. We didn't have mines, per se, to dig in
the ground and put up against enemy tank and stuff like
that. We did have little tricks that we worked with
hand grenades. We would straighten the pin up in it,
and wedge it with sticks on the side somewhere, and
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then we'd run a string to it, maybe two or three feet,
and push it in the ground with another stick see. S0
in other words, if a German soldier came through there,
he'd kick this piece of string, and pull the pin out of
the plug. It would detonate within five seconds and we
put them out in front. Well, here is a bunch of cattie
out there. Before you know it, they're walking into
it. They are walking into these trip wires, and they
are getting killed, and they are bawling at night you
know, and it's dark. Fortunately, up there, that's
pretty short night in summertime. It gets dark around
11:00 at night, and it starts getting daylight around
four in the morning in the summer like that. It was a
wonderful thing in combat, you weren't in the dark that
long. So, just late in the evening this one night, a
little calf walked in.

We had, we were issued, nine meals of concentrated k-
rations that each man had to carry. That's three days
rations that he carried on himself; little boxes, that
I don't know how long, they were about eight inches
long, an inch thick, and two or three inches sguare.

They had different concentrated rations, a can of
something. Well it just so happened that I got nine
dinner rations, all the same, no breakfast, supper. It

wasn't rotated. My nine were all dinner, and they had
cheese in them. I hated that damned cheese. So, Jjust
a couple of three days intc Normandy, we come over like
a garage in a farm area, and we opened it. Here, the
Germans had stacks and stacks of Norwegian sardines.
S0, we break open the k-rations, and we take out the

crackers, and the cigarettes, and the chocolate bar,
and then we would take the sardines. I ate sardines
all . . . That is where I got to learn to 1like sar-

dines you know. These are the little things.

Another thing they had in Normandy there, they said
there was no aircraft up. The first enemy soldier I
gaw was a Mongolian, a Russian Mongeolian. He wasn't
armed, but they were . . . The Germans took them, and
used them as support troops; carry their supplies, and
stuff 1ike this. They were working for the Germans
because they had been captured. The Germans converted
them somehow or other, they were working for the Ger-
mang. The first one I saw in daylight, the first day,
was this Mongelian, he had this horse with 1ike &
troika collar on it. You know what those troika collars
are that the Russians had?

Yes,

Well they had them too. And, soc we confiscated about
four, or five of these things, and we threw our gear on
them. Well, we were working up the hedgerows one morn-
ing, and we were working into this field, son of a gun,
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here come eight or nine kraut planes right on the deck.
There was a spotter plane of ocurs up, you know, and
they were right on it. That was what they were after.
They came in and they swope up, and went after the guy,
and this guy, he slipped this plane and all down. We
could all practically see everything like a movie you
know. He slipped it into an apple orchard, and they
went 1in and they shot up the plane in the apple or-
chard, and then they went after him. Now, I can't tell
vou whether they got him or not. They came back over
us, and to this day John, I don't know for sure, but
they had these leather helmets, like you used to see
about World War I, and they had the tassels flying in
the back. They came back on the deck, we stood there
as plain as day, right out in the middle of the field
and saw them, and the guy wagged his wings at us and
waved, and I waved back at him. I thought, boy they
are damned good sports. In the back of my mind I could
never understand why this happened but, you know what,
those trolka's and horses must have threw them off.
They thought we were friendly troops of theirs, you
know. Because we were all inter-scattered there. It
took us about five days to get organized to where we
knew what was what. You never knew when you turned a
corner in a bulilding, there might be tweo krauts stand-
ing there. You always had your gun up and ready, and

yvour finger on the trigger. This actually happened
and to this day I wonder whether the guy was a good
sport, or he just misidentified us. I will never know

but it's something that staved with me.

You don't hear too many stories about the Germans air
planes on D~day?

No. But there were some. They can say what they want,
there were some. We saw them. Anyway, after that, we
stayed on the outpost line. This outfit ate what we
did though, which I felt sorry for, and I've often
thought 1f I have some extra money, I'd send it to the
mayor of Carentan. We raided those peoples gardens.
They were starting truck cartons. Radishes, and let-
tuce and all that kind of stuff, This is June 6, 7, 8,
and 9. It was Jjust started to come up good, and we
were taking it and eating it. We raided about every
truck garden around there.

2 little calf wandered in one evening, just before dark
too. QOur outpost line; right in front of the main line
of resistance. I was on outpost and I was the main
line resistance. So, this calf walked in and I said,
"Hey you guys want any meat?" "Yeah, we'd like some."
I had a .45, and I took it and I put it on the «c¢alf's
head and shot him. He just stood there and looked at
me. I shot him right in the temple. So, I had to shoot
him about five or six times before he would fall over;
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with a .45 caliber pistol. I'd never skinned an animal
before or anything like that vou know. I got a piece
of rope and put him up in a tree, and I start cutting
him up and evervthing. It got dark. So, there I am in
the middle, in the dark with the field method c¢f pull-
ing these hides, cutting some, or this and that; trying
to skin him down. Next morning I was full of calf
blood, and guts, and everything else. We did eat him.
We got him down and we cut him up and they took him
back a distance, and ate him.

Then this outfit came in to relieve us, and they took
us and they stuck us down in the Brittany Peninsula,
between Cherbourg and Carentan there. They stuck us
down there as counter-paratroop invasion troops. We
were all beat up. As a matter of fact, we went into
" Normandy a hundred thirty-six strong, we walked out of
there twenty-three. I was one of the twenty-three that
walked out of there. Our fatalities were terrific. We
had . . . Well half of my original platoon was blown up
in mid-air and everybody was killed. About another six
or seven of them were killed after we got on the
ground, so out of thirty-six guys, yvou know, that makes
about twenty-four, and some other guys were wounded.
Qurs was a deadly business, it wasg kill or be killed.
They didn't make any arrangements for taking prisoners
or anything 1like that in Normandy and all that, you
know. I don't ever remember it being mentioned.

Then we went down to this counter-paratroop deal there.
Over a stream we rigged a barrel, knocked holes in it,
and it made a shower where two or three guys would get
on the ladder, and one guy would get up top. We would
take the water out of the creek and throw it in the
barrel, and a couple guys get under it and take a
shower. We hadn't washed or anything in about thirty-
some dayvs, nothing, and take a little shower.

I had a 1little red beard, and I wanted to get a pic-
ture and send to my wife. &All the sudden, one day, the
company commander called me down and said, "Hey Joe,
you've got to go to regimental headguarters and report
to Colonel Chase." I said, "What for?" He said, "I
don't know but I suggest you take that beard off." I
said, "Oh no Bill." We didn't give formality to rank
and stuff like that you know. I said, "Oh no Bill. I'm
going to keep that on until I get a picture of that to

send to my wife." He said, "Joe, either take it off
willingly, or I'm giving vou a direct order. You shave
before you go to regiment." So, when he gave you a

direct order like that, you did it. I shaved and went
down to regiment, here it had to do with that battle-
field commission. There were two other guyvs, Charlie
Hudson from A Company, and Francis Fleming from Head-
guarters. We were the first three that they commig-
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sioned. I went down to regimental headquarters, and
what they did was they got us on a plane and took us
back to England and they gave us a c¢lothing allowance.
We had to buy officers c¢lothing and all that kind of
stuff. I had an exceptional thing happen to me at that
time. When guys got battlefield commission like that,
they g¢generally got transfered. They always did, as a
matter of fact, get taken out of the battalion and sit

-in another battalion with another company. They let me

stay in my company and hold my platoon.
Ch yes?

Yes. It was unusual.

At your regquest?

No, no, it was their idea. It was nmy company officers
idea. They said they felt that I could handle it and I
did. I had no problems. As a matter of fact, you get
a few of these guys that are borderline cases, where
they are always looking for trouble. They started to
get smart vou know, when they knew I'd bare knuckle
them when I was a sergeant, when I got to be an officer
I couldn't. Once in a while they would throw a slur.

So one of the guys come up to me one day says, "Hey
Joe, T hear that so and so is giving you a bad time.” I
said, "He is pushing his luck. He knows all I can do
now is court-martial him." "Don't worry about it Joe
we'll take care of it." About a week later he come in
all beat up. He was so damned beat up it wasn't even
funny. I never had trouble with him again. I don't

know what happened. They took care of him. 'The guys,
they were good to me.

Anyway, we flew back to England--we had three days--and
they gave us a list of things we had to have. We were
in combat s¢ we figured, well we don't need this, and
we don't need this. We spent that money on having a
good time, yvou know for the three days. So, we bought
what we thought we had to have, and then we had a good
time. This guy from Boston, he knew how to 1live. He
knew about all these spas, and rub-downs, and all that
stuff. And steam rooms, I had never been in one in ny
life. We went to them, and all, and then you stayed
right there, and slept that night. Real nice! Then we
went back. We are all still good friends.

Anyway, we went back, and I went back to C Company. In
the process of scouting the country we found a Germany
defensive position, they were thick concrete and all.
It was an ammunition bunker with railroad tracks into
it and everything else. When we got inside, a lot of
German wounded were on one side, and they had the other
side was all full of all kinds of fancy liqueurs, and
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whiskeys, and champagne, and stuff like that. So, we
turned the wounded over to the other coutfit, but we
took care of the booze. (Laughter) Some how or other we
got back to England. Of course we got pulled out then
and we went back to England to regroup and get replace-
ments and retrain for future operations. What they had
was a booze party when we got back there. These
German-English girls were all drafted just like the men
were. You had some of them in the Air Force, some of
them in the Army and then they had what they call the
land army. These girls had uniforms that had worked on
the farms. So the guys . . . Scomebody got the idea to
take buses out, and we made arrangements to these
places that we'd get a bus load of girls for a party.
We had all this booze, plus we had a medical officer
who used to take lemon extract, and G.I. alcohol. He
made a beautiful drink out of it. How he c¢ut it I
don't know, but he cut it and it was a nice tasty
drink. I had one bus load that I'd get from the Air
Force people. I went and got a bus lcad of girls, and
they had a sergeant in charge, you know, and we picked
them up at their headgquarter, and trucked them into
where we were having a dance and party. Honest to God,
50 many people, girls included, they got so gosh darn.
drunk they c¢ouldn't stand up. So come time to take
them back, I was responsible to see that they got back,
I had about five or six we couldn't find. We never did
find them. So I took them back and here the sergeant in
charge, she was drunk as a skunk. I put her on a bus
and we get back to this place, and this officer came
out that was there when we left. She saw the condition
of these girls, she backed me up against the bus, I

thought she was going to assault me. She gave me all
kinds of hell. I said, "Hey, I didn't pour nothing
into them. They drank what they wanted." They had a

good time, letting off steam deal. We had so many guys
we didn't bring back with us. So, then we go back and
we regroup, and I can't remember...

You went back to England?

Yes, we went back to England and retrained because the
war hadn't been pushed through too far yet. It was
still on the beach, eight, ten miles from the beach was
all it was. We were special troops that they used for
assault purposes, and they took us back. We had sever-
al operations listed after that, and Patten was a good
friend of ours. He would keep over—-running our objec-~
tives. we were supposed to jump in outside of Ver-
sailles, outside of Paris, and we were all ready for
it, and sometimes we were even quarantine ready to go.
We had a couple more John but I can't stand here and
tell you what they were. Anvhow, the next big opera-
tion to come up, we got reequipped, and resupplied with
people and all and we retrained, and the next big
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operation we got was the Holland deal. These Air Force
guys that I told you they used evasive action and all,
they got reamed out unmercifully because they screwed
us up. The critique had come out that they threw us
all over the Brittany Peninsula. So the German high
command was afraid to commit themselves to reinforce
any area. They thought it was a fake because we were
all over the place, instead of concentrated 1like we
should have been. So, when we went into Holland I was
an officer then and a jump master. I steoed in the door
and I was the first guy to go out, and I had an assist-
ant Jjump master. Anyway, when we went into Holland, we
were flying over and all this ack-ack was coming up
and everything else, and you see these krauts on the
road with their rifles aiming at you. We were only
about four hundred feet, the lead echelon, which we
were. Echelons up from there. Each one goes, I don't
know how much footage they figure on, but they're not
too far, you can see the planes behind, you know,
echeloned up. So you look at these guys on the road and
I was thinking, I wonder if I could pull the pin on a
grenade and drop them, and give them a little surprise.
But it didn't materialize. Anyway, we made the jump in
Holland by a little town of Eindhoven.

How long were you back in England retraining, and
refitting and all.

Well, we made the June 6th jump, then we were in combat
thirty-six, thirty-eight days, forty days maybe. Then
we come back and jumped on Holland September 17th.

Okay.

S¢, that took care of that. Anyway, we also lost a
plane in Holland. One of our company planes, see, we
had nine planes toc a company. We had one blown up going
into Normandy, and we had one blown up going into
Holland. The other thing with Holland is, we had five
guys get out. Where in Normandy, nobody got out. Every-
body got killed. These five guys get out, they dropped
right on an anti-aircraft placement that shot them
down, I've seen them since at our get-togethers, and
they come to me and say, "Jce, I couldn't do nothing.”

They were captured?

Yes, they were . . . They said, "Christ, I 1lit into the
ground, start to get out of my sguit and I had five or
six guns shoved in my face. There wasn't a damned thing
we could do, vou know, we had to surrender." They felt
guilty about it. But they were good men. And the one
thing about them in Normandy, half of my platoon was
bPlown up., but they were damned good men, they never got
a chance to fire a shot at the krauts. You know, that
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bothered me. Well anyway, we go into Holland, we had
three objectives there. There was the Wilhemina Canal,
ig in this town of Eindhoven, it was our job to take
this town, run the krauts out. The British were coming
up, vou know, through the road, this Montgomery Bull,
this was the Montgomery Operation incidentally. Eisen-
hower somehow, was, according to what I read, he was
coerced into giving it to Montgomery because of inner-
politics. If we would have known the pelitics going
on during that war while we were fighting it, we would
have been scared to death. Fortunately, we didn't know,
you know. We thought everybody was doing their best
like we were.

What was you objective?

We had three bridges, we were supposed to c¢atch them
intact so the British armor could rush through.

Qkay.

You see and take the town of Eindhoven. Now we Jjumped
north of Eindhoven, we jumped north of these bridges,
on the Wilhemina Canal. Now each company in my battal-
ion had a different objective, my objective was the
right bridge, it was made of wood. Another c¢ompany's
objective was the center bridge, was made of concrete
and steel, and the other bridge on the other side--and
the secondary roads was on the outside—--that was made
of wood. And John, I don't think my chute even opened
before my objective was higher that I was, the krauts
blew it, you know. They saw this Airborne armada coming
in and they just blew the hell out of it. They held
the center bridge, and then our objective was, if your
bridge got blown up. everybody concentrate on the
center bridge, because they didn't want it Dblown.
Hell, about half way down to the ground they blew the
center bridge, and then they withdrew inte Eindhoven.
We had to work our way across that bridge, the broken
part of it, but we had to fight a lot of Germans. I
had one of our officers, who was in our company, and he
got a battalion staff. I could see him from a dis-
tance, he was running around with an orange ¢renade,
which was a recognition grenade, orange smoke was
friendly troops. He was running around with it in his
hand, and he got hit in the head and he lost his eye;
Dixie Howell.

I never Ssaw him again until, oh, four or five years
ago, we finally contacted him and got him to one of our
get-togethers. He had a heart attack there, he had a
very bad heart, and he had a heart attack when I had
talked to him, I was talking to him when he had the
heart attack. He jumped up out of his chair. I said,
"Hi. Dixie." He looked at me, he says, "Who are you? I
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don't know yvou." I said, "Yes, you know me Dixie. I'm

Joe Reed." "Jesus Christ Joe" and he jumped up and he
shook my hand and all and he says, "Joe get me to my
room quick." I said, "What's the matter Dixie?" He
says, "Get me to my reoom quick." I don't know whether

he was on medication or anything. We tock about ten
steps, and he started sliding down on me, I tried to
hold him up. I heollered, we were in a hotel, you know.
I heollered, "Man down., man down." Geeze, the guys come
running like c¢razy, and we got an emergency vehicle for
him, took him to the hospital. He stayed in the hospi-
tal for several weeks. As a matter of fact, the former
company commander, he had terminated him, he was on his
own, he stayved over while this guy was in the hospital.
They took him back to. . . He 1lived in Arlington,
Virginia. We were down someplace in Virginia, I can't
think of the name of it now. One of the other guys
lived there, and he threw the get—-together. Well any-
how, while Dixie was in the hospital, we were still
there, I went to visit him. I said, "Something has been
bothering me so damned long, I can't tell you how long.
Ever since you did it. What in the hell did you walk
around with that orange grenade in your hand for?" He
looked at me with a funny lock on his face, he s=ays,
"You know Joe, I was s¢ Goddamned convinced that was
our troops firing on us. I wanted to be sure they saw
the smoke." Just those quirks that you get, you know?

Se anyway, wWe went down to this bridge we started
fighting over the bridge, and this Francis Fleming that
got commissioned with me, he got hit. A German smauzer
gun hit him in both legs, and he's lying down, and
the gosh darn kraut, was up on some bridge structure
trying to kill him after he wounded him. We saw that
and we loaded that kraut full of lead, and he was done.
So then I got down there to the bridge, and Sam Smith
was down there, and Christ, I look at him, and his

nose . . . Right down the middle of his nose, it's
about, 3/8, to 1/4 of an inch spread, but 1it's not
bleeding. You could see in his head, I mean, you

could see way in there., I said, "Sam, what the hell
happened to you." He said, "I don't know Joe, something
hit me in the face as I went out the door." He Jjumped
ocut of the plane you know. I said, "Well we'wve got to
do something with that." We didn't have medical set ups
and all that stuff, you know. We had an aid man with
each company, if he got in. We had a battalion aid
station, which was one doctor and a few people. 8o I
said, "Sam, we've got to do something akout that nose
of yours.” We finally got the aid guy . . . Fire fight
was still going on, and we weren't acrossg the canal
yet. I pushed his nose together, and this aid guy put
a patch on it. Well, first thing you put their sulfa
tablets and powder, use theirs on them, never use yours
on someone else, you keep it for you, but use theirs on
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them. We sprinkled sulfa powder in there, and gave him
a couple of gulfa pills. We pushed his nose together
and we put gauze over it, and then heavy tape. "Jesus
Christ Joe, what are you making me? A target."” He
reached down, got a handful of mud. He thought I was
making a bull's eye from him.

Anyway, our job was to assault these bridges and then
the szecond battalion was to move through us and attack
through the town. We assaulted the bridges and we made
it a bridge head across and the second battalion went
through. EResistance wasn't that great.

You crossed on a wrecked bridge?

On a broken bridge, ves. We crossed hand over hand and
stuff. The resistance wasn't that great, the krauts
started to fall back south where thelr main reinforce-
ments are. Anyway, we get across and we form a bridge
head and the second battalion comes through us. We are
following up through that town and I got pictures of it
vet. Through our regimental book, they got pictures.
These people come out like it was a parade. They had
flowers, they apples, and they stood sheulder, to
shoulder c¢heering us. The other guys are two blocks
down the street, they are fighting like hell. We are
coming up behind after we had done our part of it; the
injitial part of it. We are coming up behind and these
people got roses and they want your name and address.

They are going to write you after the war. They are
giving the guys beer and schnapps. I had to make the
guys guit drinking. I said, "Hey. cut that bull. We
have got to fight." They were giving it to you and
giving apples. I have got a picture of it, I'l}l show
vou. You can't believe 1it. That night . . . We went

outside of town and formed a defensive perimeter. That
night the kraut Air Force come over with bombers. They
bombed that town and killed over 2,000 people.

They thought you guys were in town?

Well, they didn't know who was in town but they figured
maybe some troops were, mavbe the armored. The British
never got out for guite a few days. They should have.
When they did get up, instead of having the bridging

equipment up by the front of the column . . . It was a
narrow road column, there was no way vou could maneu-
ver. It was all inundated and stuff like that, they

flocd the c¢anals and all. All you had was this one
shot and they had the bridging material in the rear of
the column and they couldn't get the stuff through the
tanks and the armor to get it up there. The tanks and
armor were stuck right there.

We as infantry had teo go out and force them out. They
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couldn't maneuver see, That is the way that armed
thing happened. This is the British thing and that is
how they got stuck. They never got up there like they
were supposed to. They never got up to reinforce .
Plus the fact that the Germans had reinforced that
whole area right before we jumped., It was poor intel-
ligence. Anvhow, we had quite a few fire fights there
and what they did was kept breaking the road. What we
¢all breaking the road. In other words, they would

fire . . . They cut the roadway, you couldn't use it.
We got stuck. We had to work our way out there a mile,
two or three miles, and drive them back. Then maybe

they would come up here two or three miles. All we had
was Shanks Mare to get after them. We had to walk. We
would get up there in half a day and we would drive
them back and then the British would move further. So,
then it got to be where early October we started moving
up toward the Waal. I can't think of the name of the
river now. I think it was the Waal River up there
above Nijmegen, above Nijmegan and Arnhem. We got wup
on the left flank there and we started up there. There

was a little town called Opheusden. Third battalion
tried to attack it and they had two battalion command-
ers killed. They weren't making any progress. So,

they committed us through them.

There was a guy there, he got the D.S.C. in Normandy
and you see him now but I'm not going to mention any

name. He was down in a hole and T was attacking . . .
My platoon was attacking through them. He gaid, "Joe,
what are you doing? You are going to get killed. That
is not our tanks out there." The krauts had our eguip-

ment and using it. They had our tanks and our half
trucks and they were using it with our insignia on it.

He said, "That is krauts." I said, "Sandy, we have got
orders to move through yvou." He said, "You better get
down there or they are going to kill you.™ Well, it
just so happens I had a Mexican-American fellow with
me, right along side me, maybe two or three feet. He
got a burst of machine gun fire in his chest. I

grabbed him to keep him from c¢rashing down. Of course,
I had to go down with his weight. All he kept sayving
was, "Mama, mama, mama.”" He died in my arms. Guilera-
mo Martinez, heck of a nice guy.

So, we went in and we kept attacking. We got to the
edge of this town, right to the very edge, and the
Germans had that mortared and artilleried in. They had
everything marked. We no sooner got to the edge when
they opened up with so much mortar and artillery. I
got hit there and I ended up being evacuated. This
attack was a deadly thing for us. That is why when we
have our anniversary October 5, that was the date of
when we got beat up in Opheusden. That is what we use
that date for, is like a memorium. Al Hassenzal was
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the only officer left there and he got wounded a couple
of times but they were superficial. We didn't know
they meant point to get out of the Army or anything at
that time. A lot of times, you shrug it off, get an
aid man to put a little patch on you. &g long as it
didn't take vou down. So, Al Hassenzal ended up with
twenty—-eight men out of that operation. They walked
out with one officer; twenty-eight total men, one
officer.

How did you get out?

I was stretchered ocut. I was hit in the leg and the

arm. I had shrapnel in me. They teook me back to the
aid station. I walked with the aid of one rifleman
back out of the ways, out of the fire area. We came

under fire as wWe Were going back as a matter of fact.
I got to the aid station and they put me on a stretcher
and they stretchered me out. I went to a British
hospital initially. It was two or three days before I
got operated on. I got back to some American hospital.
The British hospital boy they . . . What they did, they
put you on, I think it was, a wheole 1,000 wunits of
penicillin or something like that. They start shooting

you with it and geez, you get hard as a rock. When
they stick the thing in it blows, peoef. It gets so
painful, your arms, your legs, your hips. I don't

remember how often they gave it tec me or anvthing else.

Then they put us on a train and toock us back to an
American hospital. They operated on me there and when
I woke up there I was in a hospital tent. This hospi-
tal was getting ready to pull out. I didn't know 1if
they were going to fold or back or what. They were
getting ready to pull out. I woke up and I was 1in a
trauma ward, very serious stuff. I woke up and looked
around and said, "Holy God, I wasn't hit this serious-
ly. Sure I got a bullet hole through my leg and hit
part of my shin bone and I got a bullet hole in my arm
and shrapnel in my bone." So, I sat up and I looked
around me and the bheds were . . . The girls had to walk
sideways to get around the cots there were so many
wounded in there. Cutest girls vou ever saw, they were
beautiful these American nurses. They had a good sense
of humor too. Thisg kid beside me he had a tracheaocto-
my, and his whole head was covered except he had two

slits were his eyes were. Every once in a while he
would gag and blow flem out of this thing. I said,
"What the hell to do, somebedy's knife slipped while
they were operating me." She said, "No, we are short

of beds and you were put in here. You are not as
serious as some of these fellows. How about doing me a

favor being as you can maneuver a little bit?" I had
my right arm good you know. I said, "Sure, what can I
do?" She said, "Here." She gave me a syringe. She
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said, "Every time he gets gaging like that you take
this and squirt it a couple times in the hole, c¢lear it
yvou know." So, that is what I did. The kid would give
me the ring, he would give me the finger of the ring.
"Thanks, okay." He never did talk to me. I don't know
who he was or anything else. I was there for a couple
of days and then they put us in a British hosgpital and
we laid in there.

Then, I got into a hogpital outside of Paris. I don't
remember the unit designation but anyway some major and
I were in the same room. I was up on crutches and nmy
leg wouldn't function properly yet. In the course of
the operation . . . These SS guys used to have pistols
clipped behind their belt, the officers, .25 caliber.
So, in the course of operation I had confiscated two
and I had them with me. All I had with me when I got
out of the operating room or when I went in the operat-
ing room, was my musette bag. Everything else they cut
off me or took off me. 8o, I had these two .25's in my
musette bag. I think I told the surgeon off. I said,
"Look, we know what yvou son of a guns do, when we are
back here yvou rob us blind. That stuff of mine better

be there." The nurses laughed but it was there. So, I
got back to this Paris hospital and I was kept there
for several weeks. There was a nurse there from .
She was a chubby girl, her name was Browny. She was

from Boston or somewhere. We didn't have any civilian
¢lothes or anything like that. I alsc had a bombadier
from the Air Force, B~17. They got shot down but he
said all they worried about was getting back behind our

lines. So, they c¢rashed behind our lines and he hap-
pened to be in the hospital with us. He was in a body
cagst with both arms up in the air. He couldn’t do

nothing for himself, couldn't feed himself or anything.
So, he said, "How the hell can we get to Paris out of
here?" I said, "Beats me, let's talk to Browny." We
got ahold of Browny, she was leery. I said, "I1'll tell
vou what Browny"--they all wanted guns, these kids they

were all afraid--"if you see that we can get some
c¢lothes and get out to Paris, I'll give vou a .25
automatic." Well, that was some incentive for her.

So, she got us GI clothing and she left us cut like at
dark, at night. We had to be back in before 5:00 in
the wmorning. This guy and I . . . All you had to do
was ¢go down the road there, hitchhike. I was on
crutches and he was in a bodycast. We did the best we
could.

So, we go into Paris. There is no lights of course.
The black out is black. You see these movies, you sece

light, it wasn't so. It was black. If you wasn't
black somebody would shoot at yvou or make vou put the
light out. We go down inte Paris and you walk down
the . . . This trucker picked us up on the road out
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there, it was a GI truck. He dropped us off in Paris.
He said, "You are on this highway. go to so and so,
when you come back okay." So, we get in there. We go
in these cabarets and all. Honest to God this guy with
hig c¢ast was like a magnet. All these women in the
joint come over, they wanted to hand feed him, and give
him his drink. We got a little high and it worked real
good. We got back in time and nobody even knew we were
out. Browny took the c¢lothes and put them back where
ever she got them from. We did that two or three times
and about the third time we either got on the wrong
road. We got to high. We either got on the wrong road
or something because we went way past the heospital. We
weren't no where near the hospital. Here it 1is day-
light, 9:00 in the morning,.and we are wandering out
there trying to found where the hell we had to go to.
Finally we got back, and these medical officers they
try to keep these gals ag their personal haren. The
gals didn't l1like the deal. They didn't like the way
they fathered them or mothered them or whatever they
did with them. They would rather fool with the combat

troops. So, anyway we go in there and this guy is
there. He is a major and he is in charge of that wing.
He is all up and down and high and mighty. Hell, we

had been shot at and hit, he didn't worry us a bit.
Anyway, this major is going to court-martial us for
being AWOL and all that kind of bull. These guys 1in
the rear had a different outlook than we did, strictly
GI. One thing worked out to another and I said,
"Browny, Yyou know I got another .25 automatic. You
think we could socoth his soul if we offered him one."
She said, "Well, don't you do nothing. Let me try."
So, she came back. She said, "Yes, he said he will
drop charges 1f you give him the .25." So, I gave him
the other .25 automatic that I had. I had two of them.
I never got one after that again.

Better than money, huh?

Yes. Anyway, they shipped me back to a repo-depot and
boy, it was knee deep in mud. This was in France and
we had heard our outfit was back in England--through
the grapevine. I get in the repo-depc and boy was it
bad. These state side senior officers were coming
over; never had combat or anything else. They were
strictly GI. We weren't, we weren't near the men we
were at one time. Once you are in combat vou get a
different outlook on things. Things that are trivial
you don't get excited about. 8So, these guys start

getting awful touchy. Getting up in the morning,
everything would be sniff and snuff and all. We
weren't like that any more. I went down to the head-
gquarters and there were some GI's that knew me. "Get
us the hell out of here, we don't need this bull." I
said, "Well, I don't know. I'll see what I <can find
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out."” So, I got them to the headquarters and I walk
in there and there is a couple of captains and stuff
like that there. It was right around 11:00, 11:30 din
the morning. I sald, "What's to keep me from taking my
temporary records?" Which they start on yvou when vou
are 1in the hospital. You get what they call a tempo-
rary record and it follows you then. I said, "What is
to keep me from taking my temporary records and getting
back to my outfit." "Oh no, we can't do that," and
this and that. So, one thing led to another and this
sergeant, he had combat ribbons on, and I looked at
him. He Jjust looked at me and didn't =say nothing
because these officers were there. I walked out. I
said, "Well, thank vou anyway," and I left. I watched
the tent and around noon time these officers all come
out together going to dinner. Noncom was left in
there. I went back in and I said, "Hey sarge, you pull

my temporary record jacket and give it to me. Nobody
is going to know the difference." He sgaid, "No." I
said, "What do you say? All I want to do is get back
to my outfit." He went over to the file and pulled it
out and T put it in my shirt and I walked out. All
those guys are, "You going to take us out, you going to
take us out." I said, "Look the best I c¢ould do
was . . . I had a hell of a job getting myself out of
here. I can't de¢ nothing for you." So, I walked out
to the road that was out there. Here comes some GI
trucks. I see one with Air Force thing on 1it. I

hitchhiked to the next stop and picked me up.

2411 I had onme . . . I had GI clothing but I had a
second lieutenant bkar on. I wae still a second lieu-
tenant. I said, "Do you have an Air Force base around
here?" He said, "Yes." I said, "You going there now?"
He said, "Yes." I said, "Well, I would 1like to go
there.™ I went down there and I went into the opera-
tions office and I said, "Any chance of hitching a ride
back to England." The guy said, "Well, I don't know.
We got a bunch of guys going on leave shortly. Maybe
there will be room that yvou can get on but I don't have
the authority to put you on." So, I'm sitting in the
operations room. Some how or other I must have had
some parachute identification on me toc. I'm sitting
in the waiting room there; a ready room or whatever it
wasg. First, you know, these guvs start coming in with
their bags that were going on a twoe weeks leave or
something, or ten days leave. This one guy looked at

me. He went over and was talking this, and that, and
the other. He looked at me again. First thing you
know he came over. He said, "You airborne?" I said,
"Yes . " He said, "What are you doing here?" I said,

"Well, I just got out of the hospital and they had me
in a repo-depot and I hear the outfit is back in Eng-
land. I'm trying to get back t¢o them without wasting
months in the process. This guy told me that there is
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a flight of planes going to England and mayvbe I could

hitch a ride on it." He said, "You know I got a buddy
from home in the airborne. I wonder if you happen to
know him." I gaid, "What is his name?"” I c¢ould see
this guy had a Bostonian accent. He said, "Francis
Fleming." I said, "Hell yves, Francis and I are good
friends. He got all shot up in Holland too. He 1is
going to the hospital with both knees that were shot
at." So, he said, "You stay right aleong side of me.

I'm navigating this flight." They had three C-47's and
they loaded them up with these pilets and all; had some
leave coming. A weeks leave in London. 8¢, he walked
right up to the cockpit and stood between the pilot and
copilet and he had a map. I stood right along side
him. He took his thumb on one end of the map and told
these guys which way to do this and which way to do
that. Honest to God he read that better with his thumb
in the air than we ceould have read a map on the ground.

We landed in London. 8o, naturally I figure what the
heck TI'1l]l spend some time in London. Geez about the
firgt night I come up out of the subway there 1is two
MP's =tanding there and I'm strictly out of uniform.
They stop me and I had no actual I.D. as such on me but
I had my temporary orders. I said, "I'm going back to

my unit, which is up in Swindom."® He said, "Okay
lieutenant but don't let us see you around here again."”
I said, "Don't worry., I'm going straight through."”
About a week there I run into the same two. I was

still in London. They hustled me to a train and I left
town.

I went back to Swindom. Here the outfit was still on
iine in Holland. Of course, we had a unit in the back

that were replacements and replacements officers. We
went back there and this guy Foster, well, he didn't
last with us. This guy was some major that was in the

battalion, he wasg eXxecutive. He wasn't a command
officer, you know what I mean. When it fell in his lap
he Jjusgt fell apart. So, they headed him back to Kkeep
this rear echelon established. We get up there and he
is up there with all these state side officers being a
big shot. We guys had been in a couple of combats,
come pack, and he didn't like that at all. So, he sent
all of us out on a rifle range to qualify these GI's
that come from the states. We are out there chewing
our nails; Kessler, and Burns. These are guvs that are
dead now. Kessler got killed in combat. He and T
roomed together. Big Jewish fellow, he was a c¢aptain.
He was company commander of A company. He had been
wounded to. So, we got different replacements and all.
We put them through our paces and finally the outfit
come back and we rejoined them. They were up in Marma-
lon, France and we rejoined them over there.
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Did you fly over?

John, I can't sit here and tell you. Yes, we must have
because the only time we came back on landing craft was
from Normandy. We came back to England on a landing
craft. Any other time we were flying. It is the only
time I remember being on a landing c¢raft was when we
were leaving France. We got a landing craft and they
brought us back to England.

So, we got back to the outfit. I no sooner got back in
the outfit . . . This had to be about four or five days
before this thing broke in the Bulge. I just got back
to the outfit and they didn't rush me. Get set, and
get vour equipment and we got people doing the Jjob.
So, I didn't have my guns or anything left. This
Bastogne thing broke, which we didn't know what it was
at the time. We jumped on trucks and I didn't have a
weapon. My assistant platoon leader was in the head of
the platoon. He said, "Cripes Joe, 1 got a tommy gun
wrapped in my bed roll I'm trying to sneak home to my
dad. I'll get it for you."” So, he went and got the
tommy gun. We left Marmalon, France. We left in those
trucks. We had to make time, so thev rode with lights
on. Which was unheard of. Rode with full lights on
and we were going like hell. Half of us didn't have
ammunition. It is hard to believe but we were not set
up to go. They grabbed you, "Put your coat on, let's
go." You believe it or not, we got up into the Bas-
togne area, my battalion was committed to attack right
away, and take a town on Noville, and the high ground
around 1t, and hold it. ©Of course, to get to Noville,
we were in Bastogne, we had to walk through a town of
Foy and we had to go out to Noville. On the way out
we had half tracks and tankers and all withdrawing from
that area, you know armored people. We were asking
them for ammunition, they were gladly giving it to us.
Thiszs seems far fetched but it is the gospel truth.
They were giving us ammunition for our rifles and
machines guns and everything else. They were running
back to Bastogne see. My platoon, my company, wag the
advance party and, of course, at that point and time
Hassenzal and I were buddies. So, anytime we were the
advance party I was the point, my platoon. The way we
did that was like we would put a scout out in front of
us and then I would be next. On the other side of the
road would be another scout staggering back, then a
platoon sergeant would be behind him, and then the
column of file on both sides of the reoad with my as-
sistant platcoon leader being the rear.

So, we go up into the town of Noville, no trouble at
all. We walk all of the way up there, we hit nothing.
We get inte Noville, and of course we had to move
through the town and up and out. We got up on the top

64



. of that ground on the outside of Noville and the krauts

were dug in and they were exhausted. They were sleep-
ing in their holes and we start popping them in their
holes; in their fox holes. Honest God, I got up on
that town John, and I looked over the side of the hill
and I'll tell vou right now there was 1,000 German
tanks there in my mind. I don't know if it was thirty
or forty but there was a lot of them. The minute we
start firing, they start getting in their tanks and

reving them up. We had nothing to stop them with
really. We had nothing to stop them with. 8o, I told
the guys, "Let's get the hell out of here." We got

back into town and they started to c¢ircle into town and
we had a couple of little tank destroyer deals. Now a
tank destroyer don't have the armor that a tank had on

it. They had speed and maneuverability and they had
the same size gun. We had a couple TD's, it was a 705
TD Ppattalion that was there with us. There were a

couple tanks that would defend, they staved there with
us in that little town of Noville. A couple of Jjeeps
and maybe a half track or something was the armored
people. Otherwise it was our battalion.

Does a half track have any armament on it?

Yes, just a little plating though. It wouldn't stop
nothing.

I mean any kind of gun on it though?

They put a machine gun up in front of it on the top, on
the c¢rown. It was removable. Half track was for
transportation, more than anvthing else, over the rough
terrain. Sc, anyway these krauts started surrounding
this town with these tanks. We were given the order
that we would hold at all costs. Well, we look at one
another; you heard these orders were going to come but
we nhever expected them. We start digging in around
these buildings.

You weren't in the buildings?

No, no, we were outside. You couldn't shoot from in
the buildings. They killed our battalion commander, he
must have opened the door and went in the building.
They were sitting up on the hill with a tank and they
threw two rounds right through the window. Killed him
right in there, right cff the bat. Guy by the name of
Laprade.

So, we proceeded to try to hold the town. They started
hitting us and these TD's were hitting them. The only
trouble with them is they had run out of armor plercing
ammunition. All they had was high explosive. Well, a
high explosive won't penetrate a tank. It might knock

65



that track off and it might scare the hell out the guys
inside, which we did with one. I stood along side this
one TD and the guy was standing up in turret and I was
helping him pick targets. This one time we Kknocked a

tank. He knocked a tread off the tank and the tank
stopped and the guys pulled out but I said, "Watch that
son of a bitch behind him." There was ancother tank

coming up behind him. He used that tank for cover and
he laid hisg gun down behind and he shot this TD right
begide me. The only one got out of the TD was a guy in
the turret and he was on fire. We beat it out. Then
we had the battle. All night long houses were on fire,
equipment was on fire, and everything else. The krauts
. were trying to get in the town with the tanks. They
probed their way in. We had what they c¢all a gammon
grenade, I think it was a British grenade. It was a
British operation in a plastic cap, like vou milk
bottle caps only deeper, and it had a string on there.
It was elastic skirt and you could put composition ¢ 1in
there and you could pull a skirt and get as much in
there as yvou wanted.

What is composition C?

It was an explosive but it had to be detonated. You
couldn't shoot it and make it blow up, but we had a
detonator in there. So, these guys would get in the
building and these tanks would come up and try to probe
guys from the second floor with these gammon grenades,
We knocked out two or three tanks trying to get into
town during the night. We were up all night shooting

and everything else. I had a machine gunner who was
pretty good, a guy by the name of Barrett from Balti-
more. Krauts were way up in the woods, and it was
heavy snow. They tried to get from this finger of
woods teo that finger of woods; the infantry. We could
see them. I said, "Barrett get on them sons of a
bitches, don't let them get back there." They were

getting back to their own people. They were a little
bit to far out I guess they figured, I don't know. So,
Baret got on them and he laid eight or nine of them in
the snow up there. Just short bursts as they come out
and start running across. You pick them up and keep
after them until he nailed them. You could see eight
or nine of them laving in the snow up there.

So, anvhow we fought all night and we were getting the
hell clobbered out of us. Then about 9:00 a.m. I told
the guys, "Don't nobody go anywhere," because we always
had one or two scroungers that would go looking for
eggs, or get a chicken out of a chicken house and ring
it's neck. I said, "Be sure nobody takes off because
everything dis up in the air." So, all of a sudden we
get an order on the radio that we would withdraw. The
town behind us, Foy, the third battalion had taken but

66



the Germans had pushed them out of it,. The Germans
were in this town of Foy and Bastogne was back beyvond
and we are out here on a limb. Anyway. about 2:00 the
next day, which was about December 21, we got to with-
draw. We would withdraw by the road and bring all our

mechanical equipment and wounded with us. Hell, if we
had cut across country we had a good chance but with-
drawing by the road . . . We knew this town behind us

was surrounded by the krauts and then we had to go into
Bastogne later. They give us the word that they are
going to recommit the 3rd Battalion to attack Foy
behind us and they would be attacking Foy at the same
time we would. So, right away C Company was the ad-
vance party again and, "Joe, you are the point." I
used to give them hell. I said, "You bastards think
I'm an exceptionally good man or you are trying to kill
me, I don't know which." 8o, we start on this. John,
the fog was—-that morning or that day--so thick but it
was in rolls. It would roll in and roll out. It would
roll in to where you couldn't see six feet in front of
vyou and then it would roll out and you could see a 100
vards. It just kept that up. You couldn't depend on
nothing.

The German tanks stop their assault?

The German tanks temporarily, ves. We had scared them
off a little bit. 8o, they got us out of there. The
German tanks had bypassed us. They are the ones that
went into Foy and all. We were like a strong peoint
that had a little trouble. That was what they were
doing in those days. Their jcb was to bypass any
resistance they got and get as far in as they could,.
Anyway, we start out and I tell the guys before we Jgo,
"Look, there is only two man made object between us and
Foy." There was a farm house down there and it was on
the map. T said, "Now you lighten your gear, don't
have anything rattle, and walk softly, and have your
finger on the trigger. Because we are going to hit you
know where." December 21, foot of s=snow on the
ground . . . Just like us, we got in the building out
of a wind. Even if there wasn't no fires or anything
there. You got out of that wind it was half the fight
or even 1if you got below the surface of the ground,
like with a shallow fox hole. That was half the fight.
You were half as cold as you were before. 8o, we went
down this Noville reoad and we were going and going.
Honest to God out of a c¢lear blue sky these c¢louds roll
away and there were three krauts setting up a machine
about ten feet from me. I'm right on the edge of their

gun but I'm walking real soft. My scouts already
passed then. I had a tommy gun and I hollered,
"Kraut!", and I burped these three guys. I got them

all. Geez, I loock around and there are two Tiger tanks
gitting in a yard by the house. The krauts weren't in
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the Tiger tanks, they were on the ground. As soon as I
hollered and fired they start getting in theilr tanks
and reving them up. You hear them motors roaring and
kick the exhaust. Then this fog kept rolling in and
out.

S0, there was some armored back there. I don't know
what they were. They had short guns on, ocurs but from
the 10th Armored Division or some division like that,
Some captain was in one and he came running up. I'm in
the ditch there starting to fire fight because there
were guys in the house starting to fire fight. My guys
were building up a line of fire on the other side of
the rcad but I was on the wrong side of the road. My
scout was too. Anyvway, the fire fight developed and
this guy came running in his tank. He leans out and he

says, "What i1s geing on here?" I said, "Get the hell
out of here." I no sconer said it and this one
kraut . . . Boom, beoom, two rounds went in it. He got

on fire. The captain came out, he hit the ditech, he
crawled over, he never slowed down going to the rear.
He never =said, "Can I help you? God bless you," or
anything else. He crawled right over me and tock off.
I waeg in a ditch that was pretty deep. I was able to
be protected a little bit. It is a funny thing hit me
there, I was gocing by the book. I wouldn't shoot twice
from the same place. I would move forward, shoot, move
back, shoot, and evervthing else. In the meantime the
company was spreading out, c¢reating fire. 30, there
was a damn kraut up in the second story and he had what
they called panzer shreck. I can't tell you which was
which, but it was anti-tank gun like our bazooka.

Panzer shreck.

Panzer shreck and Panzer faust. The shreck I think is
a projectile. He starts shooting at this tank with the
damn thing. It so happened there was another
tank ., . . Well, one of our guys that went to tank
school and he volunteered to get in and bring the tank
out. He got killed in it. They knocked that tank out
too: behind this other one. Behind the one that I was
beside., 8o, this one beside me is on fire and the one
behind 1is on fire. At that point and time I didn't
know there were two tanks there. I only thought there
Wwas one. So, this guy has got this bazooka up
there--kraut bazooka--and they keep shooting this damn
tank. I thought, "That son of a bitch is trying to get
me by a ricochet." Or make it expliode that would get
me in a ditch because he knew I was in the ditch. I
was working my way back and forth. I back up and bam-
bam, and up and bam-bam. So, all of a sudden one of
those damn things ricocheted, John. There was all hell
broke loose, bullets flying all over the place. One of
those damn things ricocheted off that tank and it went
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end over end and you believe it or not it went in
between my legs and my crotch. All I c¢ould think of
was I going to get my pecker blown off. I got up out
¢f there and I ran arcund the other side of the tank.
I got around there just long encugh to have my platoon
sargeant die in my arms.

What they did was they committed the 3rd Battalion. I
think there was a lot of misidentification there. I
think the 3rd Battalion was firing on us and I think
they killed a lot of our people. I had about six guys
coming out in my platoon, coming out that road. They
got killed. My plateoon sergeant was one. Johnny
Mize was another. Jogeph was another. I can't =sit

here and tell you exactly . . . Burk, J.J. Burk was
killed. He went scrounging for eggs right before we
pulled out. His buddy was Rafe Bramlett. I said,
"Rafe, god damn you, I teld you not to let anybedy go.”
He gaid, "I couldn't steop him." We took a long while
to identify John. They found his body in Noville.

By a dental chart they identified him. John was the
kind of a guy, if he come out of the building and saw a
kxraut, he wouldn't hesitate at all to stop and fire.
He would start shooting, that is the kind of guy he

was. Mike Parros died in my arms. He said, "Joe, I'm
g0 sleepy." I silapped him in the face. I said, "Mike,
don't go to sleep."” He said, "I can't help myself, I'm
so sleepy Joe." You could just see the blood draining
out of him. He got hit with a machine gun. I don't
know if it was our 3rd Battalion or the krauts had got
him. My orders were, no matter what I hit, to £fight

through it if I could. That is what I did. I proceed-
ed to fight up the road. That was a strong point for
them. We got through that. Those two tanks withdrew;
the kraut tanks. They didn't come on, they pulled
back. We proceeded up the road. When we got to Foy,
the 3rd Battalion had reentered the town and we walked
right through them and we went into the outer edges of
Bastogne. We never were back in Bastogne. We were out
in the woods.

So, we went in there and there was a big barn

there . . . My platoon went in a big old barn and that
night the bombers came over, the German bombers. We
could see them through the holes in the roof. You
could see their exhaust. It was like moonlit nights,

all c¢old and wintry. You could see the aircraft and
you could hear them. Their motors were not sgynchro-
nized 1like ours. You could tell a German aircraft
without looking up. During the night we were licking
our wounds and what we had left; getting ready., got a
little k rations.

Were the casualties pretty heavy?
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Yes, casualties were heavy.
Heavier than Normandy?

I can't end up telling you that because I would have to
look at documentation. The simple reason is this 1is
the first time we ever got replacements on line.

Anyway, we are in this area. The 2nd Battalicen is on
line and they were on the right flank. We were on the
left flank and the 3rd Battalion was 1In the middle. We
were on Recogne. Anyway, the 2nd Battalion is on 1line
and communication came back that a reinforce German
platoon got behind their lines during the night. So,
C and B company-~-I think we were eighty some strong-—-we
were coming in it the next morning to attack those
krauts that were behind 2nd Battalion. Believe it or
not it was a scrub oak, where they cut down the trees
and all that stuff was growing up. It was hard to see,
you know. You couldn't see anything. These Germans
were dug in to the best of their ability. It was hard
to dig a foxhole in the winter when it is twenty de-
dgrees below. They were dug in and we walked on them.
We had a hell of a fire fight. Plus, their artillery
come in on them. They must have called for artillery
or something. They would come in on us too. In that
fire fight, wvou hear about the combat exhaustion, I
came about as c¢lose as I ever got. I had six guys shot
in the head; six of my men. Two of them had been
replacements after we got out of Noville the day be-
fore. I got two replacements on line. One was named
Lacy and the other Truit and I don't know to this day
what they looked like. I don't know what their £first
names were. This guy that is a priest down in Bolivia,
of ours, he was in my platoon at the time. I got up
there and I said, "I need somebedy to do me a favor.
Somebody go pull those dog tags, I can't."” I just was
choked up. Here, not to long age, we got together. He
said, "Joe, do yvou remember a time up there behind Foy
that Sanchez and them guys got killed?" I said, "Yes."
He said, "You remember asking somebody to go pull the

dog tags?" I said, "Yes." He saild, "Who did it?" I
said, "Honest to God, I can't tell you now Harold. I
don't remember.," He said, "I d4did." I said, "Well,
thank you friend, thanks again." Because that was one

time I was really choked up. It really bothered me.

How did all six of these of guys get killed between the
eyes?

Well, they got shot in the head I'm saving. They got
shot in the head. Because we are laying there facing
the CGermans and they were in holes in front of us.
Sometimes there would only be four or five feet between
them. We were throwing grenades and everything else.
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assume it was.

You fought until yvou were?

Just fought until you were ineffective anymore. You
weren't enocugh to do the job. fThey would relieve vyou
with some other unit and you would pull out. By the
same token, at times we were facing crack German out-
fits. We had vigorous patrolling. They knew we were

coming and we knew we were going. Every night we would
take prisconers and stuff like that. Yes I'm losing my
train of thought, getting old.

You were at Bastogne there and Patton relieved you.

Oh wves, they brought up replacements to us. Later on

we took back all the territory . . . We had a reputa-
tion of not losing any territory. Cf course, the
krauts with those tanks and all pushed us back guite a
bit. We counter attacked with other outfits with us
when they got there . . . When we started breaking the
Bulge up. We counterattacked and took anything we lost
plus. When we got out of there our buddies £frozen

bodiss were still layving where they were. That 1s how
heavy the fire fighting was. On the way in to get this
German penetration six guys were shot 1in the head,
seventeen German alrcrafts came in and dive bombed us
when we were on the road. At that point and time I was
the rear guard and I heard their aircraft planes and T
looked. What they told us later was, these guys missed
us by about fifty vards to the gide of the road. They
just turned that woods upside down. There were seven-
teen planes. The Air Force told us later not one of
them got back to the German lines. Whether this is
true or not I don't know. What we understand through a
critique later on was that that was one experienced
pilot and the other sixteen were from a training
school. He led them in there to do that. They didn't
hit us, they hit along side of us. They went up right
along side; about fifty yvards they missed the road.

Then, after we got established in Bastogne they pulled
us out and they sent us down into Alsace-Lorraine,
southern France. It was a occupation troops. We went
acrogs from Dusseldorf at first, over the Rhine River.
We sent some of the first patrols over the Rhine River,
in rubber boats and stuff like that. We got pulled out
of there and we went further south. We went to this
town of Haguenau in Alsace-Lorraine.

By that time, when I moved down, I got called up to

battalion. Battalion c¢ommander gaid . . . I was a
first lieutenant then. By the time I went into Bas-—
togne I was a first lieutenant. Battalion commander

called me in and he said--and my former c¢ompany com-—
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mander was executive officer—--Lieutenant Colonel Clar-
ence Hester called me in and he said, "Reed, I want yvou
to be my 8-2." It was the intelligence officer at the

time. I sgaid, "Colonel I don't want that Gjob." He
said, "Why?" I said, "I think it is a protected job.
I don't want it." He stood me at attention and read me

up and down. He sgaid, "God damn vou I want you there
because T think vou are the best man for the job. No
other reason. Now I tell you, vou will be my 8§-2."
So, I got taken ocut of ¢ Company which I had been with
from activation. I became Battalion S-2. Well, it was
a good deal for me. T had access to jeeps once and
awhile and stuff like that. We only had two jeeps to
the whole battalion:; colonel's was one, the executive
officer was the other. Every once in while they would
be sitting on their fanny in the thing and T would take
a Jjeep and do something. Anyhow, they put a lot of
work on me while they would go do other work. I don't
know what they did but they put a lot of work on nme.
As a matter of fact we went down te this Alsace-Lor-
raine and we toock this town of Hagvenav. It was a
bugger. You have seen these German canals where the
barges go up and down. How close they are in middles
of towns and all. Well, this town had one. The Ger-
mans were on that side and we were in this side. You
couldn't walk around in daylight. You had to walk
around at night and at night the flares were going up
and mortars were coming in. You feed the troops at
night and everything else because we had them in fox
holes right up on the river lines. We run down the
road with a jeep and the first thing vou know there
would be flares going up and boom—boom-boom mortars,
trying to pick up the jeep. You got the chow on the
jeep giving it to the guys.

Geez!

Anyway we got a guy, he was from West Point. His name
was Fitzpatrick. 014 Fitz come in--of course I was S5-2
and it was my job to coordinate supporting fires and
all. I could take a while . . . I would rig the guns
and mortars where we would make them out of a withdraw
route at certain coordinates on the map. You come
back that way and we will cover your flanks with artil-
lery fire and mortar fire. You have got a channel to
come in. That was always my job and communications. I
had to be sure that the communication were good and
set. So, this guy Fitzpatrick was from the 3rd Battal-

ion. He was a West Pointer and he was full of theo-
ries; nice Irish guy. He came down everyday volunteer-—
ing. I s=aid, "Fitz, don't kid yourself, take vour
turn.” "Oh no Joe,"™ he said, "this war is going to be
over soon. I got to get some rank."--West Point theo-
ries vyou know. I said, "Fitz, you are going to be a
dead man. Take your time, take your turn." "Oh no,"
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he sajid. He had a buddy from West Point too that went
with him. So, they velunteered--I don't know-—-six or
seven patrols and the guy couldn't sleep in the day-
tinme. He sucked whiskey. He was so keyved up. To me
the most~-oh, I don't know what you call it-—-the most
exciting thing, where the hair stands up on your back
and all, is an infantry patreol. You know you are in
enemy territory, yvou know you are going to get shot at,
it is a matter of when or where. You're ready, vyou're
on edge, yvyou're a hundred percent. We used to go out
on these things, come back, and get in fist fights with
one another; in combat. For little things, yvou know,
vou would be so keyved up. Especially at night and all,
you are waiting for somebody to blast your head off as
vyou go out there. When action does start you don't
know 1f vou are shooting him; vou are a dgoody or a
baddy. You are just shooting them or throwing grenades
at them. To me that was the most exciting thing vyou
could do. Every time I had to do it . . . I took out
daylights I took out nights. 8So did everybody else,
you had to take your turn. Just every hair on your
body would be standing up. You would be Jjust waiting
for what was going to happen.

Pretty nerve racking.

It was, very nerve racking. This Fitz, he kept wvolun-
teering every day and the human make up can't handle
it, I don't think. By God in about the seventh one he
got killed. They had machine guns in these buildings

and our guys are climbing up over the dock. They
blasted him. He happened to c¢limb right in front of
one, vright in front of one of the machine guns; old

Fitz got killed. I tried my best to keep him alive
longer. We used to try our best when new guys come in.
We would get somebody to try and shepherd them for two
or three days. You figure if a guy made 1t two or
three days in combat he was a veteran. Like you c¢ould
tell when artillery was coming in. You could tell if
it was going right, left, or it is coming in on you.
You know the tones and all. Screaming meemies is the
same way, when screaming meemies come in. They had
shells that they threw a whole bunch up at once and
they made an eerile scream; we called them screanming
meemies. You listen to them go off and you just listen
for a little bit and when you didn't hear any noise you
hit the ground because they were coming in. If wvou
hear a little scream or a little moan out this way, or
that way, or up back that way, you knew they were going
over, right, or left. When they got silent then vyou

hit the ground because they come right in on you,. So,
Fitz got killed and we were in Haguenau for guite some
time. Then we got pulled up and we got sent into
Germany. We were sort of following up in Germany.

When that got down around Bavaria—-Austria, intelligence
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came through that there was 4,000 German fanatics that
weren't going to surrender. They were geoing to get
inte what they called . . . If I remembered right they
called it a redoubkt out area.

Alpine Fortress?

Yeg, they were going to hold ocut. Our job was to get
down there as fast as we could. All we had for trans-
portation was these big amphibious ducks. Get on them
and go down the road. On the way down there we came
into Landsberg, Germany which is right on the edge of
the Bavarian Alps. It is where Hitler wrote that book
Mein Kampf and they had a concentration camp there. We
liberated the people there, it was pathetic, it was
really pathetic. We took those people out and we went
into German's houses with bayonets. We rifled their
food sgshelves and gave it to these people. They were
burning the people in ovens and we made them stop. We
made seventy-five German men and twenty-five German
women go in there and dig common gravegs and bury the
bodies in. They were dying on the streets and all.
They went crazy when we got there. They even ran into
our equipment going down the road and stuff life that
and got themselves killed. The people were out of
their mind really. John, yvou never saw anything worse
in your life. They had these pajama-top type outfits
on. They were nothing but skin over a rack of bones
and their eyes were popped out but they were sunk in at
the same time. They get in together in groups and they
would start wailing. It was heart rendering. Of
course, wWe were seasoned tough troops you know.

Jews?

Yes, I would say some type of Jew. They didn't have
stars on them or nothing like that. I don't remember
gseeing any stars. Then we had to stay there because
they had blown the bridges right outside of Landsberg,
Germany. It was just the spring of the year, it was
March or April, and the mountain snows were thawing.
They were coming down like torrents and there was no
way you c¢ould even wade across there. It was 1like
waterfalls coming out of them mountain down these
streams. So, we had to wait until engineers came up
here and built some kind of bridge for us. They give
tis a Dbattalion of French tankers, they were French
officers and Moroccan black troops. We couldn't under-
stand them and they couldn't understand us. What
happened we let these people out and got all this food.
They were eating and dyving. So, before we pulled out
of there some people come up . . . I don't know if they
were Red Cross people or who they were. They come up
and they said, "God, whatever you do, get these people
back into c¢amp. They can't eat." They had to have
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broth and stuff like this. Fortunately it didn't end
up our responsibility, we were pulling out. They got a
bridge across there and we pulled out with these tank-
ers. Then, all the way down the autobahn . . . We went
right down the autobahn; four tankers abreast over and
over here and we were right behind them or we were on

them. We ¢get to a stream and the krauts would blow
that stream bridges. They would be way up in these
damn mountains with machine guns and mortars. So,
these French tankers would stop, sit back. We would

have to c¢limb them damn mountains and chase them guys
off. It would maybe take us half a day; get up there.
By the time we got up there they pulled out and are
running to the next one. This is what thev did to us
until we got into Berchtesgaden. We finally got into
Berchtesgaden. I got some pictures of Raudstein and me
in a jeep in Berchtesgaden, right by a sign.

You were the first American troops 1n Berchtesgaden?

Yes, we took Berchtesgaden. Don Zon, who took over my
platoon . . . My platoon was sent up into that eagle's
nest. Had an elevator and all up there. We took the
place down below. As a matter of fact T got a spoon
out there with Adolf Hitler's initials on it. When we
were c¢leaning the town we went down into this resort
place he had there that used to rotate or something.
You e¢ould 1lock out in the mountain; beautiful ares.
We went down there with fixed bayonets. The soup was
still hot, people were eating it. They went out the
other door, we came in this door. I was running down
this place . . . Like these Italians have a kitchen
down in the basement. They had a kitchen down in this
bagsement 1n like a hallway set up. I'm running down
here and I look and here the soup is still hot. Some-
body had been eating it, there was a spoon in it. I
look at the spoon, it had A.H. in the initials. So I
took it and shook it off and put it in my pocket be-
cause we c¢ouldn't carry anything. We chased them out
the other end. Then there was a Czechoslovakian border
where we were given orders to hold up. We were not to
go into Czechoslovakia. 8o, we got to the Czechoslova-
kian border and we couldn't cross. We still hadn't run
into these fanatics that were supposed toe be there. I
remember Al and I standing up on a windy mountain one
day. That was as far as we could go. Him and I were
standing up there talking. I don't remember what it
was about anymore. Then we consolidated that area and
we had a whole lot of political arrests. I mean the
Germans, 1f I remember right, they had seven c¢ards.
Everybody had to have one of these seven type cards.
Everybody had to have an ID. We had seven of these
cards were automatic arrests, political arrests. So,
we start throwing road blocks up and everything else.
This is where I got involved; so <called intelligence
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officer. I had a jeep, and a Jeep driver, and I had an
interpreter, and an intelligence sergeant. We estab-
lished these road blocks. Everybody had teo show one
and 1if he was any one of these seven he was arrested
and sent back. We sent them back where ever they were
doing with them. I was given nine check points to
catch Hermann Goring. We went down by Zell am See,
Barvaria~Austria and John vou wouldn't believe 1t that
the people were shoulder to shoulder covering the roads
and everything else coming our way. They were afraid
of the Russians.

German soldiers.

German soldiers with their women. They carried women
with them and evervthing. And German Cavalry. We even
got behind their lines. We had to wear white £flags
because we were behind were they were disarming them.
We got down there that we couldn't go any further. I
checked the place where Goering. . . His wife was still
there, General Fegeline's wife was still there, but
Goring and General Fegeline went over the mountain at
5:00 in the morning. I got there at 9:00. Missed him
by that much time. Third division got him on the other
side of the mountain, Hermann Goring. In this whole
area where we were wasgs a rest area for them. There was
an awful lIot of big wigs there. I'm up in the moun-—
tains here one day, with the sergeant and all, we are
looking an area over. This guy come out of the woods
and he had a tirolian leather pants on, those suspend-
ers and all they have, he had one eye, the other eye
was sticking way up in his head, and he was gaunt and
tan. He came over and in broken English and German
through the guys there he wanted to know who was in
charge. They pointed to me. He came over and he said,
"Lieutenant." I called the interpreter over, I said,
"Come here, get this." I wasn't sure I could under-
stand him; talked very bad English. The kid says, "He
says he is an 0SS agent." I said, "Well, if he is an
085S agent he should have some ID on him." So, the guy
reached in his belt line there and he pulled out
his. . . He had an identical ID that I had. I got on
the radio and I radioed on in. They said, "“Joe, get
that guy back here as quick as you can." So, we took
him back. Here he had bheen working that area and he
had all these big wig politicals spotted; where they
were staving, what shacks they were in. Some of these

were chalets way up in the hills and all. Christ it
took you a day and a half to get up there. No roads up
there, walk trails. These were like hunting camps and
all that these guys took. All kind of political big
wige and our division caught a lot of them. I can't
g8it here and tell vyou who they were now but we
got . . . Some where around I got information on who

they were.
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What happened was it got so bad that one day a c¢avalry
outfit was coming through. Somebody said, "“Hey, why
don't we get enough horses to ride up these damn moun-
tains. Mavbe we will do better." I thought that was a
good idea. There was guy by the name of Porter, B
Company, he was a cowboy from Texas. I said, "Porter
come on, you and I are golng down to the reoad," and we
took an interpreter. We got the S8S5 General. I don't
know if he was SS. He was top a veterinarian in the
German Army there. They had these jumping horses in
the sgstable down there were we were, by Lenz. We told
him, "Come cut here."” To the interpreter I told him,
"Now, I want thirty-six of these best horses that cone
through here. Don't bullshit us because we will shoot

you. Because this man is cowboy and he knows horse
flesh.™ I didn't know if Porter did or not but I'm
giving him the whole spiel. These guys are coming

through on their horses and straggling just like all
the people going by us. We let them go, at a check-
point they were being checked. This one, this one, and
then we took them off. Tell the guys to get of their
horse. We let them take everything but the saddles.
Some of those guys hugged their horses and cried.
Honest to God, some of those Germans they didn't want
to leave them for nothing. ©One German through the
interpreter said, "Can I stay and take care of the
horses?" "Rouse, get the hell out of here.” So, we
took those thirty-six horses and Porter tock charge of
them. He had some of these jumping horses and some of
the guys were riding them. He came to me and he said,
"Joe, can't you do something? These are very valuable
horses. Can't vyou do something to keep these guys
off." I said, "Sure, we will put them off limits. You
take care of that, you can do that. Put them under
guard and nobody takeg them. If they want to ride
horgeg they ride these." Regular cavalry horses.
These were beautiful horses, powerful, big, strong, and
they were Jjumpers. So, what happened was they used
thegse to go up in these mountain and did pretty good
with them. They c¢ame back down. We got a 1lot of
political prisoners, an awful lot of them. Some of the
guys even got one guy with suitcases full of §1,000's
of American. They stole the money and never said
nothing about it. I found out after the war was over.
They went into business with it. I think they got
$10,000 a piece.

Anyway, what happened was one night at the teown. . . We
occupied a vastle down there. They had civilian work-
ere like Rusgians, Czechs, and Poles.

The war still on at this time?

No, 1t was just ceasing; just around May 8. We occu-

pied these castle where I chased Hermann Goring out of

78



or where he had left. We occupied that as quarters for
the battalion headquarters. Every night we would have
all kinds of cut glass and everything else, three or
four different wines, and they had women out of
these . . . They weren't concentration camps, they were
labor camps. They had women out of these that were
working as our servants. One thing led to another and
one night this colonel got a little bit to much to
drink. He saild, "You know what? We are going to have
a review tomorrow. I want the cavalry . . . Thirty-six
horges, the first time they will come arocund behind the
troops walking. Then when trocops pass off the parade
ground, they will come around again at a trot, and the

third time they come will come around as a gallop." It
was strictly his idea. Oh hell sure, big deal. It
wasn't going to be the monotony of the regular day. I

used to work as the parade adjutant because I had a
loud veoilce. We didn't have microphones and all that
day. It was just column of companies. When I say
march then the drums would start beating. Nobody-
thought about this god damn band being in the middle of
the parade ground; big tubas. These guys went around,
everything was fine. Right after I got the troop
started I had to walk real fast to get up in the review
stand with the colonel. Nobody thought about these
damn horses and this band. It didn't enter anvbody's
mind. So the first time . . . These guys that were
riding them weren't cowboys. Half of them didn't know
how to ride. It was a lark for them. They get 1in
these dog gone saddles and they come around. The first
time around about two horses threw twoe guys. They are
on the parade ground, laying down, and the horses are
cavalry horses, they stay with the other ones. They go
around the second time and this band is going; the tuba
is going and the band is playving. The second time they
come around at a trot. God damn, about half the horses
threw the guys. Guys laying all over the parade ground
and the horsges running with their stirrups £lapping.
We are having a hell of a job keeping a straight face
up there. The old man is looking at it. The next time
they come out of their trot I think Porter was the only
one on a horse. Guys were spread all over the field
because this band scared the horses. I don't think
they ever must have been near a band before. None of
us knew enough about it. 8o, that night we get to
supper and the old man tried to blame it on everybody
but himself; that it was their idea. "No man, that was
your deal."”

Then we settled down a little bit and we had a deal
where we had a hell of a big area to govern, take care

of. These military government people and all weren't
up there, they were behind. So, don't you know, they
said, "Joe, you take care of this." I got about seven

or eight of these labor camps that you got to make sure
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they get fed and all this kind of stuff. We weren't
allowed to fraternize with the German women. There was

a lot of good looking women in these labor camps. We
were able to take them to town and have them make
dresses for them and get their hair done. Some of
these guys would take them to parties with them. We

had a good time. There was also a bunch of Holland
nurses down there. They had some hospitals down there
in Bad Gastdine and places like that. It was a recu-
perative camp for wounded military people; German.
They brought in all these Holland nurses to work there.
They had some red headed gal, she was 1in charge of

them. Well, right away I'm responsible to see that
they get rations and all. Christ the rations were
tough. We gave them concentrated rations and stuff
like this. It so happened I had to work with this gal
a few times. I was her contact with the American
military. She was a nice person, she spoke some broke
English. Out of a ¢lear blue sky we started getting

people <¢leared out because we couldn't feed them.
There was over 15,000 Hungarian soldiers down there.
Our horse troops come in with a report. They were in
boxcars. What they did was have the train pull them
through the tunnel, the Czechoslovakian tunnel, on a
railroad tunnel and prop them on our side of the line.
They didn't want to go to the Russians these Hungar-
ians, they wanted to go to us. 8o, I go down there
with a jeep and driver and the interpreter and the
sergeant. We go down there and God these guys are all
over the place; boxcars. 15,000 is a lot of guys.
Through the interpreter I said, "Find out who is in
charge." He was gray with a goatee and all, he seemed
toe be in charge. They hadn't had any food for several
days and they were geing in the hills picking greens
and sgtuff like this to eat. I told him, "There is not
to much I can do for you other than what you see here
but I'll see what I c¢an do about getting some rations
up to you." So, I had to go back and make some phone
calls. We got some concentrated rations up to them. I
don't know how much or how long they stayed there.

Then another thing I had was we had a lot of Ttalians
and we couldn't feed them. In the Bavarian Alps and
this was in . . . May 8 the war was over. So, this had
to be middle of May. They were still snow like on the
drift down . . . I got some pictures somewhere John.
I'l1l show you in a minute. Snow would drift down and
cover the roads. Like on this side of the road it
would only be two feet deep but over here it would be
eight or ten feet deep. We figured on marching these
Italians back to Italy cover the Alps, the Bavarian
Alps, but we had to get the snow out of the way. That
was another detail I got. So, I got some engineer
bulldeozers up there and we start knocking the snow over
the edge of the mountain; c¢learing the road up. I got
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some engineer people to tell them what we wanted and
they just went ahead and took over. They start clean-
ing the mountains up. I had a convertible Phaeton
Mercedes Benz that I confiscated from an Austrian Prime
Minister. I think I gave him a receipt marked Abraham
Lincoln or scmething. That was standard procedure. If
we took anvthing we gave them a receipt whether it was
Charlie Chaplin or whatever. I had this c¢onvertible
Phaeton and we weren't allowed to drive them and we
weren't allowed cur own driver. 8o, I took one of the
Ruszians out of this labor camp that I was told he
could drive. He was an ex tank driver or something in
the Russian Army before the Germans got him. Anyway T
would take him around and I didn't understand Russian
and he didn't understand English. All I knew was
langsam meant slow, and rex and links was right and
left. I don't know 1f that was Russian . . . That was
German. "Langsam Ruskie." We were going down one of
thesge valleys and in these Bavarian Alps these valleys
are nothing but mountains down to the road. Down at
the end there would be a little settlement down in
there; maybe twenty, thirty houses. People lived there
all their life. There was one place down there, Rau-
ris, Barvaria-Austria. Al's company occupied that; C
company occupied that after the war. The rail head was
seventeen miles up to where we were at Lenz. There was
people down there seventy, eighty vears old that had
never been up to that railhead; seventeen miles. All
they had was horse and wagons. There was people in
that town seventy and eighty years old and they told us
they had never been up there. They had no idea what
was up there. They lived in this mountain but they had
a nice set up there. God our guys took over the best
tavern and hotel and all it was down there, little one.
They had it painted. They had a German come in there
and paint characters on the wall. They had parachute
pictures on the wall, guys jumping and everything else.
I went up to this mountain and we get it cut through
and about that time everything started to quiet down.

Then it come up to be short timers. I had a 1ot of
points because of my time in Hawaill and all. See, for
points I had five years overseas duty. My three years
in Hawaii, most of it was after the emergency, so it
counted. Plug I had been wounded and I two vears
something. Anyway., the way they computed it I had more
than enough points to come back. The o0ld man called me
in and he said, "Hey Joe, stick with me. I'1ll get vou
railroad tracks in about three months." That was
captain's bars you know. O0Of course I had been newly
married before I went overseas and evervthing else. I
said, "No, I'm getting out of this man's Army." I came
home on a rotation deal and I 4did get out. It was a

terrific experience for me. Thank God I lived through
it.
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How did you come home?
Aboard ship.
You left out of one of those . . .

Marseille; Camp Lucky Strike, Marseille, France. Now I
don't remember the name . . . It was an American ghip
because we came into Boston and when the ships came in
they had all these fire boats pushing the hoses up. We
come in up there. Then they took us by rail. We went
to Indian Town Gap, is where I got my separation trunk.
Kass's cousin was come back to. He had been in Panama
and he came to us as a replacement. He didn't come
into my regiment but I met him before he saw his first
combat action. I was able to get a Jjeep and go over to
see him. So happened that a lieutenant came into our
company as a replacement. I sgaid, "Hey Evans, did you
happen to see a Master Sergeant McGuinness on the way
over?" He said, "Charlie McGuinness?" I said, "Yes."
He gaid, "He was my platoon sergeant on the way over."
I =aid, "Where the hell did he go?" He said, "Oh, they

sent him to 501." So,. I got a jeep and T went over to
501 and they told me what company he was and where it
was., I went out there and he was on his first night

patrel. I met him there. He came back in the rotation
deal too. I was his payroll officer a couple of times.
We used to get a whiskey ration, the officers. I
couldn't drink the stuff and some of those guys were
getting more than enough so I used to give it to Char-
lie and his buddies. I think they appreciated it. &all
and all that was about it, I got out.

I'11l tell vou something in retrospect. I should have
stayed and taken that rank. The only thing was we had
a colonel, regimental commander, who I have absolutely
disliked. He is dead now, he got to be a three star
general. I have absolutely no respect for the man. T
had five encounters with the man and not one of them
were good. He was a drunk. I think my father was
pretty much of an alcochelic when I was yvoung. Friday,
Saturday, and Sunday he would have at least a hell of a
glow on i1f he wasn't buzzed. He always seemed to want
to take his frustrations out on the boys. That iz one

of the reasons I went in the service to begin with; to
get away. My mother told me, she said, "Don't you ever
hit him." I said, "Well make him step hitting me.
There is no reason for him beating up on me." Then he

got angry, when I got a little bigger he started using
his fists. I couldn't go for that. I would parry him.
He wasn't that big a man physically. Then I thought,
"I better get the hell out of here." I couldn't get
along with this colonel. As a matter of fact he tried
to court martial me. We had a hassle. I had taken
over one of those German motorcycles. They were heavy
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gear driving and all. No chains on them, they are
powerful things. We lived about thirty miles from
regimental headguarters. Well, I had to get around.
We only had the two jeeps. The commanders would take
them some time and I had things I had to get out for.
I had this motorcycle and I would go around those
Bavarian Alps like you wouldn't believe. I was young
and crazy at the time. We had a get together one night
and he cut over by me. He said, "Reed, I want to talk

to you." "Yesz, sir." He sgaid, "I see yvou riding that
motorceyele around." I sald, "Sir, I need transporta-
tion." "T don't give a God damn what vou need. I'm

giving you a direct order right now, don't you ride
that motorcycle around. You are on fcot from now on.
Do you understand me?"” "Yes sir." What else could you
do, he 1is a bird colonel.

The very next morning he calls battalion about 10:00
and I'm the duty officer and evervbody else is out 1in
the mountains. We didn't have communications at these
places. We had radios that go four miles but some of
these places were thirty miles away. The c¢ompanies
were stuck way down these mountains. The battalion
commander, eXecutive officer, would be going down
checking on everything with the jeeps. I was left at
headquarters. So he calls . . . We had a telephone
line to regimental headquarters. He c¢calls up and he
gaid he wanted an officer at 12:00 sharp at regimental
headquarters. This is day after or two days after he
had given me this order not to ride that motorcycle. I
tried to tell him that . . . "Colonel," I gagid, "I'm
the only officer here and I have no transportation.”
Right away, "God dammit I don't give a God damn about
vyour problems. I want you here." So, "Okay," I walk
out of the headquarters., there is a motorcycle. I jump
on  that damn thing and I was incilined to leave 1t a
couple of blocks from regimental headguarters or walk
up. I thought, "Hell no." I pull up in the courtyard
and there he is on the top step, like a tiger. I
don't think he even hit the ground, I think he landed
on my back. He gtood me at attention and he ate mny
butt out; up one side and down the other. I tried to
tell him and he wouldn't let me talk. He gaid, "I'm
putting you in for court martial for refusing to obey a
direct order from a superior officer." So I thought it
was kind of chicken because I never had any problems.
This guy he was an ale¢oholic. I had seen him in situa-
tions where we had . . . One time I had to prop him up
against the wall on a mattress and it was a combat
situation. I 1lost a lot of respect for people like
that. I heard him one time say, "We took an objective.
We don't need artillery. My men will take it anyhow."
We did but with a lot of casualties. Things like this
happened. Yet, his assistant was a gentleman all the
way through; a real guy.
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Another time . . . I only served on one court martial
board as an officer. Of course in those days only

officers were on the court martial board. There was
four officers on a court martial board. Before this
guy come in to be court martiallied he come in, this
c¢olonel. He made a speech, "This man is guilty. I
don't give a God damn what happens, he is guilty. You
understand me?" Of course the president of the court
said, "Yes." 8o, this kid come in and he had gotten
away with a lot over the couple of years. His company
commander wanted to be sure he was convicted. His

company commander killed himself. He lived down Wash-
ington Court House, Ohioc. He became adjutant general
of all the state of Chio in the Naticnal Guard; Hebe
Minton. He was a friend of mine. He came in and he
said, "This guy has gotten away with so much. I geot to
nail him for something.” Then the evidence didn't back
up what the guy was accused of. You have a secret
vote. One of them showed up "not guilty"” all the time.
They would all look at me. They would make a speech,
"We will take another vote." Turn the vote in, one of
them showed up "not guilty." They look at me again and
start making speeches. This went on five or six times
and Raudstein said, "For Christ sake Joe, we are not
going to get anywhere this way." So I ended up out
voted. I changed my vote but the guy was cold decked.
I didn't like that kind of stuff. Mavybe I'm wrong I
don't know, but I can't see it. We had a lot of guys.
In the course of the training years we punished a lot
of guys for things that had it been combat you would
have patted them on the back and sald, "Good for you,
vou had a gooed time." Before that with all this GI and
red tape and everything else a lot of guys got court
martialled, did extra duty, were restricted to guar-
ters, some did prison time, thirty days, and stuff like
this. Not for major crimes but for chicken shit stuff.

More of that peace time Army stuff?

Yes, peace time Army stuff was what it was; discipline.
We hhad a lot of good times. I had a friend. . . There
was a Hareold B. Northcecott there that . . . He was a
British guy. Where we lived in the stables they had a
diesel powered engine that gave us all our light,
water, and evervthing else. Every onc¢e in a while 1t
would blow ocut and I would have to go down to this
house 1in the Jjeep and pick him up to come in. We
weren't allowed to touch it. He would adjust fuses or
whatever had to be done and then we would take him back

home. They had a tavern around the corner. It was the
Cricketer in Marlborough, England. Mayvbe Marlborough
was eleven or twelve miles from where we were. The

road was like this and at night you couldn't see well.
When the moon lit you could see real good. It was like
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driving on water, it would reflect. So, every time we
took him back we would take him down to Cricketer and
buy him a couple of beers because he did us a favor.
Then he got the idea that after the Cricketer he would
take usg up to his house and they had some chickens and

stuff. His wife would cook us a couple of eggs. We
didn't get eggs. We would put like a £1 note. . .
Anvhow it was worth two and a half of cur money. We
would put one of them under the plate, each plate, for
her--my Jeep driver and me--and we would go back to
camp. We got to be good friends that way. It got to
be fun. These bars that they had 1in England, they
generally had a center place and then they had roons
that were like wheel spokes off of the bar. In other

words the bartender could work on any room but you
couldn't go into this room. They had rooms where they
funneled the servicemen in and the towns people in and
stuff like that. Sergeant Reed 1in that particular
joint was an exception, he went in with the towns
people. We went up often. '

It was one Chrigstmas eve they started the big turkeys
and all for the men, the troops. This must have been
1943, About 8:00 at night all the lights blow and the
motor stops. Here we are starting to bake turkeys. No
lights, no nothing, so we get a flashlight 1ight and
they continue to do some cooking. Meantime I got to
get - a jeep from battalion and a jeep driver., I always
tock Nigger Horton, he was a southern boy. We called
him Nigger because he talked that way. I get him—-he
is dead now, he had a heart attack and died-—% get him
and we would go and get Harold Neorthecott. You gc in
there and, "Mrs. Northcott, where is Harold?" "Oh Joe,
he is down at the Cricketer. They are having a Christ-
mas party." We go in there and we open the door and
walk Iin. Honest to God they are having a ball; all old
people, all the voung people are in the service. This
Harold Northcott, I &didn't know it, he had a guitar
with a mouth organ attached to it and he had cvmbals on
his knees. He was the entertainment. He would bang
those c¢ymbals and he plaved this thing and playved the
mouth organ. I walked in there and I looked. I said,
"Nigger, what the hell are we going to do? We can't
take this guy out of here." Harold says, "hi," and he
is pnlaving away. These people are having a ball, some
of them are dancing arcund. So, I go up to the bar-
tender. I said, "Hey, I got a problem." He said,
"What is that sergeant." They all knew me as Sergeant
Reed. I said, "I got to take Harold back to camp. We
had a blow out, we are making Christmas dinner for
tomorrow. " He said, "Oh boy! Why don't you wailt a
little while, have a couple of beers." So, we did. We
waited maybe forty-five minutes. I gaid, "Hey, I can't
wait no longer. I got to get him going." I made a
little spiel to the people. "Okay, but you bring him
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right back." So, we put him on the car and he was
three sheets to the wind. We took him back to the camp
and he got the power going. I said to . . . Horton was
one of our better thieves anyhow. I said, "Horton you
better get a god damn turkey out of that kitchen or
I'11 kill you." We stole a turkey and took it back
with us and gave it teo the people. Give it to him to
give to the people. It wasn't cooked, it was partially
cooked, These were the things that happened. As far
as I'm concerned there will always ke an England, those
people treated me terrific. I didn't get to know
anybody else. Now the Hollanders were good to us but I
didn't get to know them. I was knocked out of Holland
pretty quick.

There are people in Holland when we have a division
reunion every yvear, there is some like thirty, forty
people come over here to our reunion. They have never
forgotten us. They have monuments all through the town
and they have a museum. It is just terrific. This
fellow, a guy by the name of Pete Pulles in Eindhoven,
he decided on his own--he is about my age now--he
decided on his own that he would like to know where
ever one of our fatalities dropped in their battle in
Holland. I guess he had been going on for a couple of
vears and somebody had given him a line on me. It Jjust
s0 happened that Bill EKnight, wheo lives down in Naples,
Florida, out of his own curiosity one time he sat down
and pinned a lot of this; where this guy was killed and
that guy was killed. You don't remember these things.
You know they were killed, you know aproxlamately where
they might be killed. Other guys you don't even remem-
ber where. 8ill had a lot written wup so what I
did . . . This guy got a line on me. He wrote me what
he was trying to do. C Company was a lot of blanks, he
didn't have no information on it. I gat down and I
wrote a letter and I photostat it and I sent it to
about twenty-five guys. I wrote him a letter to what I
was deing. Geez, when it come back, I think we got
ninety-nine percent of C Company accounted for and I
sent it to him. Then it started it a 1little corre-
spondence back and forth. We had some guys that . . .
Tt 4is a funny thing, we had some guys that, replace-
ments and all, one guy lost his leg. He wants nothing
to do with us. We had nothing to do with him losging
hiz leg. He was a little less fortunate or mayvbe he
was fortunate. He could have gotten his head blown
off. We were all there. We smaw more action than he
ever thought of seeing. He saw one operation and lost
& leg real quick. He wants nothing to do with us. He
writes to all these publications and everything else
and wants to know things. This guy Pete Pulles wrote
and he said, "Anything you give me and anything I give
you I'm sending a copy to Joe Reed because he keeps a
good record of ¢ Company." Which I have done. 8o then
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this guy got it pretty well up to date and he keeps
sending me updates copies.

I met him, he went down to Piatt's one time. Piatt
called me up one day, he said, "Hey Joe, Pete Pulles iz
staying with a guy in Akron." What happened was Piatt
went teo Europe, he son was stationed over there. His

son was a major in the paratroops. He went to Europe
te wvisit his son and when he got in Germany then they
toured everything. Pete Pulles corresponded with mne,
so 1in one of the letters I put, "Hey, one of my war
buddies 1is coming over that way. He is going to be

Eindhoven. I don't know just when." He sent me back &
letter, he said, "Joe, when he gets here you have him
contact me. We will give him the royal treatment. We
will take him anywhere he wants to go. We will show
him anything he wants to know," and they did. - That is
how he got to know Piatt. Then he was in Akron with
this fellow he always meets everytime he cone. He

stays a few days with this guy in Akron. That is what
they 1look for, somebody they can stay a couple days
with. Cut their expenses down. Piatt called me up one
day, he said, "Hey Joe, do you know Pete Pulles 1is
coming down to my house this Sunday and he asked if
there is anyway you could meet him down there." I
said, "Sure Max." BSo, Kass and I went down and we met
him down 1n Piatt's house. T met him at some c¢onven-
tions too but I didn't know him then. Since that time
he has got the ides that he has pursued the outfit
through Normandy, Holland, Bastonge, all the way
through. He has taken it upon himself.

Don't we have records on all of that?

Yeg, well he got a lot of this information from the
Army. The Army can't tell you he got killed a 100
vards east of there. The Army will tell you he got
killed in Holland. They won't tell you he got killed a
150 yards east of Eindhoven or mnorth of Eindhoven.
This is what this guy is doing. He is pinpointing it
down. Or he got killed on the Foy-Noville Road. Now,
he got some infermation on . . . He wrote a letter to
the Division Association, they printed it in. Some guy
sent him some information in about this guy was killed
on the Wilhelmina canal and this guy was killed here.
It was all wrong so I told him about a guy. Joseph
Joseph he salid he was killed in Holland. I sent him a
note. I said, "Pete, Joseph Joseph couldn't have been
killed in Holland. He was in my platoon, got killed on

the Bastogne-Noville Road." He wrote back, he said,
"Geez Joe, this is conflicting evidence. It ig hard to
do." So, what him and his wife did one morning . . .

It 1is a four hour drive from their home to Bastogne.
They went down there and Bastogne has museums and all
too. They went through the GRO grave registration
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office down there. They found out that I was right.
He was buried initially in Bastogne. He wasn't buried
in Holland. See, what they have done is they buried
all these guys initially. Then as people got sent home
they would eliminate some complete cemetaries and
consolidate the cemetaries. We got a lot of guys back.
That is one thing that bothers me too. We have a lot
of guys that were killed in our outfit that their
families left their bodies over there. Now don't
misunderstand me, they are beautiful cemetaries and
they are well taken care of. Probably better than back
here. TIf I had thought that was going to happen to me
I would have been concerned, I would have been very
concerned. I would want to be buried in this country.
QOf course if anyvthing ever breaks over there again and

like the Russians . . . They are going to destroy all
that stuff. They will knock down the tombstones and
knock down the statues and the monuments. It i1s not

likely to happen in this country. Then we came home
and I got discharged out of Indian Town Gap.

Did they give you mustering out pay and some sort of a
state bonus?

Yes, there was a . . . Well, T had some pay coming. 1
don't remember about mustering out pay. There was no
bonus as far as that was concerned. The state gave
us~-Pennsylvania at the time--I think I got about §400
from them. That was it and I don't remember the c¢ir-
cumstances of it. You just had to put in the applica-
tion, the amount of time you were in the service,
amount of time you served over geas, whether you had
been wounded, and this and that and the other thing.
We had a good outfit, we had a crack outfit, they were
tough.

You know John, when I sit back and try to analyze on my
own the one thing that enters my mind, that we did what
we did so many times, was physical endurance. We were
in tip top shape. More than once we shot Germans in
their holes sleeping. I had a deal up in Holland one
time. Al Hazzenzal and I were in a platoon; he was
platoon leader, I was assistant. We were going 1in a
column file up to this farm house and they had a big
stack of hay beyvond the farm house. He is on one side
0f the house and I'm on the other side of the house.
We figured krauts were in there. We go right along
side this hay stack, these guys nmust have been asleep.
The hay stack moved, the bottom of it. There is three
krauts with a machine gun. Hazzenzal used to do a
dance when he got going, his feet would be going as
quick as his trigger, and me too. I just turned around
and we burped the hell out of them. Here the krauts
were all sleeping in holes around there. We just ran
down the line popping them in their holes. 'They were
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slow waking up, reacting, they were exhausted.

We wouldn't get sleep. That was a whole thing in the
war, vyou didn't get any sleep in time. Sometimes you
staved awake all night and all day. It was so cold in
Bastogne that if you could fall asleep for five minutes
the c¢old would wake vou up. You just couldn't =sleep.
Your shoes and stockings and your pants were sgcoaking
wet and they would freeze to you. You had to move
around, you had to move te get a little kit thawed.
What we did in the daylight hours if everything was
stable, we would get two or three guys and send then
back to some blown out house that had a fire place.
Let them build a little fire in there and try to dry
themgelves out a little bit, get a little comfort.
Then when they got done, they would come back, we would
send three more guys. That 1is the only way we could do
it. I think physical endurance as far as the para-
trooper were concerned, and at that point and time we
were the elite of the American Army-—the American
Airborne Paratrooper—--physically we did a lot of train-
ing and everything else. We had what they called log
rythms. We used te throw poles up and down and around.
I got pictures of that too. I think yvyou might have
seen them. T think it was our physical endurance that
kept us geing.

I had a deal in Holland one time. I had an M1 and I

always kept a bayonet on a Ml for two reasons. One
thing I c¢could keep the M1 clean, I could sink the
bayonet 1in the ground and just wipe the end off. T

could wuse the bayonet. We stopped in an area, 1in a
cobblestone street, and I stuck the bayonet down in

there. I was s0 exhausted I leaned on the end and I
fell asleep. I was standing up there, standing, lean-
ing on my rifle at the head of the column. The column
would stop. I must have fallen asleep for a few
minutes I was so tired. First thing you know some
British officer come up. "I say chap," he wanted to

know some things about it. I had a nervous habit of
flicking the safety in a Ml rifle is in the front of
the trigger guard. I had a nervous habit of flicking
it back and forth. I would never know ~ whether the
safety was on or off unless I checked it. So, this guy
woke me up and I was talking to him and somebody said.,
"We are moving out." I said, "Okay guys let's go." I
pulled the gun up. The gun discharged between my toes,
hit the cobblestones. Christ that guy took off like a
big bird. He didn't hang arcund.

After peace was declared in Europe did you give any
thought to going to the Pacific and fighting the Japa-
nege?

It was a matter of we were assigned. It wasn't a
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matter of thought.
Even though you had enough points to go home?

Yes, but what they did was rotate. The theory was that
we were going to go home. They were going to rotate us
to the states, we were golng to get a thirty day leave,
and then we would go fight the Japs. It was standard
procedure. There were no ifs, ands, or buts. We
weren't getting out.

Even if you had sufficient points?

There was no such thing as sufficient points. The war
was still on. While we were in Marseille, France
waiting for a ship the Japanese capitulated and that
took everything out of it.

You got to go home?

That was a procedure initially. The high point guys
got to rotate and get a furlough but you weren't get-
ting out of the service, not initially. When we were
in Marseille, France, waiting for a boat to take us to
the states, the Japanese capitulated.

Did you ever see any black c¢ombat troops?

Actually not combat troops. What I saw in blacks was

- supply troops; truck drivers and things like that. We

had a couple of funny incidents, which I would rather
not repeat, happen with blacks. They used to drive the
trucks. As a matter of fact they were in Normandy,
they were driving trucks. I never came across them as
combat troops. We weren't integrated or anything like
that.

As far the S8 goes on the German side, what is vour
feelings towards them?

They were an arrogant bunch of bastards and we used to
beat the hell cut of them. We didn't take any guff.
I had an incident. Remember me telling you about Al
and I killing the machine gunners and the c¢rew they
had. Well, when we got around to the front of that
house here as the war started to deteriorate the Ger-
mans put an 885 guy with every regular unit. His dJob
was to keep them from withdrawing if he possibly could
or 1f they deserted to shoot them. We got around to
the front of the house and we took about twelve prison-
ers there. We made them take their helmet off and then
put their hands on top of their heads. One guy, "Nein,

nein, nein." He wouldn't. "Nein, nein, nein." So,
cne of these guys drifted over to one of the guys and
he said, "SS." These Germans would tell us, "SS5." It

90



got around to me and the guy told me, "Hey Joe, that
guy is an SS guy."

He was just being belligerent and wouldn't do it?
He was trying to show that these guys that they didn't

have to. So, I went over to cne of my guys, &a tough
kid, named Kissee. He is dead now, he got killed in

combat. I gaid, "Kissee, I don't give a god damn how
vou do it but get his hands on top of his head." "No
problem." Bam, he butt stroked him with the rifle.

That kraut went down flat. He laid there for gquite

awhile, got up then. His hands went up with no trouble
at all.

Were they harder to fight?

They were tough, they were tough. A lot of respect for
them, they were tough. They were dedicated. Theilr
parachute troops were tough and dedicated. We always
found ourselves fighting S5 and paratroops. One thing
they did, they plaved chess with us. I told you we did
vigorous patrolling. We would go out there and we
would find out . . . We had a regular line outfit
across from us instead of a paratroop outfit or an SS
ocoutfit, or one of their regular outfits. We would be
prulled ocut of line and maybe we would move sixty miles
down the road and we would be thrown in. Christ who
were we up against? The same guys that were up north,.
They would maneuver us, they would play chess with us.
The better troops were against the better troops. Now
whether the Germans did this or not I don't know. We
supposedly in the Normandy invasion, I think it was a
six parachute brigade. Supposedly we decimated them
but hell in about eighteen months we were fighting then
again. Supposedly there was no way they would ever
¢ome Dback to combat. We weren't fighting maybe the
same guys but they had the same unit designation and
they were just as tough. Germans were tough. Germans
were good soldiers, they were good scldiers. Even in
combat I think they had a lot more discipline than we
dig. Of course our guys were no problem. You hear
this stuff about Vietnam shooting their officers. We
didn't have that kind of stuff. If you had a guy along
side of you with a rifle, he was vour best friend.

As far as the black market activities go on that, was
there much of that with dealings in chocolate bars and
cigarettes and things? :

Well, there wasn't with us. There was with people in
position to do it, like the troops that were stationed
in Paris and places like this, and a few people who had
access to transportation. We were a quick hitting
combat outfit. We didn't have that many vehicles to
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fool around with that. I don't say some people weren't
doing it. Silk stockings and stuff like that, I don't
know anything about this. This is one thing I didn't
get involved with stuff like this. I'm not aware of
much of it going on in our outfit. I was aware that in
the rear echelon there was a lot going on. As a matter
of fact the mail people, the people that worked for
the post office, I heard some guys in the States, in a
bar, laughing about how they used to ransack the pack-
ages and all that kind of stuff. I have sent lots of
things home that never got here. Just didn't get here,
now why I can't tell you. Another thing, when we geo in
combat we leave all our gear back in some particular
area. Our own people were supposed to be guarding it.
Hell, they would steal the stuff and then sell it for
booze. It just seems that evervbody would geo with the
flow. Our units personally were mobile. I don't know
of us being in a position to do anything like that. I
personally never had the desire. I would have never
allowed it and I had some position of authority. I
would have done something about it. Because you were
robbing from Peter to pay Paul, your personal gain.

That is all I have, i1f there is anyvthing else vyou want
to say.

Gee John, I could ramble on for all time because dif-
ferent things come up after I talk to you. The Red
Cross people were terrific with me; always nice and
everything. Here people conmplain . . . These guys
complain about the Red Cross only giving deonuts and all
that stuff. They gave us a place to stay. In London
they had the Rainbow Corners and they had a place in
Paris but I never got to that but in London they had a
Rainbow Corners. I was in it five or six tinmes. I
still remember a lady's name, her name was Jo Sippy.
She lived out in St. Louis, Missouri. Treat you
nice . ., . I did see her in Paris. 8She tock me to the
cathedral of Notre Dame and showed me around. They
were just nice people. Fred Astaire's sister, Adele
Astaire, she married a British nobleman and Adele
Astaire worked in our Red Cross club all the time and
she Lknew me personally and I knew her. Good sport,
good sport, alwavs, "Hey Joe, how are you doing?" A
lot of those girls were terrific in remembering names.
You maybe only get down there once a menth. You walk
in the door, somebody call you by name. Whether that
wags one of their requirements or what I don't know.
They were vreally nice. They let you know where the
black market restaurant was, where you could get a
decent meal; stuff like this. Like I tell vyou about
guys getting rolled, they didn't have any train fair
back sometimes. They would go in there and these gals

would loan them train fair to get bkack, "Pay me when

you get back." No big problem. They were 3just good
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people and it was good to hear those Yankee voices once
in a while because we weren't in a position where vyou
ran into American girls. After I got to be an cofficer
I did. I knew some nurses through all the guys and
all. The thing about them was, whenever they had a
hospital set up they had a bar and they had cold beer.
In England you didn't get cold beer out of the spigot,
vou know hot, warm beer., I hated it. Their beer
wasn't good to begin with as far as I was concerned, I
didn't drink that much of it., The nurses, and the
doctors recreation room they had a bar and they always
had cold beer. What you could do there was . . . All
vyou had to do was knock on the door and you asked for a
particular nurse. They would just let you in but you

had to know somebody. Some of these guys married
these nurses over there. So, mavbe ten of wus had
gone, asked for the same girl, but we would get in.

Then you sit at the bar and have a drink.

I didn't fraternize with the Germans. I hated them, I
could have killed every German I came across. I still
picture my buddies' bodies and all. As far as ¢going
back to Furope, I have no desire. There is to many bad

memories, to many bad, bad memories. This guy Pete
Pulles, "Come on Joe. You can stay with me." I said,
"No way." I have no desire to go back there, none
whatsoever. It is all bad memories for me. I would

imagine there iz five guys out of my platoon of
thirty-six that are still alive. They didn't all get
killed in combat but a lot of them died prematurely.
Some of them died over combat injuries. I got one guy,
he died about five vears ago. He was in and out of the
hospital for thirty-six years; Vets hospital because of
his mental injuries. All and all like I say it was a
terrific experience but I wouldn't want anybody else to
have to go through it. Yet, i1f there was another war
and I was younger, I would go back in the paratroops.
No better outfit to be in. I mean I'm not taking
anvthing away from any other organization I don't know.
Anybody under flat trajectory fire has got my respect.
It takes a little bit of scmething to continue. Just
like we always felt the paratrooper was Jjust a cut
above the rest because it takes a little guts to step
out of that door up there with all that eguipment on
yvou and in the dark of night and going into the enemy
territory. Telling people the excitement of a para-
chute Jump, how you got to parachute Jump with 180
pounds on you, plus everybody down there sheoting at
you. It takeg a little extra. It makes you a better
man or a dead man, either cone,.

Thank you very much.

You are welcome John.

END OF INTERVIEW
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